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Preliminary Statement
Plaintiﬁ's,allofwhom,atthetimeﬂmtthisactionwasoommeneed,wereindigent
m‘iminaldefendants,urgethisComitoﬁndthattheStatehasnotadequatelymetitsobligationto
provide them with legal representation. As the Court of Appeals has made clear, this case does

not concern the possibility that plaintiffs’ individual criminal cases were jeopardized due to
ineffective assistance of counsel. Rather, plaintiffs’ case hinges on the far broader, sweepmg
allegations that plaintiffs have been denied representation period, either actual or constructive, in
contravention of their Sixth Amendment right, due to systemic failures that in plaintiffs’ view
call for huge, unprecedented prospective systemic relief.

To establish their case, plaintiffs sought and obtained class certification based on their
allegations that the class representatives suffered harms illustrative of the allegations in the
complaint. The plaintiffs identified Five Counties —~ Washington, Onondaga, Ontario, Schuyler
and Suffolk (the “Five Counties”) — where the indigent criminal defendants allegedly were not
provided with counsel, either actually or constructively. Over three years after the Court of
Appeals decision which significantly narrowed the scope of the plaintiffs’ case, after
approximately sixty depositions involving more than 10,000 pages of transcripts with teams of
plaintiffs’ lawyers deployed across the Five Counties and the production of tens of thousands of
pages of paper and electronic documents by the State and the Five Counties, the plaintiffs have
hadam;;leoppommitytodemonsumﬁlattheyhave evidence sufficient to prove their
overarching allegations. The weight of the allegations and the heft of the record of discovery,
however, cannot obscure a simple fact: plaintiffs do not have a case. Their theories, as laudably
intended as they may be, are just that — theories.
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To prevail, the plaintiffs must be held to their burden of proving systemic actual or
constructive denials of the right to counsel in the Five Counties. They must be required to
establish that the plaintiffs’ experiences actually represent such alleged actual or constructive
denials of the right to counsel and that any such denial resulted from systemic deficiencies in the
Five Counties. They must connect the plaintiffs to their theories, and they cannot do so.

The infirmities in plaintiffs’ case, as more fully set forth below, include: (1) eight of the
twenty named plaintiffs failed to appear for depositions, and as a consequence of plaintiffs’
failure to appear, allegations relating to those plaintiffs can no longer remain in the case, see
Point I, infra; (2) those who were deposed did not support plaintiffs’ allegations, see Point III,
m;(3)plaintiffsdonottakeintoaccountthechangesthathaveoccmredinthcpublicdefense
systems in the Five Counties since the litigation began, see Point ITI(B) and (C), infra; and “@
counsel for the plaintiffs lost contact with their clients, which prevents them from establishing
the factual predicate, if any, to support their allegations. See Points II, ITI(B), infra.

The question before the Court is not whether additional resources could improve indigent
legal services in New York. That, as the Court of Appeals has indicated, is a legislative
determination. Indeed, as set forth below, New York has undertaken legislative action to
enhance the delivery of those legal services throughout the State. The question is whether the
State has met its Constitutional obligations to provide representation in the Five Counties. As
the State’s proof will demonstrate, the State and the Five Counties meet or exceed the
Constitutional standards. The plaintiffs have no proof to the contrary. The one critical stdge of
representation where plaintiffs in certain counties may, to a limited extent, demonstrate “non

representation” is at their arraignments. However, as this Court has noted, plaintiffs have failed



to join the party capable of granting the relief required. Thus, those allegations are not properly
made against the named defendants. Accordingly, as a matter of law, the defendants should be
granted summary judgment and the second amended complaint should be dismissed in its
entirety.
Statement of Facts

New York State has ensured that indigent criminal defendants receive the assistance of
free legal services through the enactment of New York State County Law articles 18-A and 18-B
in 1965. The statutory scheme of County Law articles 18-A and 18-B enables each county in the
State to provide public defense services by relying on (1) a public defender, see N.Y. County
Law §721; (2) a private legal aid bureau or society; (3) a plan of a local bar association through
which (a) "the services of private counsel are rotated and coordinated by an administrator " or (b)
"such representation is provided by an office of conflict defender;" or (4) a combination of these
vehicles for representation. See N.Y. County Law §722(1), (2), (3).

More recently in 2010, the legislature enacted Executive Law §832 which created the
Office of Indigent Legal Services ("OILS") in an effort to improve the quality of representation
provided to indigent criminal defendants. OILS' duties and responsibilities include collecting
information and data related to, inter alia, defense caseloads, standards of eligibility for public
defense services, standards for qualifying to provide public criminal defense services, the
resources of the state's public defense systems including experts and investigators, standards
relating to cases involving conflicts of interest, standards relating to criminal public defense
performance and developing recommendations regarding the distribution and expenditure of
monies appropriated for indigent legal services. See N.Y. Exec. Law §832(a)~(j).
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Pursuant to OILS’ statutory mandate and the State's interests in improving the quality of
indigent legal representation, OILS has successfully completed several important tasks
including: the adoption and issuance of standards for representation for all trial-level attoreys
providing indigent legal services; studies of the caseloads of those providing criminal defense
services to the State's poor; and the development of grant programs targeted at addressing the
issues of providing counsel at arraignment, monitoring upstate case loads and providing advice
on immigration issues. The State's legislative reforms exemplify its commitment to improving
indigent legal representation, a commitment beyond the Constitutional minimum.

State funds which support the delivery of services to indigent defendants are provided
through multiple agencies and programs. The New York State Division of Criminal Justice
Services ("DCJS") was appropriated monies from the State’s General Fund to support the thirty-
two counties in the State outside of New York City that have the highest crime rates through the
Aid to Defense Program. See Strano dep. at p. 57. Onondaga, Ontario, Washington and Suffolk
Counties receive Aid to Defense Funds. See Strano dep. at p. 58.

In addition, through DCJS, the State provides money from the State's General Fund to the
New York State Defender’s Association ("NYSDA"), which operates as a state-wide resource
center for public defense attorneys. See Strano dep. at pp. 50, 85. DCJS also provides funds to
counties through the federal Byrne JAG Enhanced Defense grant program, see id. at pp- 50, 94-
100. The Five Counties each receive grants to fund initiatives for alternatives to incarceration.

See Strano dep. at p. 90-91.



In separate appropriations, OILS distributes State funds to the counties for purposes of
enhancing criminal public defense services. See N.Y. Exec. Law §832(c). Specifically, OILS is
responsible for distributing funds from the Indigent Legal Services Fund, which is funded by
four revenue streams: (1) attorney registration fees; (2) fees associated with restoring licenses
after suspensions; (3) véhicle and traffic surcharges; and (4) surcharges for checking defendants'
criminal histories. See N.Y. Fin. Law 98-b; Leahy dep. at pp. 29-30. OILS distributes money to
localities through both statutory distributions and competitive grants. See Leahy dep. at p. 43.
Each county receives distributions from OILS as long as the money is used to improve the
quality of public defense. Seg id. at p. 43. The distributions are not competitive and are
automatic so long as applicable criteria are met. See id. at p. 43. See also N.Y. State Fin. Law
§98-b(3)(c).

Since the creation of OILS in 2010, the first three statewide distributions have been
approved by the OILS Board.' The first statutory distribution covered the period of June 2011
through March 2013 and was in the amount of $4.4 million. See Leahy dep. at pp. 43-44. The
second approved statutory distribution covers the period of June 2012 to May 2015 and provides
for the distribution of $24.4 million. See id. at pp. 44-45. The third approved statutory
distribution has not yet been finalized. See id. at p. 45, 66-67.

1 The board consists of nine appointed members: (a) the chief judge of the Court of Appeals, who is the chair of the
board; (b) one member appointed by the governor on the recommendation of the temporary president of the senate;
(c)onemembaappoimedbythegomoronthemommendationofdwspeakerofﬂteassembly; (d) one member
appointed by the governor from a list of at least three attomey nominees submitted by the New York state bar
associaﬁon;(e)twommbersappoimedbythegovemorﬁ'omalistofatleastfournominmsubmiuedbytheNew
York state association of counties; (f) two attorneys appointed by the governor, one of whom must be an attorney
whohasprovidedpublicde&nseservieaforatleastﬁveyeaxs;and(g)onememberappoinwdbyﬂxegovemor
from a list of no more than two nominees submitted by the chief administrator of the courts, each of whom shall be a
judge or justice, or retired judge or justice, who was elected to the supreme, county or family court, or appointed to
the criminal court or family court in the city of New York, and has substantial experience presiding in trial matters
before such court. See Exec. Law §833 (1).
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With respect to competitive grants, OILS has secured funding for three competitive
grants to address (1) obtaining upstate caseload relief; (2) providing counsel at first appearances;
and (3) creating regional resource centers for immigration issues. See id. at pp. 69, 70-72. The
awards for the Counsel at First Appearance grant program have been made, and the Requests for
Proposals ("RFP"s) are expected to be issued this summer. See id.; Kerwin aff. at {44, Exh. R.
In the 2012-13 State budget, $82.5 million was appropriated to OILS: $1.5 million for office
operations and $81 million to be distributed to the counties (“local aid.”). See Leahy dep. at p.
80. Included in this appropriation was $4 million of the $6 million requested by OILS to
implement the upstate case load relief grant program. See Leahy dep. at p. 81.

In its 2013-14 budget request, OILS requested $3 million for operating expenses and $91
milﬁon for the Counties through distributions and grants, $3 million of which was to fund the
counsel at first appearance grant program, $4 million to fund the upstate caseload relief grant
program and $3 million to assist the Counties in complying with the conflict standards recently
approved by the OILS Board, as discussed below. See Leahy dep. at p. 82. In addition to $111
million in re-appropriations, $82.8 million was appropriated to OILS in the 2013-14 enacted
budget as follows: $1.8 million for office operations and $81 million for local aid.> See Kerwin

aff. at Exh. Q.

2 Due to the organizational complexities posed in responding to plaintiffs’ 419 paragraph second amended
wmphht—omhyhgmwdhgaﬁmsmmmgnmmﬁmhmFMComﬁwwhhmmm&ofme
plaintiffs’ specific claims — the State has included the balance of its presentation of the facts in conjunction with the
nmmmmmmmmmymgmmmmmmwwmmhm
judgment.
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Counsel for the State defendants first attempted to schedule the depositions of the twenty
named plaintiffs in October 2010 after this case was remanded by the Court of Appeals. See
Kerwin aff. at §23. Counsel for plaintiffs refused to schedule depositions and, instead, made a
motion to stay their depositions on or about March 13, 2011. The State defendants cross-moved
on or about April 22, 2011 to compel the depositions of the plaintiffs. See id. at §24. In an order
dated August 31, 2011, the Court ordered that the plaintiffs be produced for depositions in a
"prompt manner." See id. at 125. However, the scheduling of the plaintiffs’ depositions
continued to be extraordinarily difficult, with the first one conducted more than eight months
later, and the last one completed over a year after the Court's August 31, 2011 order.® See id.

On June 6, 2012, plaintiff Ricky Lee Glover failed to appear for his scheduled deposition.
He was the first of eight plaintiffs who ultimately refused to be deposed. Over the next months,
the State defendants attempted to schedule the depositions of all of the plaintiffs and were
informed piecemeal, and after significant delay, that plaintiffs Washington, Johnson, McIntyre,
Brookins, Metzler, Turner and Kaminsky* would not be produced for depositions. That is, 40%
of the alleged class representatives did not present themselves for examination by the defendants.

3 The depositions took place as follows: Winbrone on May 18, 2012; Adams on June 6, 2012; Love and Briggs on
June 7, 2012; Yaw and Habshi on July 19, 2012; Steele on August 14, 2012; Loyzelle and Tomberelli on August 21,
2012; Booker on September 18, 2012; Hurrell-Harring on September 21, 2012 and Chase on September 27, 2012.
See Kerwin aff. at 128.
4 By order dated November 29, 2011 plaintiff Kaminsky was permitted to withdraw as a plaintiff in this action. See
Kerwin aff. at Exh. P.
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"If the credibility of Court orders and the integrity of our judicial system are to be
maintained, a litigant cannot ignore Court orders with impunity.” Kihl v. Pfeffer, 94 NY2d 118,
123 (1999). Therefore, CPLR 3126 permits the Court to strike a pleading as a sanction for a
party’s disregard of orders of the Court and frustration of the discovery process. Kihl, 94 NY2d
at 122-23. Such a sanction is necessary here. Emie Otto Corp. v. Inland Southeat Thompson
Monticello, LLP, 53 AD3d 924, 926 (3d Dept 2008) (striking complaint because plaintiff
"disobeyed Court orders, evaded disclosure and frustrated the disclosure process™); Rossi v.
Budget Rent A Car, 49 AD3d 1088, 1089 (3d Dept 2008); Adamski v. Schuyler Hospital, Inc.,
36 AD3d 1198, 1199 (3d Dept 2007). See also Almonte v. Pichardo, 105 AD3d 687, 688 (2d
Dept 2013) (striking party's pleading after he failed to appear for his deposition).

Without the opportunity to question these eight plaintiffs about any of their allegations
contained in the complaint, the defendants are unduly prejudiced and unable to properly test their
allegations and mount an appropriate defense. Therefore, the plaintiffs should not be permitted
to pursue the portions of the complaint pertaining to these individuals, and should not be
permitted to use any information about the alleged public defense representation of these
plaintiffs in this case.” Legarreta v. Neal, 2013 N.Y. App. Div. LEXIS 5090, *3-4, 2013 NY Slip
Op 5129, *2 (4™ Dept July 5, 2013) (the penalty to be imposed against a party for failure to
comply with Court-ordered discovery may be fashioned by the Court within its discretion);
Mehta v. Chugh, 99 AD3d 439, 439 (1* Dept 2012) (precluding plaintiff from testifying at trial

STheSmdefendantshavenothcludedanypmoforarglmmulaﬁngtophinﬁﬁs Washington, Glover, Johnson,
MMMW,WMWMMWWWMWMMmeM
from any documents submitted herewith. Inﬂteevemmatd:eCo\mpamitsplamﬁﬁ'smoﬁapmofmlaﬁngwﬂme
plainﬁﬂ'smdpemitsﬂwclaimsallegadbyﬂmeplaintiﬂ'smeonﬁnuedespitcplaintiﬁs'blatamandwillﬁll
wmwmmmm&mw&mewpmmmmm
include proof related to such claims.
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after failing to appear for her deposition). Accordingly, the portions of the second amended
complaint relating to the claims of plaintiffs Glover, Washington, Johnson, McIntyre, Brookins,
Metzler, Turner and Kaminsky should be stricken. Emie Otto Corp., 53 AD3d at 926. To hold
otherwise subverts the order of this Court and the just defense to which the defendants are
entitled.

Should preclusion be granted, plaintiffs who allegedly "represented” a particular
"systemic" actual or constructive denial of the right to counsel in a County, and never appeared
for depositions are therefore, effectually, no longer in the case. For example, the only plaintiff
who was allegedly represented by an attorney with a conflict of interest — Washington County
plaintiff Brookins - did not appear for her Court-ordered deposition. See Kerwin aff. at |27. As
a result, all allegations relating to plaintiff Brookins must be stricken from the second amended
complaint thereby eliminating any claims in this case relating to conflicts of interest. The only
Suffolk County plaintiff who appeared for his Court ordered deposition -- Luther Booker -- was
timely determined to be eligible for public defense services, was represented by counsel at
arraignment and was represented by attorneys with comfortable caseloads. Since the allegations
in the complaint relating to all of the other Suffolk County plaintiffs should be stricken, any
allegations conceming Suffolk County that relate to representation at arraignment, eligibility
determinations, and caseloads are no longer before the Court.

POINT I
(0) ED
CPLR 902 "allows the trial Court to decertify the class at any time before a decision on

the merits if it becomes apparent that class treatment is inappropriate.” City of New York v,



Maul, 14 NY3d 499, 514 (2010); see e.g., Small v. Lorillard Tobacco Co., 94 N.Y.2d 43 (1999)
(affirming Appellate Division's decertification of the class). During discovery, it was made
apparent that the class representatives cannot fairly and adequately represent the interests of the
class. Accordingly, the class should be decertified.

The alleged class representatives cannot fairly and adequately represent the interests of
the class. "The factors to be considered in determining adequacy of representation are whether
any conflict exists between the representative and the class members, the representative's
familiarity with the lawsuit and his or her financial resources, and the competence and
experience of class counsel.” Ackerman v. Price Waterhouse, 252 A.D.2d 179, 202 (1st Dep't
1998); Rebibo v Axton Owners, Inc., 2012 N.Y. Misc. LEXIS 198, *5-6 (Sup. Ct. N.Y. County
Jan. 11, 2012) (quoting Ackerman). A Court may also consider "the representative's background
and personal character, as well as his familiarity with the lawsuit, to determine his ability to
assist counsel in its prosecution and, if necessary, 'to act as a check on the attorneys." Pruitt v.

ies, Inc., 167 A.D.2d 14, 24 (1st Dep't 1991).

In reversing this Court's decision denying plaintiffs class certification, the Appellate
Division, Third Department, relied upon affidavits of the representative plaintiffs, which
purported to demonstrate plaintiffs' familiarity with this litigation. Hurrell-Harring v. State of
New York, 81 AD3d 69, 73 (3d Dept. 2011). However, discovery revealed that the affidavits
relied upon by the Third Department did not accurately reflect the representative plaintiffs'
knowledge of this lawsuit. To the contrary, the representative plaintiffs who actually appeared
for Court-ordered depositions were largely unfamiliar with this litigation. Indeed, many
demonstrated very little memory and/or knowledge of their own cases as outlined in the
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complaint. It is now apparent that the named plaintiffs do not and cannot fairly and adequately
represent the interests of the alleged class. Representative plaintiffs in a class action play a
critical role in a class action, not the least of which is at trial. The inability of the alleged class
representatives to fairly and adequately represent the class will be most glaring at a trial of this
action, where the named plaintiffs may not appear, will be unable to testify about the facts of
their own criminal prosecutions and will otherwise lack the knowledge or information necessary
to participate as actual representatives of indigent criminal defendants in the Five Counties.
A. Failure to Appear for Deposition

As discussed above, a full two-fifths of the representative plaintiffs failed to appear for
Court-ordered depositions. See Point I, supra. It appears that these plaintiffs have not been in
contact with plaintiffs’ counsel: in support of their motion for leave to withdraw those eight
plaintiffs as class representatives, plaintiffs submitted sworn documents detailing plaintiffs’
counsel's inability to locate and/or communicate with the representative plaintiffs. Essentially,
this litigation has proceeded with no participation of these eight plaintiffs, whose names appear
to have been used for purposes oi‘ a caption only. Plainly, these plaintiffs are in no position to
assist counsel in its prosecution of this matter.
B. Lack of Knowledge of This Litigation Generally

The plaintiffs who eventually appeared for Court-ordered depositions demonstrated little
knowledge of this litigation. They generally do not know their fellow plaintiffs, nor have they
ever spoken to them about this case. See, e.g., Hurrell-Harring dep.® at p. 74; Yaw dep.” at p. 71;

6 "Hurrell-Harring dep.” refers to the transcript of the September 21, 2012 deposition of plaintiff Kimberty Hurrell-
Harring, the relevant portions of which are annexed as Exhibit H to the Muse Affirmation.
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Tomberelli dep.® at pp. 55-57; Steele dep.’ at p. 12; Briggs dep.'® 25; Winbrone dep."" at p. 81;
Booker dep.'? at p. 8; Chase dep." at p. 68. Even plaintiffs incarcerated in the same facility or
who participated in the same drug court did not discuss this case with their fellow plaintiffs. See
Yaw dep. at p. 71; Tomberelli dep. at pp. 56-57; Love dep.'* at pp. 9-10. At least three plaintiffs
do not believe that they have ever seen the complaint in this action. See Habshi dep.'® at p. 90;
Loyzelle dep.'® at p. 94; Booker dep. at p. 40.

While a few plaintiffs have a very basic understanding of the purpose of this litigation,
see, €.g., Winbrone dep. at p. 53; Chase dep. at p. 58, Steele dep. at p. 9, the representative
plaintiffs are largely uninformed as to the progress to date and the issues raised. Many testified

7 "Yaw dep.” refers to the transcript of the July 19, 2012 deposition of plaintiff Christopher Yaw, the relevant
portions of which are annexed as Exhibit X to the Rutnik Affirmation.

8 "Tomborelli dep.” refers to the transcript of the August 21, 2012 deposition of plaintiff Robert Tomborelli, the
relevant portions of which are annexed as Exhibit Y to the Rutnik Affirmation.

9 "Steele dep."” refers to the transcript of the August 14, 2012 deposition of plaintiff Tosha Steele, the relevant
portions of which are annexed as Exhibit V to the Munkwitz Affirmation.

10 "Briggs dep.” refers to the transcript of the June 7, 2012 deposition of plaintiff Joseph Briggs, the relevant
portions of which are annexed as Exhibit S to the McGowan Affirmation.

11 "Winbrone dep.” refers to the transcript of the May 18, 2012 deposition of plaintiff Jacqueline Winbrone, the
relevant portions of which are annexed as Exhibit P to the McGowan Affidavit.

12 "Booker dep." refers to the transcript of the September 18, 2012 deposition of plaintiff Luther Woodrow of
Booker, the relevant portions of which are annexed as Exhibit R to the Dvorin Affirmation.

13 "Chase dep." refers to the transcript of the September 27, 2012 deposition of plaintiff Shawn Chase, the relevant
portions of which are annexed as Exhibit W to the Rutnick Affirmation.

14 "Love dep.” refers to the June 7, 2012 transcript of the deposition of plaintiff Richard Love, the relevant portions
of which are annexed as Exhibit R to the McGowan Affirmation.

15 "Habshi dep.” refers to the transcript of the July 19, 2012 deposition of plaintiff Randy Habshi, the relevant
portions of which are annexed as Exhibit F to the Muse Affirmation.

16 "Loyzelle dep.” refers to the transcript of the August 22, 2012 deposition of plaintiff Lane Loyzelle, the relevant
portions of which are annexed as Exhibit U to the Munkwitz Affirmation.
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that they did not know what has happened in the case up to the date of their deposition. See, e.g.,
Hurrell-Harring dep. at pp. 73-74; Tomberelli dep. at p. 59; Steele dep. at p. 14; Booker dep. at
pp. 88-89; Chase dep. at pp. 55-60. Plaintiff Briggs incorrectly testified that his deposition was
"the final part of where it goes to trial.” See Briggs dep. at p. 26. He further testified that he had
no further knowledge of the litigation. See id. Plaintiff Tomberelli testified that he does not
know what his responsibilities are as a class representative. See Tomberelli dep. at p. 57.
Plaintiffs who professed to have read decisions in this case are unable to speak even generally as
to a single issue raised in the Courts' decisions. See, e.,g., Love dep. at pp. 22-23; Tomberelli
dep. at p. 59; Loyzelle dep. at pp. 93-94; Briggs dep. at p. 27; Steele dep. at pp. 10-13.

Moreover, counsel for the plaintiffs have not consistently remained in contact with the
representative class plaintiffs or explained to them the progress of the case. For example,
plaintiff Chase testified that he had not been updated on this case for two years prior to his
deposition. See Chase dep. at p. 60. Plaintiff Steele does not know the names of the attorney or
even the organization representing her in this case. See Steele dep. at p. 63. Plaintiff Yaw has
had only one face-to-face meeting with counsel and had not been updated for six months before
his deposition. See Yaw Dep. at pp. 65-70. While several plaintiffs acknowledge signing
affidavits, they do not know who prepared them or for what they were used. See, e.g.,
Tomberelli dep. at p. 60; Steele dep. at p. 58; Booker dep. at p. 85.

Simply put, the representative plaintiffs lack even a basic understanding of the progress
of this litigation and the issues involved. As such, the representative plaintiffs cannot fairly and
adequately represent the class. See Whalen v, Pfizer, 9 Misc.3d 1124(A) (Sup. Ct. NY County
2005) (finding plaintiff who had only vague understanding of issues and mere general
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cognizance of role as representative of a class not able to fairly and adequately represent class);
Borden v 400 E. 55th St. Assoc. L.P., 34 Misc. 3d 1202(A) (Sup. Ct. NY County 2011) (noting
"it is important that the proposed class representative demonstrate that s/he possess an adequate
understanding of the litigation, including a knowledge of the claims and progress of the
litigation"); cf. Pruitt, 167 A.D.2d at 24 (noting education, background in securities and
substantive knowledge of complaint when finding representative plaintiff was able to fairly and
adequately represent class in securities litigation). Moreover, none of the plaintiffs signed
plaintiffs’ responses to the State defendants' First Notice to Admit, see Kerwin aff. at Exh. L.,
which are therefore deemed admitted."’
C. Failure to Articulate Injury

The representative plaintiffs further fail to articulate a cognizable injury. While all are
plainly critical of the representation they received, they are unable to articulate how such
representation rises to a Constitutional violation. Some plaintiffs' memories are so faulty that
they cannot provide basic facts underpinning their claims. See Chase dep. at pp. 20-24. Chase
does not know when he obtained an attorney, how many times he went to Court with the
attorney, what happened when he appeared in Court or when his trial occurred. See id. at pp. 30-
35, 37, 40-43. Similarly, plaintiff Adams does not know when he was arrested on two of his
cases, the month or year of his trial, whether his lawyer spoke to his wife about a handwriting
expert or whether his lawyer spoke to his wife about clothes for trial. See Adams dep.'® at pp.
42, 44, 6-65. Plaintiff Habshi -- who candidly acknowledges his guilt - alleges that his defense

17 The unverified responses to the State defendants' First Notice to Admit were also unverified by counsel. See
Kerwin aff. at Exh. L.
18 "Adams dep." refers to the transcript of the June 6, 2012 deposition of James Adams, the relevant portions of
which are annexed as Exhibit Q to the McGowan A ffidavit.
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counsel should have worked with him more to get information that would have lowered his plea.
See Habshi dep. at pp. 76, 80-81. Yet, he cannot remember what information he would have
provided to counsel that would have impacted his case. See id. at pp. 81-82.

Other plaintiffs are vague as to what they allege their defense counsel failed to do. For
example, plaintiff Loyzelle speculates that had his attorney investigated the facts of his case, he
may have received a better plea offer. See Loyzelle dep. at pp. 78-81. However, the basis of
plaintiff Loyzelle's position is that his version of events was different than that of the victim and
the police. See id. at pp. 79-80. Plaintiff Steele also believed that her attorney should have
conducted an independent investigation, but acknowledged that she did not know whether he had
or had not. See Steele dep. at pp. 33-34. She further testified that she was unaware of any facts
that were unknown to her attorney. See id. at p. 35. Plaintiff Tomberelli asserts that he was not
properly represented because his attorneys did not discover the identity of the person who called
the police to report his drunk driving. See Tomberelli dep. at pp. 23-28, 32-34. Yet, he was
unable to articulate how that knowledge would have assisted his case. Notably, he admits that he
was drunk, that he was driving without a license and that this was his sixth conviction for
drinking and driving. See id. at pp. 8-15.

At least one representative plaintiff's claim is based upon a flawed understanding of the
law. Plaintiff Hurrell-Harring was arrested after admitting to State Troopers that she attempted
to smuggle marijuana to her husband, who was an inmate in a maximum security correctional
facility. See Hurrell-Harring dep. at pp. 12, 21. In a signed statement, she acknowledged that
she smuggled marijuana into a correctional facility twice before the time of her arrest. See id. at

pp. 87-92. Although she was charged with a D Felony, plaintiff Hurrell-Harring alleges that her
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attorney did not properly represent her because she was offered a plea deal of six months in jail
and five years probation. See id. at p. 106. While she acknowledges that she broke the law, she
alleges that she should have been given an appearance ticket and sentenced to a fine because she
had never been in trouble before. See id. at pp. 31, 102-103. The basis of plaintiff Hurrell-
Harring's assertion is her personal opinion and her familiarity with the show Law and Order.
See id. at pp.103, 111.

Three representative plaintiffs’ claims are belied by their own admissions. Plaintiff
Adams testified that he had a good attorney. See Adams dep. at p. 71. When offered another
attorney, he declined. See id. at p. 73. Plaintiff Tomberelli acknowledged in open Court that he
was satisfied with his attomey and was not coerced into taking a plea bargain. See Tomberelli
dep. at pp. 66-68. During his deposition, he testified that he told the truth in Court. See id.
Plaintiff Booker was specifically asked about his claim in this case at his sentencing. See
Booker dep. at pp. 52-55. In open Court he acknowledged that his claims in this litigation were
not true and that he was pleased with his plea bargain. See id. at p. 53. Plaintiff Booker further
acknowledged that he only joined this lawsuit because counse! for the plaintiffs had asked for
‘volunteers. Seeid. at p. 54.

The Appellate Division granted class certification based on the allegations contained in
the complaint and affidavits from seventeen of the twenty plaintiffs, several of whom failed to
attend their Court-ordered depositions. Specifically, the Court found that the named plaintiffs
are familiar with the litigation and understand the issues involved." See 81 AD3d at 73.
However, the "proof” relied upon by the Appellate Division was not borne out by discovery. To
the contrary, in their depositions plaintiffs (those who actually appeared) demonstrated that they
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were largely unfamiliar with this litigation and had little understanding of the issues involved.
Now that the allegations in the complaint are replaced with evidence including, most notably, the
plaintiffs' own deposition testimony, or the lack of such testimony, it is entirely clear that the
plaintiffs have not, do not and cannot properly represent the interests of the class. As a result,
the class should be decertified pursuant to CPLR 902."

PO 1

S H
A CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATION

The plaintiffs allege that their experiences in the public defense systems of the Five
Counties represent systemic denials of counsel. Therefore, as a threshold issue, plaintiffs "have
the burden to demonstrate that the class representatives have actually been denied their right to
counsel and truly embody the violations that are claimed by the entire class." See Kerwin aff. at
Exh. J (Hurell-Harring, et al, v SONY, et al., unpublished slip op., August 5, 2011 at pp. 4-5). If
that threshold burden is met, plaintiffs must then establish that the alleged denials of counsel
experienced by the plaintiffs were caused by systemic deficiencies and not as the result of any
alleged deficiencies of a particular lawyer. See Hurell-Harring, et al, v SONY, etal.; 15NY3d 8
(2010). As shown below, the plaintiffs cannot meet either the threshold burden or their ultimate
burden.

The Court of Appeals, in reversing the Appellate Division's dismissal of the complaint in
this case, significantly narrowed the scope of plaintiffs' complaint. Id. at 25. Specifically, the
Court stated that plaintiffs’ "performance-based claims", id. at 19, such as claims relating to

l9ltuahomonhythmmzAppeﬂmemmgrmdclassmﬁcanmmpmmthhemdmdual

plaintiffs from "significant discovery challenges." H a1 w York, 81 AD3d 69, 75 (3d Dept.
2011). As discovery has concluded, thxsrauomleuolongerapphes
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"uniform hiring, training and performance standards,” id. at 24-25, may not be brought in a
systemic challenge such as this. Instead, the Court limited this case's reach to "the closely
defined claim of non-representation,” in the form of either actual or constructive denial of
counsel. Id. at 25. According to the Court of Appeals, non-representation may be found, for
example, where: (1) attorneys are not, in fact, present at a Court proceeding, id. at 19, 22, 23; )
attorneys fail to communicate with their clients, id. at 19; (3) attorneys are not assigned because
a defendant is found ineligible to receive public defense services, id. at 19, 22; and (4) attorneys
undertake a defendant's representation despite a conflict of interest. Id. at 20. Having narrowed
this action to these types of circumstances, the Court permitted the litigation to continue based on
the "simplicity and autonomy of a claim for non-representation” that does not require any
evaluation of attorney performance. Id. at 24.

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees every individual
charged with a crime "the right to . . . have the assistance of counsel for his defense.” See U.S.
Const. amend V1. Toward this end, every criminal defendant is entitled to the services of an
attorney free of charge if he or she is unable to afford an attorney. Gideon v. Wainright, 372 US
335, 342-44 (1963). The "focus of the Sixth Amendment's protection is ‘the adversarial process,
not ...the accused's relationship with his lawyer as such." Brown v. Doe, 3 F3d 1236 (2d Cir.
1993); Moore v. Kirkpatrick, 2011 US Dist LEXIS 33666, *28. (WDNY 2011). "A defendant
does not have a Constitutional right to a meaningful attomey-client relationship, to be completely
satisfied with counsel's performance, or to be represented by the lawyer of his choice.” Moore at
*28. "If counsel is a reasonably effective advocate, he meets Constitutional standards
irrespective of his client's evaluation of his performance.” Brown, 3 F3d at 1246.
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The United States Supreme Court decided the cases of Strickland v, Washington, 466 US
668 (1984), and United States v. Cronic, 466 US 648, 659-62 (1984), on the same day, and
enunciated the standards to be used when determining if a criminal defendant's representation
complied with the requirements of the Sixth Amendment. These cases identified the two ways in
which a criminal defendant's representation could be found unconstitutional. Specifically, these
cases establish that a criminal defendant must (1) have legal representation at every critical stage
of a criminal proceeding, United States v. Cronic, 466 US at 659-62, and (2) that the
representation must be meaningful and effective. Strickland, 466 US at 692. To establish a
claimofineﬁ'ectiveassistanceofcolmselundermugg.acﬁminaldefendantmustsatisfya
two-part test: (1) the representation was Constitutionally deficient and not within the range of an
objective standard of reasonableness, Rollins v, LaValley, 2012 US Dist LEXIS 170559, **11-
12 (NDNY 2012), and (2) that the attorney’s performance prejudiced the outcome of the defense
case.” Id. at p. *12. If a defendant cannot establish the second prong by a demonstration of
prejudice, a defendant's claim of ineffective assistance will fail and his or her conviction will be
upheld. Strickland, 466 US at 698.

In narrowing the scope of this case, the Court of Appeals held, however, that the
appropriate inquiry is not whether plaintiffs can demonstrate that they were denied effective
assismofwumelmdermwmmeymambﬁshasymmicdaﬁd-acmﬂ

or constructive - of representation itself under Cronic.

20 The New York ineffective assistance of counsel standard "has always been deemed to be broader” that the
federal Strickland standard, People v, Claudio, 83 N'Y2d 76, 84 (1993), and requires that an attorney’s deficient
performance “affect the ‘fairess of the process as a whole™ when viewed in the totality of the circumstances.
Rollins v, LaValley, 2012 US Dist LEXIS 170559, **13-14. Unlike under Strickland, it is not necessary under the
NwYmkSmCommwshothn&rmmselhmmeMofmeaﬁnﬁmlMgwmﬂd
have been different. Id.
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To establish a denial of the right to counsel claim under Cronic, however, a criminal
defendant must prove "(1) the complete denial of counsel; (2) a total failure by counsel to subject
the prosecution’s case to meaningful adversarial testing; [or] (3) instances when counsel is called
upon to render assistance under circumstances where competent counsel very likely could not do
so." Ramirez v. United States, 898 FSupp2d 659, 670 (SDNY 2012) (citing Cronic, 466 US 648,
659-62). Unlike claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, claims of denial of counsel, whether
actual or constructive, are presumed to be prejudicial?!, and therefore a plaintiff need not show
that his or her criminal case was prejudiced in any way. Cronic, 466 US at fn 25. "Apart from
circumstances of that magnitude, however, there is generally no basis for finding a Sixth
Amendment violation unless the accused can show how specific errors of counsel undermined
the reliability of the finding of guilt." Id. fn 26. In other words, the Strickland standard applies in
most situations where a criminal defendant's representation is challenged. Cronic is applied only
in the very limited situations where the "denial of counsel and the associated collapse of the
adversarial system is imminently clear," Moss v, Hofbauer, 286 F3d 851, 860 (6™ Cir. 2002),
and presents a significantly higher threshold for plaintiffs.

The three circumstances for which no prejudice to the criminal proceeding need be
shown? are essentially "exceptions” to having to satisfy the second prong of the Strickland
standard. Cronic, 466 US at 659-60. Unless a defendant can show that a case is "'squarely
governed by Cronic, he must rebut a presumption that Strickland should apply." Muyet v. United
States, 2004 US Dist LEXIS 15029, *17 (SDNY 2004). To establish a denial of the right to
counsel under the first Cronic exception, a plaintiff must show that she or he is completely

21 Also characterized as "per se prejudicial.”
22 Referred to herein as "the "Cronic exceptions.”
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denied counsel at a "critical stage" of a criminal proceeding. Cronic, 466 US at 659-60. Yet, to
establish a denial of the right to counsel under the second exception, an attorney'’s failure to
subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing must be completely absent
throughout the entire proceeding, and not just at one stage of the proceeding. Bell v. Cone, 535
US 685, 697 (2002).

The third Cronic exception has only been applied in two situations in the Second Circuit:
(1) when a criminal defendant was represented by an unlicensed attorney, and (2) when a
defendant was represented by an attorney implicated in the defendant's crimes. United States v.
Rondon, 204 F3d 376, 379-80 (2d Cir. 2000). Even when it did apply the third Cronic exception
in these two types of cases, the Second Circuit "resorted to it ‘without enthusiasm'.” Solina v.
United States, 709 US 160, 169 (2d Cir. 1983); Lopez v. Artus, 2005 US Dist LEXIS 7153, *19
(SDNY 2005).

All of the cases in this State and Circuit address claims of the actual and constructive
denial of the right to counsel in the context of a post-conviction motion, appeal or writ of habeas
corpus. As a result, in deciding whether the "per se prejudice standard" of Cronic applies, as
opposed to the Strickland "ineffective assistance of counsel” standard, Courts have necessarily
mﬂyzedwhﬂmcmredwithinadefendmfscﬁmhﬂpmeedingbecmadetamhaﬁonof
whethcraConstimtionaldenial,asopposedtoaperformanoeoruialenor, is always made
looking at a defense in its entirety. However, the Court of Appeals has held in this case that the
second amended complaint on its face raises a cognizable claim of systemic alleged actual and
constructive denials of the right to counsel; any individual claims of ineffective assistance of

counsel under Strickland that might be alleged, on the other hand are not justiciable. Hurrell-
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Harring, 15 NY3d at 24-25.

The burden for proving a case of systemic, as opposed to individual, deficiencies in the
provision of counsel to indigent criminal defendants is exceedingly high because New York
Courts have found that even an attorney’s complete failure to put on a defense or participate in a
defendant’s trial did not violate a defendant's right to counsel in some circumstances. People v.
Aiken, 45 NY2d 394 (1978); People v. Diggins, 25 Misc3d 1218(A), 901 NYS2d 909 (Sup Ct
New York Co. 2009). Courts have found that, at times, an attorney's decision not to participate
in a client's defense is a tactical or strategic decision in her or his client's best interests. Aiken,
45 NY2d at 400; Diggins, 901 NYS2d at 33-35. Reasonable strategic or tactical decisions by an
attorney cannot be the basis for finding an attorney's performance per se prejudicial. Ramirez v.
United States, 898 FSupp2d 659, 665-66 (SDNY 2012). As a result, it will be difficult, if not
impossible, for the plaintiffs to prove that any alleged actual or constructive denial of the right to
counsel occurred for reasons other than strategic or tactical ones as a matter of law without
looking at each individual representation.
| A. Denial of Counsel at a Critical Stage of a Criminal Proceeding

To determine whether a particular stage of a criminal proceeding is critical,

Courts must "analyze whether potential substantial prejudice to

defendant's rights inheres in the particular confrontation and the

ability of counsel to help avoid that prejudice.” "Perhaps the best

way of reaching an answer to that query is to ask whether [the

defendant] had any [subsequent] opportunity . . . to recover or

exercise whatever privilege he lost."
Ramirez, 898 FSupp2d at 671. A stage is critical if it could result in the "irrevocable loss of a
privilege.” Id. Therefore, a determination of whether a stage is critical for Sixth Amendment
purposes requires the Coutt to look at the stage itself, and the possible prejudice that could result
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to a defendant during that stage, and not whether a defendant actually suffered prejudice during
that stage. Id. at fn 78.

ltisbecausethemultsofaproceedingareixrelevantthattheperseprejudicestandardof
Cronic applies to claims of a denial of counsel at a critical stage. In People v. Margan, 157
AD2d64(2dDeptl990),theappellateComtfoundadenialofcomselatacriticalstagewhcn
the Court directed the prosecution to begin its direct examination of a witness before defendant's
attorney had arrived in the Courtroom. Id. at 65. The Court held that the denial was per se
prejudicial because it caused the defendant to be without counsel at a critical state of the
proceeding, even if the defendant was not ultimately prejudiced by that brief absence of counsel.
Id, at 66. Similarly, in Miller v. Barkley, 2005 US Dist LEXIS 1665 (SDNY 2005), the Court
heldthatthedefendantwasdeniedcotmselatacﬁﬁcalstage,withomtheneedofshowingthat
theabseneeacmallyprejudicedthedefendant,whenhisattomeylefttheCoumoomdm'ingapre-
charge conference. Id. at **21, 26.

In Hamilton v. Alabama, 368 US 52, 54 (1961) the Supreme Court held that the absence
ofcounselatanmaignmemMerAlabamalawdeniedacﬁminaldefendamtheﬁghttocomsel
at a critical stage and therefore the defendant's conviction was reversed without the need to show
prejudice in the criminal proceeding. The Court found an arraignment in Alabama to be a
critical stage for purposes of the right to counsel because "[a]vailable defenses may be
...irretrievably lost." Id. For instance, under Alabama law, the defense of insanity must be pled
atamignment,ortheoppommitytopmentslwhadefensewiubelostlg.ad&

In this case, the Court of Appeals stated

[a]s is here relevant, arraignment itself must under the
circumstances alleged be deemed a critical stage since, even if
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guilty pleas were not then elicited from the presently named

plaintiffs [footnote omitted], a circumstance which would

undoubtedly require the "critical stage” label [citation omitted], it

is clear from the complaint that plaintiffs' pretrial liberty interests

were on that occasion regularly adjudicated [citation omitted] with

most serious consequences, both direct and collateral, including the

loss of employment and housing, and inability to support and care

for particularly needy dependents.
Hurrell-Harring, at 20.

TheComtoprpealsinthiscasenotedthattheSixﬂnAmendmentgumante&s
repmenraﬁonatallcriticalstagesofaptosecution,andobservedthattheperiodbetween
arraignment and trial is critical for Sixth Amendment purposes. Less clear is the Court's holding
with respect to whether arraignment is a critical stage. The Court held that "[i]n New York,
arraignment is, as a general matter, such a stage.” Id. at 21 (emphasis added). The Court added
that under the circumstances alleged in the complaint, arraignment is a critical stage, even absent
entry of a guilty plea because "it is clear from the complaint that plaintiffs' pretrial liberty
intexutswereonthatoccasionregularlyadjudicated ..." Id. at 20. The Court also referred to
arraignment in New York as routinely "affecting a defendant's liberty and the ability to defend
against the charges.” Id. at 21. As discussed below, there was in fact no liberty interest at stake
with a respect to a number of the class representatives, (e.g., the individual was released or not
entitledtorelease),norwastheabilityofmofthedefendantstodefendagainstthechmgw
theyfacedimpairedbytheawenceofeounselatanaignment.
1. Denial of Counsel at Arraignments
New York State Criminal Procedure Law §170.10(3) provides that:

'l‘hedefendamhastherighttotheaidofcomselatd:eanaignment

and at every subsequent stage of the action. If he appears upon

such arraignment without counsel, he has the following rights:
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(a) To an adjournment for the purpose of obtaining counsel;

(b) To communicate, free of charge, by letter or by telephone
provided by the law enforcement facility where the defendant is
held to a phone number located in the United States, or Puerto

Rico, for the purposes of obtaining counsel and informing a
relative or friend that he or she has been charged with an offense;
and

(c) To have counsel assigned by the Court if he is financially
unable to obtain the same; except that this paragraph does not
apply where the accusatory instrument charges a traffic infraction
or infractions only.

See N.Y. Crim. Pro. Law §170.10(3).” The Court must advise the defendant of these rights and .
"not only accord him opportunity to exercise such rights but must itself take such affirmative
action as is necessary to effectuate them.” See N.Y. Crim. Pro. Law §170.10(4)(a). By enacting
this section of the Criminal Procedure Law, New York State has ensured that criminal
defendants have counsel at arraignment. Plaintiffs allege, however, that the requirements of the
Criminal Procedure Law that a criminal defendant be allowed the advice of counsel at
arraignment are not being followed by the Courts in the Five Counties. As this Court has noted
on many occasions, the State's judiciary is not a defendant in this case, and the State has
complied with its Constitutional duty to ensure that criminal defendants are arraigned with
counsel.

This Court raised this problem in its decision denying the State defendants' motion to
dismiss when it stated:

The Court also notes that the complaint, as well as the Report on
the Future of Indigent Defense Services annexed thereto, contain

23 Criminal Procedure Law §170.10 governs arraignments upon an information, simplified traffic information,
prosecutor’s information or a misdemeanor complaint. Section 180.10 governs arraignments upon a felony
complaint. See N.Y. Crim. Pro. Law §180.10. However both sections contain the language quoted from §170.10
above.
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allegations that judges undertake critical proceedings without any
attorney representing indigent defendants . . . If true, the relief
sought by plaintiffs will be incomplete should they emerge
victorious. While it appears that many of these alleged problems
might not be resolved by this litigation, no relief has been sought
against any members of the judiciary. Moreover, it does not
appear that any judgment issued herein would adversely affect any
members of the judiciary in any legally cognizant manner. . .

See Kerwin aff. at Exh. B, pp. 10-11.

Similarly, in denying plaintiffs' motion for a preliminary injunction, the Court stated "in
the context of this instant action . . .plaintiffs must show that deficiencies attributable to the
named defendants have caused the [Constitutional] failure. If, for example, the Constitutional
violations are attributable to the judiciary, injunctive relief would be inappropriate." See Kerwin
aff. at Exh. F, pp. 6-7. The Court went on to point out that 22 NYCRR §202.26 expressly
permits judges to issue securing orders -- which typically occurs at arraignments — in the
absence of counsel and

[p)laintiffs have not challenged such regulation, nor have they

included any of the judiciary or the Chief Administrative Judge as

defendants. It is also unclear how the state defendants could

effectuate the requested injunctive relief, since it is the judiciary

which actually assigns counsel and they are not parties to this

action.
Seeid. atp. 9. Asaresult, any finding in this case that criminal defendants are being denied
counse] at arraignment in the Five Counties cannot be remedied by the State and therefore
injunctive or declaratory relief against the State defendants would be improper as a matter of
law. As a result, the State defendants are entitled to summary judgment on the arraignment issue.

Moreover, the State continues to take steps to improve the quality of representation at

arraignments. In accordance with legislation enacted in 2010 to enhance the delivery of legal

26



services, OILS issued a Request for Proposals seeking applications for grants to be used to
improve the quality of representation provided to indigent criminal defendants at arraignments.
Four of the Five Counties in this case applied, see McGowan aff, at Exh. V; Dvorin aff. at Exh.
T;Rumikaﬂ'.atExh.V;Mlmkwitzaﬁ'.atExh.W,andreceived,substantialgrantﬁmdingfor
this purpose. Specifically, $12 million dollars over a three year period was appropriated to OILS
by the State for the sole purpose of improving the quality of the representation of indigent
criminal defendants at arraignment. Ontario, Suffolk, Onondaga and Schuyler Counties received
$750,000, $747,000, $588,000 and $94,000 over the three year period, respectively.? See
Kerwin aff. at 66.
2. Denial of Counsel Because of Eligibility Determinations
The Court of Appeals referred to the allegations of plaintiff Shawn Chase when the Court

stated that

[o]ne of these plaintiffs remained unrepresented for some five

months and it is alleged that the absence of clear and uniform

guidelines reasonably related to need has commonly resulted in

denials of representation to indigent defendants based on the

subjective judgments of individual jurists.
Hurell-Harring, 15 NY3d at 19. As recognized by the Court of Appeals, eligibility
detelminationsmayonlybemadebythejudicim'y. lneonnecu’onwiththestatmorylanguage
quoted above, Criminal Procedure Law §170.10(3) (c) states that

Thedefendanthastheriglntotheaidofcomselattheatraignment

and at every subsequent stage of the action. If he appears upon
suchmnignmentwithomcolmsel,hehasthefollowingrights:

L J L J *

24 Upon information and belief, Washington County did not apply to participate in the OILS Counsel at First
Appearance grant program. ”



(c) To have counsel assigned by the Court if he is financially

unable to obtain the same; except that this paragraph does not

apply where the accusatory instrument charges a traffic infraction

or infractions only.
See N.Y. Crim. Pro. Law §170.10(3) (emphasis added). By seeking relief that sets standards for
eligibility or declares that eligibility standards are not uniform, the plaintiffs are necessarily
seeking to obtain relief to which only the judiciary would be subject. However, as noted by this
Court and discussed above, the judiciary is not a defendant in this case. As a result, injunctive or
declaratory relief against the State defendants on this issue would be improper as a matter of law.

Such relief must also be denied because the only plaintiff allegedly found ineligible for
public defense services is plaintiff Chase, who was deemed ineligible in Schuyler County
- because he was under 21 years old and information about his parent's income and assets was
required. However, during discovery it was leamed that Schuyler County no longer requires
parent information for potential clients under age 21. Therefore, plaintiffs cannot establish
entitlement to injunctive relief as to eligibility determinations since the one County in which a
plaintiff was allegedly found ineligible ended the complained-of practice. Accordingly, the State
defendants are entitled to summary judgment on the eligibility issue.
3. Constructive Denial of the Right to Counsel Following Arraignment
A constructive denial of the right to counsel includes "counsel's total or near total
derelictions in representation,” Restrepo v. Kelly, 178 F3d 634, 639 (2d Cir. 1999), and is
“limited to situations involving Constitutional error of the first magnitude which cannot be cured
even if no prejudice is shown." Ivory v. Jackson, 509 F3d 284, 295 (6™ Cir. 2007). Examples of
such derelictions include (1) filing a cursory appellate brief, (2) sleeping through trial for
substantial periods of time, (3) failing to file a notice of appeal when instructed by a client to do
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so, Knight v. Phillips, 2012 US Dist LEXIS 169335, *68 (EDNY 2012). See also Childress v.
Johnson, 103 F3d 1221, 1229 (5"‘ Cir. 1997) (a constructive denial of counsel occurs when a

defendant is forced to confront a critical stage of the proceeding without the assistance of "an
attorney dedicated to the protection of his client's rights under our adversarial system of
justice.”), (4) failing to assist a defendant at plea proceedings, (5) failing to object to a directed
verdict against the defendant, (6) "deliberately stress[ing] the brutality of" the defendant's crime,
Appel v. Hom, 250 F3d 203, 212-13 (3d Cir. 2001), (7) "expressing contempt and ‘unmistakable
personal antagonism' toward the client in the presence of the jury" and (8) refusing to present a
defense "because of an unsound trial strategy.” Maxon v, Bell, 2010 US Dist LEXIS 143872,
*90 (WD Michigan 2010). "Courts have been 'reluctant to extend a rule of per se prejudice in
any new direction." Knight at *68.

Plaintiffs allege that the plaintiffs were constructively denied counsel in the rest of their
criminal proceedings following arraignment. See Kerwin aff. at Exh. A, generally. However, as
discussed below, "such circumstances fall far short of the magnitude of error that is required for
a Sixth Amendment deprivation of counsel violation to constitute Constitutional error without a
showing of prejudice.”" Pugliano v. United States, 2005 US Dist LEXIS 38453, *24 (D. Conn.
2005).

The fact that the Cronic Court found that the facts at issue did not support a constructive
denial of counsel claim demonstrates the severity of circumstances that must be present to find a
constructive denial of the right to counsel. In Cronic, a young real estate lawyer was assigned to
represent a defendant on felony mail fraud charges twenty-five days before trial and after the
prosecution investigated the case for four and half years and examined thousands of documents.
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Cronic, 466 US at 649. The lawyer put on no defense, but effectively cross-examined the
prosecution’s witnesses. Id. at 651. The Court held that despite (1) the inexperience of the appointed
attorney, (2) the attorney’s lack of criminal experience, (3) the attorney's lack of trial experience and
(4)the 25 daysinwhichtheattomeyhadtoleamabomandinthigatethecaseandprepmforuial,
plaintiff did not demonstrate a constructive denial of the defendant's right to counsel. Id. at 663-
667.

Decisions by lower Courts applying Cronic further illustrate the high burden of proof that
must be met to establish a constructive denial of counsel. In Lopez v. Artus, 2005 US Dist LEXIS
7153 (SDNY 2005), defense counsel, while representing the defendant, was the subject of eight
complaints to the grievance committee and, three months after he concluded his representation of the
defendant, counsel was suspended from the practice of law because of mental infirmity or illness.
Id. at **5, 8. Counsel failed to appear at some of defendant's Court proceedings and, except during
mepleamdsentmcmgappemmea,wmselappwedonothaoocasionSOMymmqm
adjournments. Id. at **45. The Court held that the defendant was not constructively denied counsel.
Id. at *25. See also Fuller v. Sherry, 405 Fed Appx 980, 988 (6 Cir. 2010) (the Court held that,
although "[counsel] was forced to meet with a new client, discuss a potential plea, consider motions
and discovery requests, review discovery documents, and read the preliminary examination
transcript, all within eighty-eight minutes” before trial, the defendant was "never completely without
counsel,” because counsel did not go to trial "entirely unprepared,” and the "trial was not stripped 'of
all its integrity.™); Maxon at **85, 88 (no constructive denial of counsel when counsel (1) failed to
investigate mitigating issues in case, (2) did not prepare a defense, (3) did not retain an expert, (4)
did not object to the "prosecutor’s flagrant misconduct,” and (5) did not object to rulings, jury
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instructions or sentencing issues); Glover v. Miro, 2762 F3d 268, 271-72, 276 (4™ Cir. 2001) (no
constructive denial of the right to counsel when the defendant was assigned an attorney who was
responsible for fifty to sixty other cases during the term in which defendant's case was to be tried,
and plaintiff's trial began two days after counsel first met with the defendant at which time counsel
was denied a continuance to find witnesses.)

Also, in United States v, Rogers, 13 Fed Appx 386 (7" Cir. 2001), the defendant
informed the Court that his counsel never met with him to discuss his case, did not issue
subpoenas or talk to witnesses and would not respond to defendant’s calls or letters. Id. at 387.
lheCommmmedefendMW&mtwm&ucﬁwlydemawmselbecausemses"ﬁnding
an inherently prejudicial constructive absence of counsel mostly involve egregious conduct that
is the functional equivalent of actual absence of counsel,” and defendant failed to show such
egregious conduct of his attorney that "entirely failed to subject the prosecution's case to
meaningful adversarial testing.” Id. at 388-89. See also Griffin v. Aiken, 775 F2d 1226, 1229-30
(4" Cir. 1985) (no constructive denial when counsel did minimal investigation, was in Court on
othet matters during the three days before defendant's arraignment and trial, had between 100
and 140 other cases pending at the same time as the defendant's case, had only limited
conversations with the defendant in the period between the preliminary hearing and trial, and
was unable to present any arguments for the suppression of evidence because he did not have
knowledge of the case); Mitchell v, Mason, 325 F3d 732, 741-42, 748 (6™ Cir. 2003) (no
constructive denial of counsel during the investigative stage of the criminal proceeding when
defense counsel had been suspended from the practice of law for the month leading up to murder
defendant’s trial, never met with or spoke with the defendant — who was charged with murder —
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before trial, never responded to defendant's letters and never spoke to any witnesses).

Significantly, in cases where a defendant was found to have been constructively denied
counsel, the defendants were, in actuality, without counsel at all. For example, in United States v.
Morris, 470 F3d 596 (6™ Cir. 2006), assigned counsel met with the defendant for a few minutes in a
public and crowded "bull pen" area before having to decide whether to plead guilty or face more
charges. Id. at 598-99. At that time, counsel had not received any discovery, did not know
defendant's criminal record and was incorrect about the time that the defendant would face on the
new charges if he rejected the plea. Id, at 599, 602. The Court held that the defendant was
constructively denied his right to counsel because not even a competent attorey could have
provided effective assistance of counsel in those circumstances. Id. at 602. Similarly, in State v.
Peart, 621 So2d 780 (La. 1993), the Court held that the caseloads of a public defense attorney that
included handling seventy cases per day and having at least one serious case set for trial per day,
with no investigative, paralegal or clerical assistance, constructively denied counsel to clients
assigned to that attorney. Id. at 784, 789.

As the evidence of what occurred to the plaintiffs during their criminal proceedings, and how
indigent criminal defense services are actually provided in the Five Counties presently will show, the
plaintiffs cannot meet the very high burden required to establish a claim of the systemic constructive
denial of the right to counsel in any of the Five Counties.

B. The Plaintiffs

The plaintiffs cannot show that the indigent criminal defense systems in any of the Five

Counties are at risk of denying counsel to indigent criminal defendants due to alleged

unconstitutional systemic deficiencies. Instead, the testimony of the plaintiffs in this case has
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established that, while they had complaints about the representation provided by their defense
attorneys in the cases described in the second amended complaint, they were satisfied, and had no
complaints when represented by attorneys from the same public defense providers in other cases.
That is, the allegations in the second amended complaint are fairly characterized, based on the proof,
as reflecting non-systemic problems more akin to ineffective assistance of counsel than denial of
counsel.

For instance, plaintiff Steele testified that she was satisfied with the representation that
she was given by a member of the Ontario County Assigned Counsel Plan ("ACP") in
connection with a prior criminal prosecution. See Steele dep. at p. 47. Plaintiff Tomberelli had
been represented by the Schuyler County Public Defender ("PD") Office on three prior occasions
and was satisfied with the representation that he received. See Tomberelli dep. at pp. 47-48.
Plaintiﬂ'Habshihadpreviouslybeentepr&entedbytheWashingtonCountyPDOfﬁceandwas
satisfied with that representation. See Habshi dep. at p. 61. Plaintiff Booker was subsequently
arrested two times and represented by a member of the Suffolk County Legal Aid Society
("LAS"). See Booker dep. at pp. 21, 22-23. Plaintiff Booker had no complaints about those
representations and was satisfied. See id. at pp. 23, 26, 30-31.

Pla.intifthiggshadbeenrepmentedatleastsixpmvioustim&bymembersofthe
Onondaga County ACP and was satisfied with the representation that he received from those
attorneys. See Briggs dep. at pp. 10-11, 15-16. He has also not had a problem with his
representation by an ACP lawyer on subsequent charges. See id. at pp. 31-32. In fact, in his

most recent representation with an ACP lawyer, plaintiff Briggs had many in-person meetings
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with this ACP attorey at the jail, spoke with his attorney on the telephone with no problems and
discussed plea offers with his attorney. See id. at pp. 33-36.

Plaintiff Love had been represented by members of the Onondaga County ACP on three or
four other occasions. See Love dep. at pp. 10-11. Plaintiff Love testified that every ACP attorney
that he has had would respond to his voicemail messages within a couple of weeks. See id. at ppP-
36-37,46-48. He never had an ACP attorney who never came to visit him. See id. at p. 47. Plaintiff
Love testified that he was released shortly after Mr. McKenzie took his case and he had no difficulty
communicating with Mr. McKenzie. See Love dep. at pp. 38-39. Mr. Love also had no difficulty
communicating with Mr. Jeschke. See id. at p. 39.

This testimony alone shows that attorneys in the Counties are not, actually or
constructively, leaving indigent criminal defendants without counsel. Just assuming for purposes
of this action that some attorneys provide acceptable representation and some do not, any alleged
deficiencies necessarily cannot be of systemic proportions. Therefore, to the extent that the
Court finds issues of fact as to whether any plaintiff was actually or constructively denied his or
her right to counsel, such a finding would support a conclusion that a particular lawyer, and not
the system, violated that right. Moreover, as discussed below, an examination of each county's
public defense system reveals the lack of any basis for finding a systemic denial of the right to
counsel.

1. Ontario County Plaintiffs
a. Lane Loyzelle

Mr. Loyzelle was arraigned on the charge of petit larceny in Canandaigua City Court on

September 27, 2007. Bail was set at $2500.00, a typical and reasonable amount for a charge of petit
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larceny for someone with a criminal record and on probation, such as Mr. Loyzelle. See Tantillo
2009 at §6; Sperano 2009 at §5. At the time of his arrest for petit larceny in Canandaigua, Mr.
Loyzelle was on probation in Wayne County. See Sperano 2009 at §6; Sperano dep.atp. 124. A
member of the Ontario ACP panel — Aaron Sperano - was assigned to represent plaintiff Loyzelle
because, at that time, indigent criminal defendants in Ontario County were represented by the ACP.
Attorney Aaron Sperano was informed that a violation of probation would be filed against Mr.
Loyzelle as a result of his Canandaigua arrest. See Sperano 2009 at 6. Therefore, even were Mr.
Loyzelle able to pay bail, or was released on his own recognizance, he would have been held in
custody on the probation detainer. Seeid. Attorney Sperano informed Mr. Loyzelle that if he were
released or bailed out on the petit larceny charge, he would continue to be held in custody, without
that time counting toward a sentence on the petit larceny charge.? See id. at 146, 21.

Attorney Sperano met -with Mr. Loyzelle at Court on October 10, 2007 to discuss the charges
against him, his criminal record, his status as a probationer and a plan for his defense. See id. at 7;
Loyzelle dep. at pp. 57, 58-59. Attorney Sperano gave Mr. Loyzelle his business card, and told Mr.
Loyzelle to call at any time with any questions or concerns. See Sperano 2009 at §22. On that date,
defense counsel also met with Assistant District Attorney ("ADA") Bill Hart who told attorney
Sperano that there would be no plea bargain offer to a lesser charge on Mr. Loyzelle’s case because
of Mr. Loyzelle’s criminal record, which included two convictions in a twelve month period. Seeid.
at 7. ADA Hart further informed attorney Sperano that if Mr. Loyzelle pled guilty to the petit
larceny charge, the recommended sentence would be approximately one year of incarceration. See

id.

25waimmmm&phhﬁﬁlnyulhwsﬁﬁdmwmySpamomadeawlappﬁcaﬁmforplaintiﬂ‘inConnat
plaintiff's request. See Loyzelle dep. at p. 64.
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Attomey Sperano met with Mr. Loyzelle on several occasions®® and (1) obtained Mr.
Loyzelle’s pedigree information and the names and telephone numbers of family members; (2)
obtained Mr. Loyzelle’s version of the facts surrounding the charges against him; (3) obtained
information relating to Mr. Loyzelle’s criminal record and probationer status; and (4) discussed
defense strategy. See id. at 7, 22; Sperano dep. at pp. 100-02, 105, 108, 110-112. Attorney
Sperano also sent two letters to Mr. Loyzelle, which contained a letterhead with all contact
information for Attorney Sperano’s office. See Sperano 2009 at 122. Attorney Sperano also spoke
with ADA Hart a couple of other times, after which he relayed the content of those conversations to
Mr. Loyzelle. See id. at §7. After some negotiating, Attorney Sperano convinced ADA Hart to
consider a recommendation from Mr. Loyzelle’s Wayne County probation officer regarding the
possibility of a jail sentence of less than a year, or probation. Seeid. at 18. ADA Hart agreed to give
considerable weight to the opinion and recommendation of the probation officer. See id.

Attorney Sperano informed plaintiff Loyzelle of the People’s offer and of ADA Hart’s
willingness to consider a lesser sentence, or probation, if recommended by Mr. Loyzelle’s probation
officer. Se¢ id. at 9. Attorney Sperano thereafter learned that Mr. Loyzelle intended to refuse a
sentence of probation, ifoﬂ'exed,andpreferredmseweﬁmeininwceraﬁoninsteadofbeingplaoed
back under the supervision of the Probation Department. See id.; Sperano dep. at p.126. Based on
these discussions, Mr. Loyzelle understood that his defense counsel would attempt to obtain a plea
offer to dispose of the case. See Sperano 2009 at 710.

Before Mr. Loyzeue’sne)nComdate,anomeySpexmoagaincomactedADAHaninqtﬁﬁng
about any change in the People’s plea offer. See id. at{11. ADA Hart informed defense counsel that

%Phinﬁﬂhymﬂe&ﬁﬁedﬂmhedmnﬂmﬂwbﬂh«hehadmywmmiwﬁmwi&ammmy&mm
between the Court appearances following his arraignment. Sggl.,oyzelledep.mp.ﬂ.ﬂzdoesmllanomcy
Sperano visiting him at the jail at least once, but possibly more. See id. at pp. 67, 70.
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his position had not changed. See id. At the Court appearance on October 31, 2007, attorney
Sperano informed Mr. Loyzelle that the People’s plea offer continued to be a plea to the charge with
one year incarceration. See id. at J12. Mr. Loyzelle rejected the plea, and directed his counsel to
proceed to trial if he could not negotiate a more favorable plea. See id.

Attorney Sperano met with Mr. Loyzelle at the Ontario County Jail on or about November
14, 2007 and November 17, 2007, and on each occasion discussed the plea bargain, the People’s
burden at trial, the risks and benefits associated with going to trial, and the plan for his case. See id.
at §10; Sperano dep. at p. 127; Loyzelle dep. at pp. 74-75. The case was set for motion argument to
be heard in the first week of January 2008. See Sperano 2009 at §13. Prior to that date, Attorney
Sperano had conversations with Mr. Loyzelle’s Wayne County probation officer, who agreed to
recommend a sentence of three months incarceration to cover both the petit larceny charge and the
probation violation. See id. Attorney Sperano immediately contacted the Court and requested a date
for a pre-trial conference to discuss the probation officer’s recommendation with the judge and ADA
Hart. The conference was scheduled for December 7, 2007. See id. at §14. Attorney Sperano then
sent a letter to Mr. Loyzelle informing him of the recommendation of his probation officer, and the
request for a pre-trial conference. See id. at J15. Attorney Sperano again wrote to Mr. Loyzelle on
December 1, 2007 advising Mr. Loyzelle of the scheduled conference, his intention to seek a firm
plea offer and that he would be visiting Mr. Loyzelle at the Jail before the conference. See id. at §16.
Attomey Sperano thereafter met with Mr. Loyzelle at the Ontario County Jail on December 4, 2007,
at which time they discussed the probation officer’s recommendation. See id. at 17. If accepted by
ADA Hart and the judge, Mr. Loyzelle intended to accept the offer of pleading to the petit larceny
charge with a sentence of three months incarceration. See id.

37



Mr. Loyzelle understood that his only alternative to accepting the plea bargain was to
proceed to trial. See id. Attorney Sperano discussed with Mr. Loyzelle the People’s evidence,
informing him that a motion to suppress would likely not be successful, and that all of the
ev1dence was most likely admissible. See id. Mr. Loyzelle entered a plea of guilty on December
12, 2007 and was sentenced to the agreed three months incarceration. See id. at §18. While the
charge against Mr. Loyzelle stemmed from his theft of twenty dollars, it was alleged that the
theft occurred as part of a “drug deal gone bad”. See id. at J21; Sperano dep. at p. 126. Further,
as discussed above, the petit larceny charge was Mr. Loyzelle’s third arrest in twelve months.
See Sperano 2009 at §21. Additionally, he was on probation for one of the two other convictions
at the time of the petit larceny arrest. See id. Entering into the plea deal was a strategic decision
that was made only after discussion with Mr. Loyzelle and was in his best interests. See id. The
plea deal was a very favorable one in Ontario County, particularly in light of Mr. Loyzelle’s
criminalrecordandprobationaxystatusatthetimeoftbecommissionofthecrimecharged. See
Tantillo 2009 at §11.

Plaintiff Loyzelle was not represented at his initial arraignment in Canandaigua City
Court and was unable to make bail. See Loyzelle dep. at 57. However, under the current system
in Ontario County, defendants who commit a crime in the City of Canandaigua are arraigned
every day with counsel. See Lapp dep. at 139-40. As a result, if plaintiff Loyzelle's arrest
happened now, he would be arraigned with counsel. For purposes of the claim of systemic
denial of counsel, plaintiff Loyzelle's circumstances, therefore, do not represent how
arraignments are conducted in Ontario County today.

When viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff Loyzelle, plaintiff Loyzelle alleges

38



that he was constructively denied his right to counsel because (1) counsel did not communicate
with him soon enough after his arraignment or often enough, (2) he lost his job because he could
not make bail and (3) he believed that his attorney's investigative efforts should have included
speaking to the alleged victim of his crime. See Loyzelle dep. at pp. 79-82. However, these
allegations fail to establish that plaintiff Loyzelle was constructively denied his right to counsel.
First, plaintiff Loyzelle alleges that attorney Sperano did not communicate with him enough.
"There is no required minimum number of meetings between counsel and client." Knight at fn
33. Only "a complete breakdown in communications’™" between an attorney and client is
Constitutionally deficient. Dolab v. Donelli, 2010 US Dist LEXIS 137406, *56. (EDNY 2010).
Courts have found that as long as an attorney and client can speak at Court appearances, the
communication is Constitutionally acceptable. Ping v. Willingham, 746 FSupp2d 496, 500
(SDNY 2010) (defendant's claim that counsel inadequately consulted with her before and during
trial was rejected because she was present with counsel all throughout the trial); U.S. v.
Nugclovic, 2006 US Dist. LEXIS 90113, **25-26 (SDNY 2006).

In Zimmerman v, Davis, 2011 US Dist LEXIS 34490 (ED Michigan 2011), the criminal
defendant alleged that his (retained) attorney only met with him "for brief periods of time before
trial,” never took defendant's phone calls, never responded to defendant’s letters and never met
with the client in jail to "discuss evidence and trial strategy.” Id. at *6. Since the Cronic
exception "applies only in cases in which a lawyer fails to carry out his most basic duties as an
advocate," defendant could not establish a constructive denial of counsel on these facts because

27In5mm_v_.mm504F3d873(9"‘Cir.2007),&0Comtheldﬂ1atthenwasnotacompletebmkdownin
communication between trial counsel and client even though they had developed "irreconcilable differences”
because the communication between them “remained open” since they both communicated with the second chair
attomey who acted as the conduit for communication between attorney and client. Jd. at 887.
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counsel met with the defendant at least four times "in the attorney interview rooms in the bullpen
area," and met with the defendant in jail one time. Id. at *10. The Court found that, since
counsel filed a notice of alibi defense and argued that defense at trial, argued two pretrial
motions and cross-examined the prosecution’s witnesses, he necessarily had to have discussed
the merits of defendant's case with the defendant at some point. Id. at *11. Although the
defendant "clearly desired more contact with his retained attorney” the Court held that the
defendant was not constructively denied counsel. Id.

During the period that plaintiff was represented by attorney Sperano, plaintiff Loyzelle
did not call or write to attorney Sperano. See Loyzelle dep. at p. 61. Attorney Sperano met with
plaintiff Loyzelle in jail at least once, but possibly more. See id. at pp. 67, 70. They also met in
Court at least three times. See Loyzelle dep. at pp. 57, 58-59; Sperano 2009 at 1412, 18. While
perhaps not frequent enough to satisfy plaintiff Loyzelle, these communications did not
constructively deprive plaintiff Loyzelle of his right to counsel. Zimmerman at **10-11.

Second, even if plaintiff's bail was reduced to zero, he would not have been released from
custody because of the probation detainer placed on him. Therefore, plaintiff did not remain in
custody and lose his job of three days, see Loyzelle dep. at p. 52, as a result of any constructive
denial of counsel. In any event, although the Court of Appeals states that defendants may suffer
"collateral” consequences as a result of having to spend any time, at all, in custody such as "the
loss of employment and housing, and inability to support and care for particularly needy
dependents,” see Hurrell-Harring, 15 NY3d at 20, the State defendants cannot find any case law
tosupportapositionthattheSixﬂ:Amendmentwasimendedtopmtectanyintemtsofdle
criminal defendant not associated with his or her criminal case. To the contrary, the United
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States District Court for the Southern District of New York has stated that "[w]hile the Court
regrets the[] collateral effects of the criminal prosecution” in the form of "loss of employment
and the denial of unemployment benefits" "they are not within the usual meaning of prejudice
under the Sixth Amendment..." United States v. Fernandez, 1980 US Dist LEXIS 15809, *7
(SDNY 1980).

Finally, plaintiff was dissatisfied with plaintiff Sperano's investigation of his case
because attorney Sperano did not speak to the victim of plaintiff Loyzelle's crime. See Loyzelle
dep. at pp. 79-82. However, attorney Sperano's investigation into the facts of Mr. Loyzelle’s
case included ascertaining the facts of the case from Mr. Loyzelle, and reviewing the People’s
file and evidence, which was openly available to him. See Sperano 2009 at 120. Attorney
Sperano learned that the People’s evidence included an eyewitness to the events as well as a law
enforcement eyewitness. See id. Based on the People’s strong case, and Mr. Loyzelle’s inability
to provide his counsel with the names of any witnesses to refute the charges against him, see
Sperano dep. at p. 127, there was little more factual investigation to be performed, which was a
major factor in seeking a plea offer. See Sperano 2009 at 20. While plaintiff Loyzelle thinks
that attorney Sperano should have done something different in his investigation into plaintiff's
case, such an allegation is, at best, one of ineffective assistance of counsel because plaintiff
Loyzelle was not effectively left unrepresented during the investigative stage of his prosecution.
Strickland, 466 US at 691.

Based on the proof in this case, plaintiff Loyzelle is unable to meet his threshold burden
of establishing that he was denied his Constitutional right to counsel. See Kerwin aff. at Exh. K.
b. Tosha Steele
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Tosha Steele was assigned counsel by Geneva City Court Judge Gage on July 30, 2007 and
was thereafter arraigned in the presence of her attorney, Michael Roulan, on the charges of criminal
possession of a controlled substance with intent to sell. See Roulan 2009 at 113-4; Steele dep. at pp.
50-51. Ms. Steele could not be released from custody because a parole detainer had been filed
against her, so no bail was set. See Roulan 2009 at 4; Roulan dep. at pp. 4-5; Steele dep. at p. 25.
Ms. Steele spoke with attorney Roulan®® while in Court on July 30, 2007 and informed him about the
circumstancwofherarrestandthatshehadbeenonparoleatthetimeofheraxmt.&koulanzow
at 5. Attorney Roulan also spoke to the ADA briefly at the July 30, 2007 appearance, and later by
telephone. The ADA informed attorney Roulan that drugs were found in Ms. Steele’s underwear
during a frisk search by her parole officer. See id. at 6.

At Ms. Steele’s next Court appearance on August 13, 2007, attorney Roulan requested a
preliminary hearing, and later informed Ms. Steele that a preliminary hearing was scheduled for
August 20, 2007. See id. at 17. On August 20, 2007, the People chose not to proceed with the
preliminary hearing since Ms. Steele would remain incarcerated upon the parole detainer, regardless
of the outcome of the preliminary hearing. See id. at §8; Roulan dep. at pp. 7, 16-17. Ms. Steele
incorrectly testified that Mr. Roulan had waived the preliminary hearing. See Steele dep. at p. 48.
Upon leaming of the People’s decision, attomey Roulan determined that it would be in Ms. Steele’s
best interests to waive presentation of the case to the grand jury in order to expedite the case to
County Court. See Roulan 2009 at 79. Otherwise, Ms. Steele would have to wait for a dismissal of
mechmgemdmmmmgmemWonmmdicmmaﬂwhﬂemaimngmcusmdymﬂmpamle

28 Plaintiff thinks that Mr. Roulan should have given her more frequent updates on her case. See Steele dep. at p.
54.
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detainer. See id. Attorney Roulan discussed this strategy with Ms. Steele, who agreed with it. See
id. Also on August 20, 2007, attorney Roulan spoke to the attorney representing Ms. Steele on the
parole violation, who agreed that the parole violation hearing should be adjourned pending
completion of the criminal charge to enhance the possibility that any penalties for the parole
violation would run concurrently with the probable sentence on the criminal charges. See id. at §10.

Based on the facts that (1) the charge was Ms. Steele’s third felony charge in a short span of
time, and (2) Ms. Steele had previously been sentenced to a term of 4 Y2 to 9 years for the same type
of charge she was facing, there was great potential for a lengthy sentence. See id. atJ11. In light of
these circumstances, it was attorney Roulan’s professional judgment that the best way to proceed
would be to have a screening conference with the People to determine the possibility of getting a
more favorable sentence at the outset as opposed to litigating any issues that may arise. The
screening conference was scheduled for September 21, 2007. See id. at1]12: At the September 21,
2007 screening conference, attorney Roulan learned that the People had three to four additional
charges against Ms. Steele for sales of controlled substances and were recommending a sentence of
twelve and a half years. See id. at 13; Roulan dep. at pp. 5-6. The screening conference ended
without a subsequent conference being scheduled. See Roulan 2009 at §13. Attorney Roulan
thereafter spoke with Ms. Steele on the telephone and advised her of the four new charges and the
offer of twelve and a half years. See id. at §14; Steele dep. at pp. 23-24. Attomey Roulan advised
Ms. Steele that he would get more information on the new charges from the ADA. See Roulan 2009
at 13; Steele dep. at p. 49.

Upon speaking with the ADA after several attempts to reach him, attorney Roulan leamed
that the three to four new charges stemmed from sales by Ms. Steele to undercover police officers

29 Plaintiff Steele does not recall if this happened or not. Seg Steele dep. at p. 48.
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and that the evidence relating to these sales was very solid. See Roulan 2009 at §15. After some
negotiation, the ADA agreed to reduce the recommended sentence to seven and a half years. See id.
Attorney Roulan thereafter contacted the Court and requested to negotiate a plea on all of the
outstanding charges against Ms. Steele before an indictment was voted on the four new charges. See
id. at 16. A screening conference was held on November 16, 2007, see id., and attomey Roulan
convinced the Court to reduce the recommended sentence of seven and a half years to six years. See
id. at §17. Attorney Roulan researched the sentencing laws to determine the consequences of a
parole violation and a conviction upon a plea in Ms. Steele’s case and whether the sentences would
run concurrently. See id. at §18. As part of his research, attorney Roulan took the initiative to
contact the NYS Department of Correctional Services Counsel’s Office for an opinion on this issue.
See id. at 18. Based on his research, attorney Roulan determined that Ms. Steele would be eligible,
once incarcerated, for programming that could reduce her actual time served to three and a half
years. See id. at §19.

Aﬁerdiscussingthisoﬁ'erandthebeneﬁtsandﬁsksofgoingtotrialwithMr. Roulan, Ms.
Steele accepted the plea offer and pled guilty on November 27, 2007 to one count of criminal
possession of drugs with intent to sell to cover all charges. See id. at 920. This plea deal was very
favorable, particularly in light of Ms. Steele’s extensive criminal history, the impending presentment
ofthefomnewchrg&stothegmndjmyandtbestrengthofﬂ:ePeople’sevidenceagainstMs.
Steele. See Tantillo 2009 at Y34. Such a beneficial result was possible only because of the defense
strategy and advocacy employed by Ms. Steele’s assigned defense attorney. See id. at Y35. Attorney
Roulan's decision to attempt a pre-indictment disposition allowed him to learn of the new charges
against Ms. Steeleandcmﬁadispositionthatwouldtakecamofallpendingcharg&s.§gid. This
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decision, which delayed grand jury presentment on any of the charges facing Ms. Steele, resulted in
a much more favorable outcome for Ms. Steele who faced her third felony charge in a short amount
of time, and had previously been sentenced to a term of four and a half to nine years for the same
type of charge she was facing. See id. In light of the People’s first offer of twelve and a half years,
the sentence of six years was an extremely beneficial outcome for Ms. Steele. See id.

To the extent that arraignment is a critical stage, plaintiff Steele alleges that she was not
represented at her initial arraignment at the Geneva Police Department on July 25, 2007, see Steele
dep. at p. 50, but both plaintiff Steele and attorney Roulan stated that plaintiff was represented by
Mr. Roulan at her arraignment in Geneva City Court on July 30, 2007.%° See Steele dep. at p. 51;
Roulan 2009 at §13-4. Notwithstanding, under the current system in Ontario County, arraignments
are held seven days a week in Geneva City Court with PD counsel present. See Munkwitz aff. at
9145. As a result, if plaintiff Steele's arrest happened now, she would be arraigned with counsel.
Therefore, to the extent that the testimony in this case is interpreted as plaintiff having been
arraigned on July 25, 2007 without counsel, plaintiff Steele would not represent how arraignments
are conducted in Ontario County currently.

When viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff Steele, plaintiff Steele alleges that she
was constructively denied her right to counsel because "she felt like [attomey Roulan] wasn't doing
what a lawyer should do, because he wasn't visiting [her], he wasn't keeping up with me what was
going on," and she "just wanted him to communicate with [her] to let [her] know what was going
on." See Steele dep. at p. 54. Plaintiff Steele testified at her deposition that this was the only reason

30 Bail was not set because a parole detainer had been filed against Ms. Steele. Se¢ Roulan 2009 at 14; Roulan dep.
at pp. 4-5; Steele dep. at p. 25. Therefore, nothing about plaintiff Steele being placed in custody could have been
different if an attomey had been at the arraignment.
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that she was dissatisfied with attorney Roulan's representation.”’ See id. at p. 56.

Yet, plaintiff Steele also testified that she was able to contact Mr. Roulan by telephone,
that Mr. Roulan met with the plaintiff at jail, and that plaintiff Steele met with Mr. Roulan in
Court. See id. at pp. 60-61; Roulan 2009 at 14. The plaintiff and attorney Roulan met in Court
at least four times. See Roulan 2009 at 95, 8, 9; Roulan dep. at pp. 7, 16-17, 20; Steele dep. at
pp. 48, 51. This communication far exceeds a level of communication that is deemed to
constitute a constructive denial of counsel under the Sixth Amendment. Zimmerman at **10-11.

Although plaintiff testified that her only complaint about her representation related to the
frequency of attorney Roulan's communication with her, she also testified that she "wasn't expecting
as much time as they were trying to give me. "32 See Steele dep. at p. 32. Although plaintiff Steele
had previously been sentenced to a term of four and a half to nine years for the same type of charge
she was facing, see Roulan 2009 at 11, apparently plaintiff Steele thought doing less time for the
same felony was reasonable. Notwithstanding, attorney Roulan negotiated a plea deal for plaintiff
Steele — to cover those charges plus additional ones — of six years incarceration, which - after
programming - could result in plaintiff's release in three and a half years. See id. at J17. This plea
offer was decreased substantially from the initial offer of twelve and a half years, see id. at J14;
Steele dep. at pp. 23-24, and second offer of seven and a half years. See Roulan 2009 at {15.
However, to the extent that the evidence in this case could possibly be read to allege that plaintiff
Steele was denied her Sixth Amendment rights because she was dissatisfied with her plea, such a

31 Plaintiff Steele testified that attomney Roulan investigated issues at her request, se¢ Steele dep. at p. 49, and did
not know if attorney Roulan did any other investigation. See id. at p. 33. She also testified that she did not think that
an expert was needed for the defense of her case. See id. atp. 57.
32 Both plaintiff Steele and attorney Roulan testified that attorney Roulan missed one Court appearance. See Stecle
dep. at pp. 63-64; Roulan dep. at pp. 14-15. However, the only evidence in this case is that attorney Roulan was not
wldmascteenhgeonﬁaenceofplainﬁﬂ‘suele'snextCmmdmand,asamlghedidnotdiaryit. See Roulan
dep. at pp. 14-15. Such an alleged isolated incident of diary failure does not constitute a Constitutional denial of the
right to counsel.
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claim is one for ineffective assistance of counsel, and not one for a constructive denial of counsel
because attorney Roulan was far from absent during the plea negotiation phase of plaintiff Steele's
representation.

Based on the proof in this case, plaintiff Steele is unable to meet his threshold burden of
establishing that she was denied her Constitutional right to counsel. See Kerwin aff. at Exh. K.

2. Suffolk County — Luther Booker

Luther Booker was charged with the class E felony of Criminal Possession of Stolen Property
in the Fourth Degree. See Monastero 2009 at 12; Booker dep. at p. 8. He was arraigned, with
counsel, see Booker dep. at pp. 54-55, on those charges on September 29, 2007, at which time the
Court assigned the Suffolk County Legal Aid Society ("LAS") to represent Mr. Booker and the
assigned LAS attomney -- Deborah Monastero — represented Mr. Booker at that arraignment. See
Monastero 2009 at 93. Bail was set in the amount of $1000.00. At the time of his arrest, Mr.
Booker’s criminal record included thirty-five arrests and ten convictions, a history of failing to
appear for Court appearances four times and one open warrant. See id. Mr. Booker’s assigned LAS
attorney conferenced Mr. Booker’s case on October 2, 2007 with the ADA, and received voluntary
discovery from the People at that time. See id. at 2.

Attorney Monastero reviewed the documentation relating to Mr. Booker’s case, and shortly
thereafter met with Mr. Booker to explain the nature of charge against him and discuss any possible
defenses available to Mr. Booker. See id. Mr. Booker’s attorney explained the grand jury process to
Mr. Booker, as well as Criminal Procedure Law §180.80, and then informed Mr. Booker of the
People’s offer of one year incarceration in exchange for a plea of guilty to the crime charged. See id.
Mr. Booker asked his attorney if she could try to reduce the period of incarceration offered by the
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People, and his attorney told Mr. Booker that she would attempt to do so. See id.

Mr. Booker’s attorney then met with the assigned ADA’s supervisor, who agreed to reduce
the period of incarceration sought in connection with a plea to eight months. See id. She then
conveyed this second offer to Mr. Booker and requested a two week adjournment from the Court to
give Mr. Booker an opportunity to decide how he wished to proceed. See id. Finally, attorney
Monastero advised Mr. Booker that the People’s offer would remain in effect through his next
appearance date scheduled for October 16, 2007. See id.

Mr. Booker’s attorney was unable to make a bail application on October 2, 2007 because of
the Court’s policy not to entertain bail applications unless there has been a change in circumstances
from the time that the defendant was arraigned. See id. at 3. Mr. Booker had not had a change in
circumstance between September 29, 2007 and October 2, 2007 to justify making a bail application
at that juncture. See id. On October 16, 2007, Mr. Booker accepted the eight month offer. See id. at
14. His attoney informed Mr. Booker that he would have to sign three copies of a “Waiver of
IndictmentandConsenttobeProsecutedbyaSuperiorComtlnformation”,andtlmd:eADA,judge
and defense counsel would also be signing that document. See id. Mr. Booker’s attorney further
advised Mr. Bookerthat,bysigningthedocmnent,hewouldbegivinguphisrighttohavehiscase
presented to a grand jury. See id.

The plea bargain, however, fell apart. When asked during his plea allocution if he knew the
credit card was stolen, Mr. Bookermpondeddisrespectfuuythatifhehiewthecreditcardwas
stolen, he would have disguised himself. See id. atY5. The judge became upset at Mr. Booker’s lack
ofmpectforthejudicialpromsmdorderedthecase&msfaredwComtyCom See id. Upon
the transfer of Mr. Booker’s case to County Court, Mr. Bookerwasassignedadiﬂ"exentLASComny
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Court attorney -- Edward Vitale -- on October 22, 2007, see Vitale 2009 at Y3, who possessed the
experience necessary to represent clients in County Court. However, because of the recency of the
appointment, attorney Vitale was unable to attend Mr. Booker’s appearance on October 23, 2007.
Sce id. at 77. As a result, the other LAS attorney assigned to that Courtroom -- John Schick —
represented Mr. Booker at that appearance, and conferenced the case with the Court and the ADA.
See Schick 2009 at J3; Vitale dep. at p. 76. The People informed that attorney that the eight month
offer was still available. See Schick 2009 at 93.

Attorney Vitale met with Mr. Booker for ten or fifteen minutes and advised Mr. Booker that
the offer remained eight months incarceration, and discussed with Mr. Booker his options and
advisedhimofhisrightsandtherequirementthatheallocuteastohisgtﬁltifhechosetoacceptthe
plea offer.” See Schick 2009 at {3; Schick dep. at p. 50. Mr. Booker understood the situation, was
lmppyabomtheoﬁ'erandacpr&ssednomewaﬁonstohisattomeyabommpﬁngﬂleplea.&
Schick 2009 at §3. However, plaintiff Booker alleges that his attorneys never did any investigation
intothefactsofhiscase,ando:ﬂyeverspoketohimabomtakingthepleaoﬂ'er. See Booker dep. at
PP. 45-50. Mr. Booker thereafter pled guilty to the E felony of Criminal Possession of Stolen
Property in the Fourth Degree, see id. at p. 18, as follows:

THE COURT: First of all, is this what you want me to do?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

& * L J

'IHECOURT:Haveyoudismssedthiswithyomattomeywhostands
beside you?

330neeacasehasbemtansfenedmComtyComitisveryum:sualforaclienttobeoﬁaedthesamepleadm
he was offered in the lower Court. See Schick dep. at pp. 55-56. Almost always the plea is less favorable to the
defendant. See id. at pp. 56-57.
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Had enough time to discuss it with him as well as anyone
else you care to speak with?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Are you satisfied with the manner in which your attomey
has represented you in this case?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You should be. Do you understand by pleading guilty to a
charge that is the same as if you had gone to trial and been found guilty of

that charge?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: By pleading guilty, sir, you’re giving up or waiving a
number of very important rights, including, but not limited to, your right
to trial by jury or the Court whichever you prefer, right to have the
prosecution produce evidence and witnesses and to prove your guilt
beyond a reasonable doubt, your right to cross examine those witnesses,
your right to stand silent or testify in your own behalf or to call witnesses
or submit evidence on your own behalf. Do you understand by pleading
guilty this afternoon you are waiving each and every one of those rights?

THE DEFENDANT: YES.

THE COURT: Are you entering this plea voluntarily of your own
free will?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Has anyone forced you, threatened you, coerced you into
pleading guilty?
THE DEFENDANT: No.

* ] *

THE COURT: By pleading guilty, sir, you’re giving up or waiving any
defense you might have in this case. Has your attorney explained this to
you, as well as any defenses you might have to this case?
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THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

* * *

THE COURT: Do you understand by pleading guilty you’re admitting to a
serious crime, a felony, should you be convicted of still another felony
within the Penal Law within the next 10 years excluding any time you are
in custody, any judge for such future conviction may be absolutely
required to give you enhanced or additional punishment because of this
felony conviction. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
See Vitale 2009 at Exhibit B, pp. 3-6.**

On November 15, 2007, attorney Vitale met with Mr. Booker in the Suffolk County
Correctional Facility. See Vitale 2009 at §8; Vitale dep. at p. 76. Defense counsel asked Mr. Booker
if he was unhappy with his LAS representation and plea, and Mr. Booker responded that he was
“very happy” and did not wish to change his plea. Sec Vitale 2009 at {8. Thereafter, Mr. Booker
and his attomey appeared in Court on November 20, 2007 for sentencing, at which time the

following was stated on the record:

MR. VITALE: Your Honor, in the matter of Luther Booker, Mr. Booker entered a
plea of guilty on October 23" before yourself. It was a negotiated plea in which
he was to receive eight months’ incarceration. He took that plea with an attorney
from my office . . . Subsequent to that, the Legal Aid Society was mentioned in a
suit by the ACLU against the State of New York on behalf of all Legal Aid
Societies, indicating that they felt that their clients were not being properly
represented. They believe that, to paraphrase, they’re not being properly
xep:mentedbeeausenotenoughmoniwarebeingexpendedontoLegalAid
Societies.

MOnmedayofsemncing,Mr.Bookel‘scounselwasmadeawm'ebytheADAder.Bookermaybe
subject to some other uncharged offenses. Mr. Booker was offered an adjournment of sentencing to discuss the
pmibiﬁﬁofdhpwhgof&mmdmgedoﬁenswhwmecﬁmwﬂhﬁeplamﬁeamemcm However,
m.smwmw@mmdwm@mcm&mmmwmwmgmmmmmm
thosemchmgedoﬁenmmighnﬂnmwnmmﬂywhhmembemumposedmNovembazo,200f7. Mr.
Booker acknowledged this decision on the record in open Court. See Vitale 2009 at Exhibit A, pp. 4-5.
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I'had an opportunity and, in fact, they specifically mentioned Mr. Booker who
they feel was rushed through a plea and that he wasn’t adequately prepared for the
plea,andﬂmtheindicatedsomewhatthatMr.Bookerobjectedtothepleahehad.
I myself went to visit Mr. Booker in custody last week, your Honor. I spoke to
him. Iindicatedthatifanyofthatwasmxethatlwouldbemakinganapplication
tohavehisassignedeolmselﬁ'omthe18blisttorepresenthiminanyofthese
questions, Judge. Mr. Booker indicated to me that that was not true. That he is
pleased with his plea bargain. That he does not want to change it. And that, in
fact,hewantstogoaheadwithit,.ludge. I’m laying this on the record so it’s
Clear.

Mr. Booker, anything that I said you disagree with, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: No, sir.
MR.VITALE:Asamatteroffact,Iaskedwhythenhewasmentionedinthe
lawsuitasbeingsomeonethatwasunbappywithwhathadoccmred,andhe
indicatedwmethattheyaskedforvolmteersandthathehadindicatedthathe
feltthatthesystemraihoadedindividuals, but not that it was Legal Aid, and not
specifically in his case. Is that correct Mr. Booker?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

MR. VITALE: Idon’twanttopmanywordsinyourmouth. Is that exactly what
you told me?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.
See Vitale 2009 at Exhibit A, pp. 2-4.
The Court also made inquiry of Mr. Booker about this issue as follows:
THE COURT: Whatdoyoumeanthatyouwereraihoadedbythe system?

THE DEFENDANT: No, those wasn’t my exact words. Me and Legal Aid had a
misunderstanding on the plea bargain.

THE COURT: What was the misunderstanding?

MR. VITALE: There was some confusion. At the original - there was an SCI on
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prior to his taking the plea here, Judge. He thought the assistant that was
representing him, the Legal Aid attorney(,] had promised him an eight-month
sentence, which, in fact, means you do five months and something. An
apparently for some reason he thought then when he came out that the plea was
going to a year, which, in fact, means eight months, which was inaccurate. It was
always eight months.

THE COURT: So actually you did better than you thought?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Let me ask you how many times you been arrested. Do you have
any idea?

* * *

THE DEFENDANT: From my understanding, like 35 or something like that.

& » *

THE COURT: You understand what a deal they got for you?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: You also understand that as a result of this, once I sentence you, if
you get any other charges you’re not going to get any credit for any time you’re
in? You understand?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.
THE COURT: You want to go forward?
THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Anybody driving the bus as far as railroaded, he’s the one that
seems to want to expedite this. I'm please to accommodate him.

I will state for the record, though, first of all, specifically with respect to Mr.
Vitale, and in general, couple of generations of dealing with Legal Aid, I don’t
understand how anybody could think they got the short end of any representative
of Legal Aid. Mr. Vitale, specifically, as well as most of the others I've come in
contact with, are renowned throughout this county as not only of their knowledge
of the law but their experience, their ability to fight hard for their clients, and their
reluctance to take a plea just for the sake of expediency. And anybody familiar
with the system would know that they are not obviously motivated by the
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monetary satisfaction nor are they motivated by the fact that they will get it over
quick because I’m not getting paid any more for this. I don’t know how anybody
could think they’re getting a short end of the stick on this. Specifically with
respect to this case, whichjuststandingonitsownindicamthattheydidgeta
good deal for this gentleman. I don’t understand how this case could be an
example of anything less than charitable remarks about Legal Aid. . .

See Vitale 2009 at Exhibit A, pp. 5-9. Due to the advocacy and negotiation of his LAS attorneys,

Mr. Booker received what even the Court described as a very favorable disposition, see Vitale 2009

at Exhibit A, particularly in light of Mr. Booker’s extensive criminal history.

Mr. Booker was represented at his arraignment by an LAS attorney. See Booker dep. at
p- Booker dep. at pp. 54-55; Monastero 2009 at §3. Therefore he was not denied his right to
counsel at arraignment. Plaintiff Booker’s other claims fail to raise any issues of material fact as
to whether he was constructively denied his right to counsel. When viewed in the light most
favorable to plaintiff Booker, he appears to allege that he was constructively denied his right to
comselucause(l)hisbailwastoohighandhisattomeysdidnotseekareduction,ggBooker
dep. at pp. 55-56, (2) he was represented by three different attorneys from the Suffolk County
LAS, (3) his attorneys did not investigate his case, see Booker dep. at pp. 45-50, (4) his attorneys
only spoke to him about taking a plea, see id., and (5) his lawyers should have obtained a better
plea offer. See Vitale 2009 at Exhibit A, pp. 5-9.

First, after bail was set, Mr. Booker’s attorney was unable to make a bail application
becauseoftheCom-t’spolicynottoentertainbailapplicaﬁonsunlmthexebasbeenaclumgein
chtumstancesﬁomtheﬁmethedefendmnwasanaigned.&MonastemZWat%. Mr.
Booker had not had a change in circumstance between his September 29, 2007 arraignment -- at
which he was represented by counsel - and October 2, 2007 to justify making a bail application
at that juncture. See id. Thetefom,plaintiﬂ'wasnotdeniedhisrighttocounselwhenhisbailwas

54



originally set by the Court because he had an attorney and, Court policy was not to reduce bail
unless the defendant had experienced a change in circumstances. Plaintiff Booker's counsel was
not required to advance a frivolous position at her client's direction. People v. DeFreitas, 213
AD2d 96, 100 (2d Dept 1995). Therefore, plaintiff Booker was not constructively denied his
right to counsel by his attorney not making a bail application after plaintiff Booker was
represented by counsel when bail was first set.

Second, contrary to plaintiff's allegations, representation by more than one attorney from
a LAS during a single criminal proceeding is an acceptable practice -- and does not
constructively deny a defendant his right to counsel - since one provider, not attorney, was
assigned. People v. Knowles, 88 NY2d at 768. Third, plaintiff Booker claims that, because he
was charged with possession of a stolen credit card in connection with making a withdrawal with
the consent of a friend, his attorneys should have spoken to that friend to prove that he did not
steal the card. See Booker dep. at p. 41. However, the plaintiff was not charged with stealing
the card, but only possessing the card -- which, according to plaintiff Booker -- was stolen by
someone else. See Monastero 2009 at 2. In Maxon v, Bell, 2010 US Dist LEXIS 143872 (WD
Mich. 2010), the Court held that the defendant was not constructively denied counsel, id. at *88,
becal_rsedefendantmade "only discrete and limited complaints about counsel's failure to
investigate and present evidence, and "[e]ven assuming that counsel failed to" perform the tasks
about which [defendant] complain{ed], [defendant] provide[d] no evidence that those tasks
would have generated information helpful to [the defendant].” Id. at *91. Since plaintiff's basis
for thinking that his attorneys did not investigate or know the facts of his case was that they
"[n]ever brought it up," see Booker dep. at p. 47, and the plaintiff could not articulate how an
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interview of the person who allegedly stole the credit card would have generated information
helpful in defending the plaintiff against charges that he possessed stolen goods, he was not
constructively denied his right to counsel at the investigative stage of his criminal proceeding.
Maxon at **88-91.

Fourth, plaintiff claims that his attorneys only spoke to him about taking a plea.
However, plaintiff testified at his deposition that attorney Vitale told him that his options were to
accept the plea offer or go to trial, see Booker dep. at pp. 45, 48, 50, 51, and that he talked to
attorney Monastero about his bail. See id. at pp. 56-57. Plaintiff Booker also spoke to his
attorneys at Court, see id. at pp. 64-65; Schick 2009 at §3; Schick dep. at p. 50; Monastero 2009
at 92, and during one jail visit. Sec Booker dep. at 62.

The evidence in this case establishes that the communication between plaintiff Booker
and his attorneys were more than adequate to refute a constructive denial of the right to counsel
claim. Zimmerman at **10-11. However, it also appears to be the content of the discussions —
telling the plaintiff that his choices were the plea offer or going to trial — was unsatisfactory to
plaintiff Booker. The plaintiff claims that he was "threatened with going to trial” by his
attorneys if he did not accept the plea offer. See id. at pp. 45, 50, 51. In fact, his attorneys were
offering appropriate legal advice and informing the plaintiff of his options. There is no
testimony that plaintiff Booker was threatened into taking a plea, only that he was advised that it
was the option to going to trial. Moreover, to the extent that plaintiff Booker alleges that this
was bad advice, his claim is one of ineffective assistance of counsel and not of constructive
denial of the right to counsel. Morales v. U.S., 2013 US Dist LEXIS 76812, *5 (EDNY 2013).

Finally, the plaintiff claims that his attorneys never got him more than one plea offer, see
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Booker dep. at p. 84, and should "have tried to get a better offer than they were offering.” See id.
atp. 66. The proof in this case shows that the first plea offer made to plaintiff Booker was a
guilty plea to the charge and one year incarceration. See Monastero 2009 at 2. Through
negotiation, plaintiff Booker’s counsel convinced the prosecution to reduce the time sought to
eight months. See id. Plaintiff accepted the offer, but refused to allocute, at which time his case
was transferred to County Court. See id. at §5. The testimony in this case shows that, once a
case has been transferred to County Court, it is very unusual for a client to be offered the same
plea that he was offered in the lower Court. See Schick dep. at pp. 55-56. Almost always the
plea is less favorable to the defendant. Seg id. at pp. 56-57. However, plaintiffs' attorneys were
able to secure this very unusual and favorable plea offer for plaintiff Booker. Based on this
evidence, the plaintiff was not constructively denied counsel at the plea bargaining stage of his

Based on the evidence in this case, plaintiff Booker is unable to meet his threshold
burden and establish that he was constructively denied his right to counsel. See Kerwin aff. at
Exh. K.
3. Schuyler County
a. Shawn Chase

Shawn Chase was charged in Hector Town Court with Driving While Intoxicated, Driving
With a Blood Alcohol Content of .08 or higher and miscellaneous traffic violations by the issuance
of appearance tickets on April 6, 2007. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. N; Chase dep. at p. 25. A first
appearance scheduled for April 18, 2007 was adjourned at the request of Mr. Chase. See Hayden
2009 at 8. Mr. Chase was thereafter arraigned on the charges at his next scheduled appearance date
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of May 16, 2007. See Exhibit Rutnik aff. at Exh. N. Between the first and second Court
appearances, plaintiff Chase filled out an application with the PD Office. See Chase dep. at p. 32.
At the May 16, 2007 appearance, Mr. Chase asked for another adjournment because he was not sure
if he wanted to hire a private attorney or use a PD attorney. See Hayden 2009 at 9. Mr. Chase
continued to be free without bail being set and without the suspension of his license. See id. at §12.

Mr. Chase appeared in Court on June 20, 2007, at which time he informed the Court that he
had not yet retained a private attorney. See id. at §13. The Court directed APD Stewart McDivitt to
act as Mr. Chase’s attorney for the June 20, 2007 appearance because the Court wanted to advise Mr.
Chase of the prompt license suspension law and his rights to a Pringle hearing to challenge the
suspension of his license. See Hayden 2009 at §13; Hayden dep. at p. 80. The Court informed Mr.
Chase that he could ask for an adjournment of the Pringle hearing. See Hayden 2009 at {14. Such
an adjournment would also put off the suspension of Mr. Chase’s license for another month. See id.
at J14. Mr. Chase requested the adjournment, see id. at {14, and was advised by the Court that the
Pringle hearing would be held on July 18, 2007, and that, if the People met their burden, his license
would be suspended. See id. at J15. Also at the June 20, 2007 appearance, the People advised APD
McDivitt of the People’s offer of a plea to Driving While Intoxicated with a conditional discharge
and a fine. See id. at §16. Mr. Chase refused the People’s offer on that date because he wanted an
offer of Driving While Ability Impaired, a violation. See id. at §16. Between the June and July
Court appearances, plaintiff Chase applied for the services of the PD Office, but was found ineligible
because he did not provide his father's income information. See Orr 2009 at Y 3-5.

Mr. Chase appeared on July 18, 2007, and again requested an adjournment to retain private

counsel. See id. at §17. Plaintiff again applied for the services of the PD Office and was denied
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because he failed to provide his father's income information. See Orr 2009 at ] 3-5. On August 15,
2007, Mr. Chase appeared in Court still without counsel. See id. at §18. The ADA informed the
Court that he would ask at the next appearance that bail be set because it was obvious that Mr. Chase
purposefully continued to not retain an attorney so as to avoid the suspension of his license. See id.
at 120.

Although Mr. Chase was deemed ineligible for assigned counsel by the Schuyler County PD
Office after the June and July appearances because his household income exceeded eligibility
guidelines, see Orr 2009 at 7Y 3-5, the Court assigned the PD Office to represent Mr. Chase at a
September 19, 2007 Court appearance. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. N. APD McDivitt met with Mr.
Chase at Hector Town Court upon his assignment, and several times thereafter at defense counsel’s
private office. See McDivitt 2009 at 76 Chase dep. at pp. 42, 44. The People served a Sandoval
notice on Mr. Chase, see Hayden 2009 at 30, and a Sandoval Hearing was conducted by APD
McDivitt in Mr. Chase’s presence. See id. at 31.

Mr. Chase waived his right to a jury trial on October 23, 2007 by signing a waiver while at
the PD Office, and a bench trial was scheduled to be held on October 30, 2007. See Hayden 2009 at
129. In advance of that trial, APD McDivitt requested that the radio logs from the night of Mr.
Chase’s arrest be produced at trial. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. N. During the bench trial, APD McDivitt
conducted direct and cross examinations of witnesses and made trial motions. See McDivitt 2009 at
96. When the People rested their case, Mr. Chase insisted to his attorney that he testify. See Hayden
2009 at 32. After an approximately fifteen minute discussion between Mr. Chase and his attorney,
Mr. Chase took the stand and testified. See id. at §32. At the close of proof, APD McDivitt made a
motion to dismiss, which was partially successful in that he convinced the Court that the People’s
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foundation for the admission of the blood alcohol content evidence was not sufficient, resulting in a
dismissal of the Driving With a Blood Alcohol Content of 0.08 or higher and the miscellaneous
traffic offenses. See id. at 135. A guilty verdict was rendered by the Court on the Driving While
Intoxicated Charge. See id. at 35.

Mr. Chase remained free pending sentencing, see Rutnik aff. at Exh. N, which was scheduled
for December 19, 2007. See Hayden 2009 at §35. However, Mr. Chase failed to appear in Court on
December 19, 2007.* See id. at §36. Sentencing was thereafier adjourned to the dates of January
23, 2008, February 27, 2008, March 26, 2008 and finally to April 23, 2008. See Rutnik aff, at Exh.
N. During this period, Mr. Chase’s defense attorney*® appeared with Mr. Chase on each Court date,
reviewed the Court’s file, including the clerk’s notes from trial, spoke with and shared information
with Mr. Chase’s then-probation officer, reviewed the pre-sentence investigation report, had at least
two in-person conferences with Mr. Chase and spoke to Mr. Chase on the telephone on several
occasions. See Roe 2009 at J11. Mr. Chase continued to possess his driver’s license during this
period. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. N.

On April 23, 2008, Mr. Chase was sentenced to 90 days in the Schuyler County Correctional
Facility, a conditional discharge of one year, and a fine of $1000.00 plus a surcharge of $190.00.
& id. The Court’s rationale in rendering this sentence was as follows:

Because the public safety is at risk, this Court must take into consideration several
elements of the defendant’s actions in rendering this decision. First and foremost

is the defendant’s atti[t]ude in accepting responsibility [sic] and ownership for his
actions in the action at bar. The defendant has shown no remorse to this Court for

35Mr.ChasewasanmdonNovemher25,2007fornﬁsdemeanorEndangaingdxe Welfare of a Child and
Unlawfully Fleeing a Police Officer. See Hayden 2009 at §37.

36Upontheappoinnnemafanew8chuylerCmtyPubﬁcDefmderonJanmry 1, 2008, Mr. Chase was represented
through sentencing by the new APD. See Hayden 2009 at {38.
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his actions until he appeared for the sentencing on 03/26/2008. This Justice
understands that the defendant has a mental health issue, however this is a
treatable condition with the proper medication.

Mr. Chase’s atti[tjude over the entire case has been one of flipant [sic] jovial
humor and not treating his situation as one of seriousness until the night of
sentencing.

The defendant is currently serving two separate terms of probation in Tompkins
County, as the defendant repeatedly ignor{e]s the conditions set forth in the issued
terms.

This Justice feels that any further assignment of probation would be a waste of
taxpayer’s money and time of the Probation Department staff, as the defendant
would appear not to gain anything from his time spent. He continues to violate
the terms of his probation by violating the laws of the land on a fairly regular
basis.

The Tompkins County Probation Department chooses not to violate him, this
Court’s opinion is the defendant has received a false sense of immunity from
penalty for violating the terms set forth because of this action.

It is the opinion of this Court that the People have proved the three elements
needed to establish the facts of this case whereby the guilty verdict was rendered.

See Rutnik aff. at Exh. N. At the time of sentencing, Mr. Chase was also ordered to surrender

his driver’s license, which was thereafter revoked for six months. See id. A notice of appeal was

filed by Mr. Chase’s attorney dated May 13, 2008. See id.

Plaintiff Chase was not represented at his initial arraignment in Hector Town Court, see

Rutnik aff. at Exh. N, but appeared in Court via desk appearance tickets, and was never take into

custody until after his conviction. Therefore, plaintiff Chase's arraignment was not a critical

stage in the circumstances of his case. For the reasons discussed below, none of plaintiff Chase's

other allegations establish a constructive denial of his right to counsel.

When viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff Chase, plaintiff Chase alleges that he

was constructively denied his right to counsel because he was found ineligible for the services of
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the PD and therefore was unrepresented through three Court appearances®’ over a period of five
months. See Hayden 2009 at 119, 12, 17, 18; Rutnik aff. at Exh. N. Plaintiff Chase can
otherwise remember next to nothing about his representation by the Schuyler County PD Office
other than he and attorney McDivitt communicated and attended Court together, including a trial.
See Chase dep. at pp. 40-42, 44, 47-48.

The Court records and testimony of ADA Hayden show that after plaintiff Chase was
arraigned on May 16, 2007, his case was adjourned. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. N; Hayden 2009 at
19. On June 20, 2007, the Court asked APD McDivitt to represent plaintiff Chase for purposes
of that appearance during which a plea offer was made by the ADA and rejected by plaintiff
Chase. Seec Hayden 2009 at 1§11, 16; Hayden dep. at p. 80. His appearances on July 18, 2007
and August 14, 2007 were adjourned at plaintiff Chase's request. See Hayden 2009 at §J17, 18.
Therefore, after his arraignment, nothing substantive occurred at plaintiff Chase's Court
appearances without plaintiff Chase being represented by counsel.

Notwithstanding, plaintiff Chase was deemed ineligible for assigned counsel because his
household income, which included his father’s income, exceeded eligibility guidelines. See Orr 2009
at 1Y 3-5. However, criminal defendants are no longer found ineligible for the services of the PD in
Schuyler County because of his or her parent's income. See Orr dep. at p. 81. As a result, plaintiff
Chase fails to represent the current eligibility determination practice in Schuyler County. Therefore,
to the extent that plaintiff Chase is found to have been denied his right to counsel because of his

37 The Court directed the APD in Court to represent plaintiff Chase at his second appearance on June 20, 2007 Se¢
Hayden 2009 at §13. However, it appears that plaintiff Chase does not recall this, which is not surprising because
he remembered little to nothing about the criminal process, or his life in general, at the time of his deposition. See
Chase dep., generally. 6



parent's income - a point that the State defendants do not concede®® — such denial no longer occurs
in Schuyler County.
b. Robert Tomberelli

On June 15,2007, plaintiff Robert Tomberelli was charged with Aggravated Driving While
Intoxicated, Driving While Intoxicated, Aggravated Unlicensed Operation of a Motor Vehicle and
traffic and parking violations. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. T. Mr. Tomberelli was arraigned on those
charges on June 15, 2007 and released on his own recognizance. See id.; Tomberelli dep. at p. 51.
A determination of Mr. Tomberelli’s eligibility for public defense counsel was also made by the
Court on June 15, 2007, and the Schuyler County PD was assigned to represent Mr. Tomberelli. Se¢
Rutnik aff. at Exh. T. An appearance date was scheduled for June 20, 2007 in the Town of Hector
Justice Court. See id.

The charges of Aggravated Unlicensed Operation of a Motor Vehicle, Aggravated Driving
While Intoxicated and misdemeanor Driving While Intoxicated against Mr. Tomberelli were held for
presentation to the grand jury. See id. On July 26, 2007, the People advised Mr. Tomberelli’s
attorney of the People’s offer of felony probation with Drug Treatment Court on the condition that
Mr. Tomberelli consent to proceeding by a Superior Court Information and plead guilty to
Aggravated Unlicensed Operation in the First Degree. See Hayden 2009 at Y45. Since Mr.
Tomberelli’s plea agreement included participation in Drug Treatment Court, Mr. Tomberelli was
required to meet with Michelle Ormsbee, the Drug Treatment Coordinator, to determine whether he

was eligible to participate in that program. See Hayden 2009 at 1{49-50; Hayden dep. at p. 90. In

38 Pursuant to sections 413 and 416 of the New York State Family Court Act, "[p]arents of unemancipated children
mduZlmmpmmblemddmgasbbforthemmtofthosechﬂdrm[muonommd] including the payment
of their legal fees [citation omitted).” Ro of Onondaga, 90 AD3d 1617, 1622 (4* Dept 2011).
mmmwmnmmwmmmofmmmdmmmmmmmmmw
age 21" may be considered when determining that defendant's eligibility for assigned counsel. Id.
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determining whether a person is eligible for Drug Treatment Court, the Coordinator very thoroughly
explains what Drug Treatment Court is and how it works, and ensures that defendants have a clear
understanding of what is involved with and required by Drug Treatment Court. See Hayden 2009 at
152. It was prudent defense counsel advice and best practice for the PD to have Mr. Tomberelli go
through the evaluation process before agreeing to waive grand jury presentment. See id. at 1943-57.

On October 4, 2007, Mr. Tomberelli waived his right to a preliminary hearing and grand
jury presentation®® and agreed to proceed on a Superior Court Information in County Court. See
Rutnik aff. at Exh. U, pp. 4-6. Also on October 4, 2007, Mr. Tomberelli pled guilty to
Aggravated Unlicensed Operation of a Motor Vehicle and misdemeanor Driving While
Intoxicated in full satisfaction of all charges. See id. at pp. 10-14, 17, 22. Following his plea,
the matter was adjourned to November 15, 2007 for sentencing and plaintiff Tomberelli
remained released on his own recognizance. See Rutnik aff, at Exh.U.

On November 15, 2007, Mr. Tomberelli was sentenced to 5 years probation, conditioned on
successful completion of Drug Treatment Court,**and a fine of $1000.00 with the understanding that
if Mr. Tomberelli failed Drug Treatment Court, he would be given a State prison sentence. See
Rutnik aff. at Exh.U, pp. 15-22. Had Mr. Tomberelli not pled guilty, he would have faced a State
prison sentence of one and one third to four years. See id. at p. 14. The People also did not oppose
Mr. Tomberelli’s request for a Relief from Disabilities to permit him to possess a rifle during

39That Mr. Tombeulli'scasewasadjmunedﬁomthedated:atthe?eoplemadetheh’oﬁ'et(]uly%,mm&e
waivaofhdimmmOe&butZOO?demonsum&mNPmewlymnadlwmﬁgble for the Drug
TreaunentComtpmmbeforepaminingherclientnowaiveGmndJm'y.SgHaydenzowatﬁo.

40Mr.TomberelﬁwasnotmmwonemdahalfyminDNngmCmasalkgedbyMr.Tombemlli.
HewassmundepmﬁcipmmDmghmmComum1hemsﬁMywmpmdﬂwpmgmm The shortest
paiodofﬁmewiﬁhwhichapersoneouﬂcomplﬂebmgneammCmmisjustovalZmonﬂn.Others,dueto
mulﬁplesetbacks.hawminedianghcaunemCmmforapmhnmly3years.&g}laydenZOMatﬁl
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hunting season. See id. at pp. 15-16; Tomberelli dep. at pp. 29-30.

Plaintiff Tomberelli was not represented at his initial arraignment. However, during that
arraignment, no bail was set, the plaintiff was released on his own recognizance, the PD Office was
assigned by the Court to represent plaintiff Tomberelli and plaintiff Tomberelli was given a date to
appear in Hector Town Court. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. T; Tomberelli dep. at p. 51. Therefore, bail
was never set in plaintiff Tomberelli's case, and he was not held in custody as a result of his
arraignment. As a result, plaintiff Tomberelli's arraignment was not a critical stage in the
circumstances of his case. For the reasons discussed below, none of plaintiff Tomberelli's other
claims establish that he was constructively denied his right to counsel.

When viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff Tomberelli, plaintiff Tomberelli alleges
thathewasconsu'uctivelydeniedhisrighttocolmselbecause(l)hisattomeydid not investigate the
factsofhiscase,(2)hehadoneattomeyﬁomthePDOﬁieeinTownCom‘tandadiﬂ'erentonein
County Court, (3) he waived his preliminary hearing without understanding its purpose, (4) he felt
pressured into pleading guilty, and (5) his attorneys did not communicate with him enough. None of
plaintiff Tomberelli's complaints constitute a constructive denial of counsel.

First, while plaintiff Tomberelli testified that his attorneys did not do any investigation, he
also testified that his attomeys knew all of the facts of his case. See Tomberelli dep. at pp. 19, 22-
24,25, 34, 37,4344, 45. However, at his deposition, plaintiff Tomberelli testified that his attorneys
should have investigated why "a buddy” "ratted him out" and informed law enforcement that he was
breaking the law. See id. at pp. 25, 28, 34. Since the defendant was unable to show what an
investigation of these allegations would accomplish, he cannot establish that he was denied the right

to counsel during the investigation stage of his case. Knight, supra., at *62.
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Second, plaintiff complains that he had one attorney in Town Court and another in County
Court.*! There is no Constitutional right to vertical, or continuous, representation. See, e.g., People v
Mclimson, 135 Cal. App. 3d 873, 880-81 (Cal. App. 2d Dist. 1982). However, both of plaintiff
Tomberelli's attorneys were members of the PD Office staff. The Court of Appeals has stated that
when an indigent public defense provider is assigned by the Court to represent a criminal defendant,
that provider may "divide the defense responsibilities between two attorneys -- a choice that a
private firm retained by a criminal defendant would also be free to make.” People v. Knowles, 88
NY2d 763, 768 (1996). The Court held that this circumstance did not constitute a constructive denial
of counsel. Id. See also Chambers v. Maroney, 399 US 42, 53 (1970) (the defendant was represented
by an attorney from the LAS at his first trial, but a different attorney from the same LAS at his
retrial). OILS Director William Leahy has testified that the goal of "continuous” or "vertical”
representation can be met by representation by lawyers of the same public defense entity. See Leahy
dep. atp. 112. Currently, of the eleven local criminal Courts in Schuyler County, the PD covers five
of them, and the APD covers the remaining six. See Hughson dep. at p. 26. The PD handles felonies,
and the APD handles solely misdemeanors, unless the client specifically requests representation by
the Assistant on the felony charge. See Roe dep. at p. 88; Hughson dep. at p. 24. The two attorneys
communicate everyday and discuss the cases in which they are both involved. See Roe dep. at p. 88.
This organization of responsibilities is completely appropriate and reasonable and does not
constructively deny an indigent criminal defendant his or her right to counsel. Knowles, 88 NY2d at
768.

Third, plaintiff alleges that he waived his rights to a preliminary hearing and indictment by

41 However, plaintiff Tomberelli testified at his deposition that he did not know what vertical representation was or
if he had received it. See Tomberelli dep. at p. 61.
66



the grand jury without understanding what such waivers meant. However, on October 4, 2007 the
following inquiry was made of Mr. Tomberelli as to these waivers:

THE COURT: And did you waive your right to a Preliminary
Hearing?

MS. MILLER: We never had a Preliminary Hearing. Idon'tknow as
we formally waived it[%]

s

THE COURT: I want to tell you that you’re entitled to a prompt Hearing to see
whether there’s sufficient evidence to warrant the Court holding you for the
Grand Jury. You can waive such a right. Do you want a hearing or do you want
to waive it?

A: I waive it.

THE COURT: All right. Now we’re in the County of Schuyler Court. And we’re
hexeostensiblyforthepmposeofseeingwhetheryouwammwaiveGmndlmy
action. Idowanttotellyouthatyou’reentitledtobepmsecutedonthefelonyby
an Indictment by the Grand Jury. Do you understand that? So I'm going to ask
youtoraiseyomlighthand.

[ROBERT TOMBERELLI was duly sworn.]

THE COURT: You know very well that you’ve been held for the action of the
Grand Jury, and you’ve been charged with a crime in the Town of Hector, don’t
you?

A: Yes.

T!-IECOURT:IwantmmakesmethatyouknowthattmdertheConstimﬁonof
theStateofNewYork,thatyouhnvearigh:tobeprosecutedbyanlndicunem
filed by a Grand Jury. Do you understand that right?

Mmumﬁﬁeddm'...hwwywmmnhmylacmmmhawmlhnmmuwmmm”
See Miller dep. at p. 37. Plainﬁﬁ'Tombaelﬁlostmri@tsbymthavinsamﬁminarthingmﬂw
pmsecu!ionismttequimdmgoforwmdona imi hsarhgagainstkaR’ddefendmmmm
53A.D.3<l983(MDept.ms)CAdeﬁdeoesmhavemyOmsﬁmﬁmﬂﬁgmmamﬁmmhwhg,wk
itajurisdictiomlpredieaUemindiamm').
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A: Yes.

THE COURT: And that you would have a right to testify before that Grand Jury,
if you chose to do so, if you file a Waiver of Immunity, you would have that right.
Is it my understanding that you’re here requesting that the procedure be waived,
and that you give up your right to a Grand Jury, and that you proceed by way of a
special, um, Superior Court Information?

A: Yes.

THE COURT: You want to do that? You’re asking the D.A. to go along with
this?

A: Yes.

THE COURT: Now, I want to [sic] you know, though, if you do, that a Superior
Court Information has the same effect in the law as if it were a Grand Jury
Indictment. Do you understand that? Have you talked about this Waiver with
your Attorney? And you’ve talked to your Attorney about the facts of your case?
A: Yes.

THE COURT: Is anybody forcing you, coercing you, has your Attorney
threatened you to give up your right to a Grand Jury?

A. No.

See Rutnik aff. at Exh.U, pp. 3-6. At his deposition, plaintiff Tomberelli testified that when he

wasunderoath,inopenCourt,onOctober4,2007hetoldthejudgethemnh. See Tomberelli

dep. at pp. 4-5, 68. Further, plaintiff Tomberelli signed a waiver of indictment under oath that he

made the waiver voluntarily without being "threatened, coerced, forced or in any way
intimidated into doing s0.” See Rutnik aff. at Exh. T. Additionally, attorney Miller testified at

her deposition that she believed this statement made by plaintiff Tomberelli was true. See Miller

dep. at pp. 33-34. As a result, there is no evidence in this record that plaintiff Tomberelli was

consu'uctivedeniedoolmselinconnectionwithhiswaiversofhisrightstoaprelimimryhearing

or grand jury presentment.
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Fourth, plaintiff Tomberelli claims that he was pressured into taking a plea. As part of his
plea allocution, Mr. Tomberelli answered the Court’s questions as follows:

THE COURT: Okay. Well, Mr. Tomberelli, you heard what your attorney has
said, you also heard what the D.A. has said, Is that what you’re considering doing,

is pleading guilty?
A: Yes.
THE COURT: Okay. And you’ve talked this over with Attorney Miller?
A. Yes.
THE COURT: Has she answered your questions to your satisfaction?
A. Yes.
THE COURT: You're satisfied with her services?
A. Yes.

See id. at pp. 10-11.

Additionally, the following exchange also took place between Mr. Tomberelli and the Court

at Mr. Tomberelli’s plea allocution:
THE COURT: . . . the Aggravated Unlicensed Operation of a Motor Vehicle in
the Third Degree, occurring on or about the 15" day of June ‘07 in the Town of
Hector, that is an E felony, and the other Count would be Driving While
Intoxicated, which would be a, um, would be an A misdemeanor, occurring on or
about the same time. IfyoupleadguiltytothosetwoCounts,doyoutmderstand
that would be a confession of your guilt to those Counts?
A: Yes.

THE COURT: If you do that. Now, you do know that you have a right to remain
silent, don’t you?

A: Yes.

THE COURT:.. .Regxrdingtlmeallegations,youhavearigmmremainsilent,
andyou’dbegivingupthntrighttoremainsilemifyouplead guilty. Do you
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understand that?
A. Yes.

THE COURT: Also, if you plead guilty, you’d be giving up your right to a trial.
Do you understand that this . . . S.C.L is simply an allegation, and the District
Attorney would have to prove all the elements of these allegations to a unanimous
jury of 12 people beyond a reasonable doubt? Do you understand that’s what a
trial is about?

A. Yes.

THE COURT: And you at that trial would be able to call witnesses on your own
behalf, and you would also through your Attorney be able to question any of the
witnesses who testified against you, or to questions any of the documents that
were introduced at trial. Do you understand you’d be giving up that right?

A: Yes.

THE COURT: Also, by pleading guilty, you’d be giving up your right to various
pre-trial Hearings that you might have? For example, you could question the
legality of any statement the Police may have taken from you, or you could
question the legality of any evidence they took from you, or the identity of you as
a participant in a crime. You’d have the opportunity before you pled guilty or
before youwentontrialtoaskfordiscoveryorothertyp&sofmppmsion. Do
you understand you have all those rights before you plead guilty or before you
went to trial?

A: Yes.

THE COURT: Do you understand that a plea of guilty has the same effect as if a
jury came back with a guilty plea?

[Indicated yes.]

THE COURT: By pleading guilty you give up any defense or defenses that you
may have to these charges. Do you understand that?

[Indicated yes.]
THE COURT: . . .Are you agreeing not to make any motions?
A. Yes.
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THE COURT: Are you agreeing that . . . if there are any defects in the procedure
up to this point or any defects on the face of the Superior Court Information, are
you willing to waive those?
[Indicating yes.]
See id. at pp.11-14.
Finally, the Court inquired as follows:

THE COURT: Okay. Has anyone forced you or threatened you in order to make
you give up a trial?

A: No.

* L *
THE COURT: Has your Lawyer forced you into taking this deal?
A:No.

* * *

THE COURT: We will have to await the Pre-Sentence Report, but based upon the
tation of the District Attorney, I have no reason to believe I can’t go
along with this. Aslsay,ifsomethinguntowardisintherethatlcan’tingood
conscience agree to this, I would let you withdraw your plea. Are you pleading
guiltytothetwocrimwthatljusttalkedtoyouabout,theD.W.I.andthe
Unlicensed Operation, Aggravated Unlicensed Operation of a Motor Vehicle,
First Degree, are you pleading to those on your own free will?
A: Yes.
Seeid. atp. 17. Itisincomprehensiblethatplainﬁﬁ'canaﬂegethathewaSpmsmedtotakea
plea by his attorney when he told the Court, under oath, the complete opposite. As noted above,
plainﬁﬁ'Tomberelﬁmﬁﬁedthﬂwhenhewasmderomh,inopenComgonchbeﬂ, 2007 he
told the judge the truth. See Tomberelli dep. at pp. 4-5, 68. Additionally, attorney Miller
testified that she believed these statements made by plaintiff Tomberelli were true. See Miller
dep. at pp. 41-43. As a result, there is no evidence in this record that plaintiff Tomberelli was
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constructively denied his right to counsel during the plea bargaining stage of his criminal
proceeding.

Fifth, plaintiff Tomberelli claims that his attorneys did not communicate with him
enough. However, plaintiff Tomberelli testified that he spoke with his counsel in their
"meetings," see Tomberelli dep. at p. 33, met with attorney Miller at her office, see id. at pp. 84,
88, and met with his attorneys in Court. See id. at pp. 81-83, 91. Plaintiff also testified that
nothing prevented him from visiting either attorney’s office or writing them letters. See id. at PpP.
84-86. This communication, and ability to communicate, cannot support a finding of the
constructive denial of plaintiff Tomberelli's right to counsel. Zimmerman at **10-11.

Based on the evidence in this case, plaintiff Tomberelli cannot meet his threshold burden
and establish that he was constructively denied his right to counsel. See Kerwin aff. at Exh. K.
¢. Christopher Yaw

Christopher Yaw was charged with Grand Larceny in the Fourth Degree and arraigned on
that charge in the Town of Dix Justice Court on June 26, 2007. Bail was set in the amount of
$5000.00 cash/$10,000.00 bond, which Mr. Yaw could not make, and he was therefore remanded to
the Schuyler County Jail.** See Rutnik aff. at Exh. O. The Schuyler County PDwas assigned to
represent Mr. Yaw. See id. At his first meeting with PD Connie Fern Miller, plaintiff Yaw and
attorney Miller spoke about waiving plaintiff Yaw’s preliminary hearing. See Yaw dep. at p. 19-20.
Attomey Miller advised that, basedontheevidenoeﬂmtlawenfomementhad,itwasinplaintiﬂ'

430nJuly4,m,wm%mmed,Mr.YawsemammﬂnADAmﬁn&“lm'tsayhowmankﬁdlamfor
being incarcerated and getting a chance to look at what I've done, where I'm going, and where I want to be.” See
Hayden 2009 at §66. :

72



Yaw's best interests to waive the preliminary hearing.* See id. at p. 20. Plaintiff Yaw and attorney
Miﬂerﬂsodixmsedpossiblesenknm,gﬂ,md&eappmpﬁa&nwsofhischmges. Seeid. atp.
31
After that first meeting with attorney Miller, plaintiff was sentenced to six months
incarceration in Chemung County on a prior DWI conviction. Seeid. at p. 22. Plaintiff Yaw served
that sentence in the Chemung County Jail until November 2007. Seeid. at p. 22. While at Chemung
County Jail, plaintiff Yaw received a letter from attorney Miller about a Court date. See id. atp. 23.
A week before plaintiff Yaw was released from Chemung County Jail, his bail on the Schuyler
County charge was reduced to on his own recognizance ("ROR'd"). See id. at p. 25. Therefore,
plaintiff went home after being released from Chemung County. See id. Attorney Miller appeared
with plaintiff Yaw at a November 2007 Court date, see id. at pp. 26, 27-28, and plaintiff Yaw
contacted attorney Miller in December 2007 inquiring about his next Court date. Seeid. at p. 29.
Mr. Yawwasthaeaﬁermraigmdondzechargeomedlmenyind:eFomﬂ:Degreein

Schuyler County Court on August 30, 2007. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. O. On November 15, 2007,
Mr. Yaw pled guilty to the charge in full satisfactionofthatchargeandothernewchm'gespmding
against him in the TownofOrange,and\ivasROR'dpeudingsentencing.&RmnikaﬂiatExh. P, at
p- 12. During his plea allocution, Mr. Yaw answered the Court’s questions as follows:

THE COURT: Okay have you discussed this with Attorney Miller?

A: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: Are you satisfied with her services?

A: Yes, sir.

MPWYNWM&MW@MMWMWWRMW&MMMWW
evidenceﬁ:rtheDAtopuvailatapmliminmyhearing. See Yaw dep. at p. 65. That is the reason plaintiff Yaw
agreed to participate in this case. See id. at pp. 64-68.
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See id. at p. 4. After an extensive inquiry by the Court about the consequences of a plea, Mr.

Yaw’s various rights in connection with his prosecution, his understanding of the waiver of the

various rights and the voluntariness of his waivers and decisions, the Court stated as follows:
THE COURT: Okay. I’m going to find that Christopher Yaw, here in the presence
of his Lawyer, after being advised of his rights, of his right to remain silent, his
right to a trial by jury, has knowingly, willingly, voluntarily, intelligently waived
those rights; and he has knowingly, willingly, intelligently, voluntarily entered a
plea of guilty to Grand Larceny, Fourth Degree, a Class E Felony. That, together

with his recitation of the underlying facts is satisfactory for the Court to accept his
guilty plea, and the Court is going to do so...

Seeid. atp. 11.

Before Mr. Yaw could be sentenced on the Grand Larceny conviction, he was charged
with Burglary in the Third Degree on January 8, 2008, see Hayden 2009 at 168; Yaw dep. at p.
55, in the Village of Odessa and ROR'd. See Yaw dep. at p. 56. Mr. Yaw told the Court that he
wished to continue with the Schuyler County PD, who had been appointed to represent him in
the charges described above. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. Q, pp. 7-8. Plaintiff subsequently spoke to
attorney Miller on the phone about the charges. See Yaw dep. at pp. 58-59. Thereafter, Mr. Yaw
pledguiltytothechargeomeglaryinthe'I‘hirdDegreewiththeagreementthatanysentence
on this conviction would run concurrently with the sentence imposed on the Grand Larceny
conviction. See Hayden 2009 at §67-68. Following his guilty plea, Mr. Yaw continued to be
ROR'd until his sentencing on both pleas. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. Q,p. 18.

Mr. Yaw appeared in Court on December 18, 2008 for sentencing on the Grand Larceny and
Burglary convictions. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. R, generally. He was sentenced to two five year terms
of probation, to run concurrently, instead of terms of incarceration up to ten years. See id. at pp. 3, 6.

Restitution was also ordered, see id. at pp. 3, 8, and attorney Miller represented Mr. Yaw at that
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hearing. See Yaw dep. at p. 51.

To the extent that arraignment is a critical stage, it is true that plaintiff Yaw was not
represented at his initial arraignment in Dix Town Court. See Rutnik aff. at Exh. O; Yaw dep. at pp.
17. However, plaintiff Yaw's other claims fail to establish that he was constructively denied the right
to counsel.

When viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff Yaw, plaintiff Yaw alleges that he
Wwas constructively denied his right to counsel because he believes that the advice given to him
by attorney Miller to waivehispreliminaryheaﬁngwasbadadvicebecausehedidnotthinktbat
there was enough evidence for the DA to prevail at a preliminary hearing. See Yaw dep. at p. 65.
The alleged giving of "bad advice” may allege an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, but
cannot, as a matter of law, constitute a constructive denial of counsel. Morales at *S.

Basedontheevidenceinthiscase,plaintiﬂ'Yawmeethisthtmholdbmdenandestablishthat
hewasconstuctivelydeniedhisrighttocounsel.SgKerwinaﬂ‘. at Exh. K.

4. Washington County

Plaintiff Hurrell-Harring was charged with smuggling 21.1 grams of marijuana into the
Great Meadow Correctional Facility on September 29, 2007. See Barber 2009 at §13. Plaintiff
Hurrell-Harring admitted in her statement to police that she had smuggled marijuana into the
facility on two prior occasions. See id. at 115. Furthermore, her arrest was premised upon a
monitored call between plaintiff Hurrell-Harring and her husband. See id. In addition, Ms.
Hurrell-Harring gave an incriminating statement to a state investigator. See id.

She was arraigned on a felony charge of Promoting Prison Contraband in the First
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Degree. See Kerwin aff. at Exh. A, 945. At her arraignment, where no prosecutor was present, .
plaintiff Hurrell-Harring was asked if she wanted an attorney and whether she wanted the PD
appointed. See Hurrell-Harring dep. at p. 27. She said she wanted appointed counsel. See id.
Bail was set at $10,000 cash or $20,000 bond, and plaintiff Hurrell-Harring was remanded to jail.
See Kerwin aff. at Exh. A, §46. The PD met with plaintiff Hurrell-Harring in jail shortly after
her arraignment. See id at §47; Hurrell-Harring dep. at p.30. The second amended complaints
alleges that "[d]uring this meeting, Mrs. Hurrell-Harring felt that her attorney took no interest in
her case, her family, or her future.” See¢ Kerwin aff. at Exh. A, §47. Further, plaintiff Hurrell-
Han"ing testified that, during that meeting while the PD was telling her about defending her case,
plaintiff "really wasn't trying to hear nothing he had to say,” see Hurrell-Harring dep. at p. 31,
because of the "wayhecameinandrearedbackinhischairlikehedidn’tmllywanttobe
bothered." See id. at pp. 31-32.

The PD spoke to plaintiff Hurrell-Harring about bail, but plaintiff does not remember the
content of the conversation or whether the PD said anything about getting bail reduced. See id.
at p. 33. During this meeting, counsel advised plaintiff Hurrell-Harring about the risk of trial in
light of the evidence against her and her confession. See Hurrell-Harring dep. at p. 34.
Additionally, counsel told plaintiff Hurrell-Harring that bringing drugs into the prison was a big
problem in Washington County, so that a plea would likely result in doing jail time. See Hurrell-
Harring dep. at p. 37. Counsel advised plaintiff Hurrell-Harring that she could face a minimum
of eight years in prison if she lost at trial. See id. at p. 34. The PD visited the plaintiff one more
time at jail to discuss the plea offer, see id. at pp. 44-45, 47 and spoke with plaintiff Hurrell-

Harring at Court appearances. See id. at p. 43.
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Plaintiff Hurrell-Harring alleges that her attorney failed to return her telephone calls*’,
sec id. at p. 38, or advocate for a plea bargain to a lesser, non-felony charge and/or a sentence of
straight probation so that she could care for her stricken mother and two daughters. See id. at PP-
44, 48. Plaintiff Hurrell-Harring believes that her counsel was deficient because he did not get
her a plea offer with the sentence of a fine so she "could've went back home and took care of
[her] sick mother and two kids." See id. at p. 108. She believes that her attormey could have
obtained such a plea deal -- dwpitethefactthatshemedoverthedrugsandconfwsedtothe
crime — because she had seen it on Law and Order. Seeid. at p. 111. Feeling that she had no
other option, plaintiff pled guilty on October 12, 2007 to the charge in exchange for a sentence of
six months incarceration and five years felony probation (a “6/5 split”). See Kerwin aff. at Exh.
A, 49. Plaintiff Hurrell-Harring alleges that, as a result of her felony conviction, she was in
jeopardy of losing her license as a nurses aide. See id. at 150; Hurrell-Harring dep. at p. 8.4
Plaintiff Hurrell-Harring did not, however, lose her license. Sec Hurrell-Harring dep. at p. 72.

During his representation of plaintiff Hurrell-Harring, defense counsel conferenced the
mattawiththeDAonsevemloecasions,andwiththeDAandtheJudgeontwooccasions,inan
attempt to secure Ms. Hurrell-Harring an appropriate plea. See Barber 2009 at §18. However,
the DA, noting that Ms. Hunell-l-larﬁnghadadmittedgﬁltaboutthechsrgeandadmittedﬂm
she had previously committed the same crime two other times, would not offer a reduced charge
but offered a sentence of a 6/5 split. See id. Defense counsel met with Ms. Hurrell-Harring and
spoke with her on several occasions to advise her of the DA’s offer and the repercussions of her

45WmhhgtonCoumyIailhasateIephoneﬁomwhidlinmawscanmakeﬁeecalls. See Hurrell-Harring dep. at p.
39.
«Phhﬁﬁ‘Hmu-HmringmHypledintlexmdAmmdedComplaimﬂmshewasinjeopardyoflosingher
“license to serve as a registered murse,” but Plaintiff Hurrell-Harri was not a licensed registered nurse. This is
ﬁmhumpponof&elackofcomunimﬁonbawecnphMﬁf&'Mneysmd&ephinﬁﬁs.
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plea, if accepted. See Barber 2009 at 719.

On October 12, 2007, Ms. Hurrell-Harring signed a Waiver of Indictment, which stated
that the plaintiff voluntarily consented to waive her right to be prosecuted by an indictment.

See Muse aff. at Exh. G. After several discussions with her attomey, Ms. Hurrell-Harring agreed
also to waive a preliminary hearing and accept the plea. Ms. Hurrell-Harring pled guilty to the E
felony on October 12, 2007 and was sentenced to the 6/5 split on November 16, 2007. See
Barber 2009 at 121.

The Washington County Public Defender was not notified that plaintiff Hurrell-Harring
wasbeingarraigned-oreventhatshehadbeenan'ested-andthereforewasnotpresentather
initial arraignment.*’ Plaintiff Hurrell-Harring's remaining complaints do not establish that she
was constructively denied her right to counsel. Viewing these facts in the light most favorable to
plaintiff Hurrell-Harring, her complaints about her representation distill to the following: (1) not
bdngwpmemdamaignmemwmbaﬂwassamdshewasmkmmmcmdybecauseshe
did not make bail; (2) her lawyer did not care about the fact that she had to take care of her
children and ill mother; (3) her lawyer did not get her a plea that did not require incarceration;
(4) her lawyer did not visit or speak to her as much as she would have liked; and (5) she felt
pressuredintotakingthepleaoﬁ'erbeewseherlawyerdidnotgetherabetterdeal.

First, while plaintiff claims that the attorney from the Washington County PD Office did
not appear to care about her family obligations and circumstances, and that she did not like her
attorney’s attitude, "the Sixth Amendment does not guarantee a ‘meaningful relationship between
an accused and his counsel.”™ Knight at *5S3. Plaintiff Hurrell-Harring did not have a Sixth

47Howwa,hamsignedMneymﬂwﬁhhuhnmdimlyaﬁumi@mntmdmbsequaﬂymadem
application to have bail lowered. See Barber 2009 at 17.
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Amendment right to a lawyer with a sympathetic ear and attitude so, even if such was absent, she
was not constructively denied anything that was Constitutionally required.

Second, plaintiff Hurrell-Harring's complaint that her attorney did not get her a plea offer
that did not involve jail time goes to her attorney's performance and does not demonstrate a
constructive denial of counsel. Notwithstanding, the proof in this case establishes that (1) the
ADA would never have made an offer that did not involve a period of incarceration for the
felony charged, sec Barber 2009 at §18, and (2) plaintiff Hurrell-Harring's attorney did, in fact,
have conversations with the ADA about the plea offer. See id. While plaintiff Hurrell-Harring
was not satisfied with the offer because it did not meet her expectations governed by the
television show Law and Order, see Hurrell-Harring dep. at p. 111, "[a] defendant does not have
a Constitutional right to a meaningful attorney-client relationship, to be completely satisfied with
counsel's performance, or to be represented by the lawyer of his choice.” Moore at *28. "If
counsel is a reasonably effective advocate, he meets Constitutional standards irrespective of his
client's evaluation of his performance.” Brown, 3 F3d at 1246. Plaintiff's dissatisfaction with
the ADA's plea offer does not support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, let alone a
finding that she was constructively denied counsel.

Third, plaintiff's complaints about her dissatisfaction with the amount of communication
that she had with her attorney — including not returning her phone calls, see Hurrell-Harring dep.
atp. 38—donMstmponaﬁndingthMplainﬁﬁwaswnsumﬁvdydeniedwmselasamuhof
the lack of communication. As noted above, the PD (1) met with plaintiff Hurrell-Harring in jail
shortly after her arraignment, see Kerwin aff. at Exh. A, 147; (2) discussed defending plaintiff’s
case, see Hurrell-Harring dep. at pp. 31-32; (3) spoke to plaintiff Hurrell-Harring about bail, see
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id. at p. 33; and advised plaintiff Hurrell-Harring about the risk of trial, in light of the evidence
against her and her confession. See id. at pp. 106-07. Counsel told plaintiff Hurrell-Harring that
because bringing drugs into the prison was a big problem in Washington County, she would
likely get jail time with a plea, see id. at p. 37, and could face a minimum of eight years in prison
if she lost at trial. See id. at p. 34. The PD visited the plaintiff one more time at jail to discuss
the plea offer, see id. at pp. 44-45, 47 and spoke with plaintiff Hurrell-Harring at Court
appearances. See id. at p. 43. Defense counsel met with Ms. Hurrell-Harring and spoke with her
on several occasions to advise her of the DA’s offer and the repercussions of her plea, if
accepted. See Barber 2009 at §19. However, plaintiff also Hurrell-Harring alleges that her
attorney failed to return her telephone calls. See Hurrell-Haring dep. at p. 38.

The communication between plaintiff Hurrell-Harring and her attorney, as described by
plaintiff Hurrell-Harring herself, occurred more than just at Court appearances, which would
have satisfied Constitutional requirements, Ping at 500, and was far from a "complete
breakdown" in communication. Dolab at *56. Additionally, the communication described by
plaintiff Hurrell-Harring exceeded that described in Zimmerman, in which the Court found no
constructive denial of counsel under Cronic. As a result, plaintiff was not constructively denied
therighttocounselasamultofthefrequencyofhercommunicaﬁonsudthherattomey.
Zimmerman at **10-11.

Finally, any alleged "pressure” felt by plaintiff Hurrell-Harring to take the offered plea
resulted not from a constructive denial of counsel, but from the ADA's refusal to offer a better
plea. The uncontroverted proof in this case is that plaintiffs attorney met with the ADA and the

Court several time to attempt to negotiate a proper plea. See Barber 2009 at §18. The fact that
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counsel was not successful at changing the ADA's mind about a plea offer does not prove that
the plaintiff was constructively denied counsel. Instead it shows that the plaintiff was not
pleased with the result achieved by counsel. Satisfaction with the result of an attorney's
representation is not Constitutionally required. Moore at *28.

Based on the foregoing, plaintiff Hurrell-Harring cannot meet her threshold burden of
establishing that she was constructively denied counsel. See Kerwin aff. at Exh. K.
b. Randy Habshi

Mr. Habshi was initially charged with Burglary in the Second Degree, Grand Larceny in
the Fourth Degree, Petit Larceny, Possession of Burglar’s Tools and Criminal Possession of a
Weapon*® and was arraigned on these charges in the Town of Fort Ann Justice Court on or about
July 26, 2007, see Muse aff. at Exh. H, with bail set at $100,000 cash/$200,000 bond. See
Habshi dep. at p. 21. A preliminary hearing was scheduled for August 1, 2007. See Muse aff, at
Exh. H; Habshi dep. at p. 22. Mr. Habshi learned at his third Court appearance that his case was
assigned to Garfield Raymond, a member of the Washington County ACP.** See Barber 2009 at
1922-23; Habshi dep. at p. 23. At that Court appearance, Mr. Raymond advised plaintiff Habshi
not to bail out because it would be more beneficial for plaintiff Habshi to start doing his time, see
Habshi dep. at pp. 26, 28-29, and told plaintiff Habshi that he would try to get the charges
lowered. Seeid. at p. 27. At that first meeting, Mr. Raymond already knew that plaintiff Habshi
had given a confession, see id. at p. 27, and plaintiff Habshi agreed to adjourn that Court
appearance. Seg id. at p. 29. Between that Court appearance and the next one, plaintiff Habshi
attempted to call Mr. Raymond once, but did not reach him. See id. at p. 31. Plaintiff alleges

48Mr.Habstacedamnwoﬁmmmmy-ﬁwyearsforhisaﬂegedaim.&Barbeﬂowmw.
49mmmmndedwmphmwprHM'stwmpmmtm&emlmmwu
date. Sgg Kerwin aff. at Exh. A, 1229; Habshi dep. at pp. 89-91.

81



that Mr. Raymond failed to appear for plaintiff Habshi's next Court appearance.so See id. at. 32.

Mr. Garfield visited plaintiff Habshi in jail and told him that he had met with the ADA
and that the best plea offer that he was going to get included a sentence of four year determinate
in prison and five years post-release supervision. See Habshi dep. at pp. 39-40. Plaintiff Habshi
testified that he believed the offer was high because the ADA mistakenly thought that plaintiff
had a prior felony conviction and that Mr. Raymond should have cleared up that mistaken
belief.’! See id. at pp. 94-96. Plaintiff told Mr. Raymond that he did not want to accept that
offer, so Mr. Raymond said they would go to trial. See id. at p. 43. However, plaintiff did not
want to go to trial. See id. Plaintiff Habshi next saw Mr. Raymond in Court. See id. at p. 44.
Plaintiff Habshi testified that his Court appearances kept getting "adjourn[ed] and adjourn[ed]"
until it was transferred to County Court. See id. at p. 45. However, during those adjournments,
Mr. Raymond made a speedy trial motion on plaintiff Habshi's behalf. See id. at p. 47.

Mr. Raymond remained willing to take plaintiff Habshi's case to trial, see id. at p. 40, but
on November 19, 2007, Mr. Habshi, after signing a waiver of indictment*?, voluntarily pled
guilty to Burglary in the Second Degree with a recommended sentence of four years
incarceration and five years of post-release supervision and payment of restitution, to cover all
charges pending against him, including a subsequent burglary charge. See id. at pp. 48-49; Muse
aff. at Exh. I, p. 14. This was a particularly good outcome for Mr. Habshi, who faced a sentence

of up to twenty-five years incarceration. See Barber 2009 at 24.

50 However, contrary to an allegation by Mr. Habshi, there is evidence in this case that counsel was present for Mr.
Habshi’s October 10, 2007 Court appearance. See Barber 2009 at appendix.
51 Although plaintiff Habshi allegedly did not have a prior felony conviction, he did bave a felony sex offense
pending at that time. See Habshi dep. at p. 97.
52 Plaintiff Habshi testified that he did not recall whether he had been told about his right to testify before the grand
jury. See Habshi dep. at p. 45.
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Plaintiff Habshi was not represented at his initial arraignment in the Fort Ann Justice
Court. However, when viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff Habshi, plaintiff Habshi
alleges that he was constructively denied his right to counsel because (1) attorney Raymond did
not communicate with him enough, (2) attorney Raymond did not get him an acceptable plea
bargain and (3) attorney Raymond allegedly missed one Court appearance and adjourned
plaintiff Habshi's case a number of times. These claims do not establish that plaintiff Habshi was
constructively denied his right to counsel.

First, plaintiff met with attorney Raymond at least five times in Court, see Habshi dep. at
pp. 26, 28-29, 44, 46, 48-49, and once in jail. See Habshi dep. at pp. 39-40. During the jail visit,
attorney Raymond informed plaintiff Habshi about the plea offer. Seeid. As discussed in
connection with virtually every other plaintiff, this communication was Constitutionally
sufficient and there is no evidence in the record that plaintiff Habshi was constructively denied
his right to counsel. Zimmerman at **10-11.

Second, plaintiff thinks that his attorney should have obtained a better plea deal.
Attorney Raymond met with the ADA and then informed plaintiff Habshi, during a jail visit, that
he was offered the best plea bargain that was going to be made in his case, which included a
sentence of four year determinate term in prison and five years of mandatory post-release
supervision. See Habshi dep. at pp. 38-40. Plaintiff Habshi believed that this plea offer was
made upon a belief that he had a prior felony on his record. See id. at pp. 94-96. However,
plaintiff Habshi testified that the alleged mistake was cleared up by his probation officer, gee id.
at 42, and the plea offer did not change. At his deposition, plaintiff Habshi testified that he was
guilty, had given law enforcement a statement and drove around with law enforcement to
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retrieve all of the goods that he had stolen. See id. at pp.70-73. Notwithstanding, plaintiff
Habshitestiﬁedthat“justbecauseyouareguilty,thereisalways-—thiscanalwaysbereduced
down." See id. at p. 76. Plaintiff Habshi was facing a possible fifteen year prison sentence at
that time, and attorney Raymond was able to get plaintiff Habshi an offer of four years
incarceration and five years post-release supervision. See id. at p. 77. The fact that counsel was
able to get the plaintiff the best plea offer during one negotiation does not mean that the attorney
abandoned his client during the plea bargaining stage of the criminal prosecution.

At the time that plaintiff finally pled guilty, he was facing twenty-five years
incarceration, because he had been charged with a subsequent burglary. See id. at pp. 48-49;
Muse aff. at Exh. I, p. 16; Barber 2009 at 124. Attorney Raymond was able to convince the
prosecution to allow the plea offer — that included a sentence of four years incarceration and five
years post-release supervision — to cover both sets of charges. The proof in this case cannot
establish that plmnuﬂ'Habshn was constructively denied counsel during the plea bargaining stage
of his criminal proceeding. Totheextentthatplaintiﬁ‘Habshiwasdi-ssatisﬁedwiththeplea
offer, his claim is one of ineffective assistance of counsel. Moore at *28.

Finally, plaintiff Habshi alleges that he was constructively denied his right to counsel
because attorney Raymond allegedly missed one Court appearance and adjourned several others.
At the one Court appearance that attorney Raymond allegedly missed, the plaintiff did not even
go before the judge. See id. at p. 32. One of the adjournments was requested by attorney
Raymond for the purposes of conferring with plaintiff Habshi, see id. at p. 29, and the others
were made after the plaintiff refused to take the plea offer and refused to go to trial. See id. at
45. Therefore, it is unclear what plaintiff Habshi alleges should have been done during those
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appearances until a trial date was set. Knight, at **6 (defendant was not constructively denied
the right to counsel because his appointed attorney adjourned several Court appearances because
he was busy on other matters). Additionally, during the period of adjourned Court appearances,
attorney Raymond did not "abandon" plaintiff Habshi's case but prepared and submitted a speedy
trial motion. See id. at p. 47. These facts do not establish that plaintiff Habshi was denied
counsel at a critical stage of his criminal proceeding.

Based on the evidence in this case, plaintiff Habshi cannot meet his threshold burden and
establish that he was constructively denied his right to counsel. See Kerwin aff, at Exh. K.
3. Onondaga County
a. James Adams

James Adams was charged on July 31, 2007 with Robbery in the Third Degree, Burglary
in the Third Degree, and Harassment. See Trunfio 2009 at 123. At his arraignment in Syracuse
City Court the next day, the Court reduced the felony charges to misdemeanors, appointed
Onondaga County ACP panel member, Donald Kelly to represent the plaintiff, and set bail in the
amount of twenty-five hundred dollars cash or bond. See Adams dep. at pp. 19-20, 22. At the
timeofhisJuly3l,2007mt,plainﬁﬁ'hadmisdemeanorchaxg&spendingagainsthiminﬂ1e
Towns of Salina and Geddes in Onondaga County. See id. at pp. 15, 41, 43-44. Mr. Kelly was
also assigned to represent plaintiff Adams on those charges. See id. at p. 45. Plaintiff was never
able to contact Mr. Kelly by telephone or letter. See id. at pp. 20-21, 23-24, 28-29. He first met
Mr. Kelly on his first Court date, but Mr. Kelly did not speak to him. See id. at p. 21, 25.

Plaintiff Adams testified that he appeared in Syracuse City Court four times, and that Mr.
Kelly only appeared with him once. See id. at pp. 35-36. At the fourth Court appearance,
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without Mr. Kelly present, plaintiff Adams first learned that a plea offer had been made. See id.
at pp. 34-35. The initial plea offer made in the case was if Plaintiff Adams pleaded guilty to a
Class E Felony, the people would consent to an indeterminate sentence of no more than three
years and no less than one and one-half years. See Kelly dep. at pp. 130-131. Afier discussing it
with Mr. Kelly, Plaintiff Adams rejected this offer. See id. at p. 131.

Plaintiff Adams testified that he learned about his right to appear before the grand jury
from mail from the District Attorney’s Office received by plaintiff Adams on a Friday at
approximately 6:00 pm informing him that he could testify the following Monday. See Adams
dep. at p. 37. Mr. Adams was indicted on September 21, 2007 for the crimes of Burglary in the
Third Degree and Petit Larceny. See Trunfio 2009 at 127. Plaintiff Adams saw Mr. Kelly for the
second time at his first County Court appearance during which plaintiff Adams was arraigned on
this indictment.* See Trunfio 2009 at 127; Adams dep. at p. 38. Twenty-five hundred dollars
cash or bond bail was set. See Trunfio 2009 at §27. At this appearance in County Court, plaintiff
and Mr. Kellyspokeabomtheallthreecas&(thecaswstemmingﬁ'omSyracuse,Geddesand
Salina) and bail. See Adams dep. at pp. 47-48. During this conversation plaintiff asked Mr.
Kelly to talk to his wife about bail, id. at pp. 48-49, and alerted Mr. Kelly that his arrest on a
charge was based on a misidentification. See id. at pp. 49-50. Plaintiff Adams also asked Mr.

Kelly to try to get him a plea with a drug court disposition.** See id. at p. 51.

53Plaintiﬂ‘AdamsmﬁﬁedthathehadnocommmicaﬁonwithMr.KellybetweenﬂwoneCityComtaypeaxanee
that Mr. Kelly attended and the first County Court appearance. See Adams dep. at pp. 38-39.
54Mr.Kellyﬁrsthadbeendoinglegalwo:konplaimiﬂ'Adams’smesinceitsinception,includinghiﬁnga
handwriting expert. See id. at pp. 110-11. He had also spoken to the attorney assigned before him, and obtained
paperwork and discovery from the ADA. See id. at p. 111. Mr. Kelly appeared in Court with plaintiff Adams on
August 7, 2007 and September 26, 2007, see id. at p. 113-14, spoke to plaintiff Adams's wife on September 27,
2007, see id. at p. 117, and appeared with the plaintiff in Court twice in October 2007. Seec id at pp. 115-16. He
also visited location of offense and took photographs, see id. at p. 125-26, and discovered that video footage was
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During his second County Court appearance, plaintiff Adams was informed that he did
not qualify for Drug Court. See id. at pp. 56-57. Plaintiff Adams then informed Mr. Kelly that
he would not accept any other ples, if offered. See id. Mr. Kelly thereafter met with plaintiff
Adams at the jail to prepare for trial. See id. at pp. 51-52, 55, 61; Kelly dep. at pp. 110-11.
Plaintiff Adams asked Mr. Kelly to attempt to get his bail lowered. See Adams dep. at p. 61. Mr.
Kelly attempted, but was denied. See Adams dep. at pp. 61-62. During the pendency of his
case, plaintiff Adams wrote directly to the judge and informed the judge that he knew he had a
good attorney. Seg id. at p. 71. At some point prior to trial, the Court asked plaintiff Adams if
he wanted a different lawyer and Mr. Adams declined. See id. at p. 73.

On November 1, 2007, Mr. Kelly made a motion to dismiss and for a suppression
hearing on behalf of Mr. Adams. Se¢ Trunfio 2009 at 128; Kelly dep. at pp. 115, 124.
Additionally, on November 1, 2007, Mr. Kelly made discovery demands on behalf of Mr.
Adams. See Trunfio 2009 at §28. By Order dated November 8, 2007, the Court ordered a Wade
hearing to be held on the admissibility of identification evidence. See Trunfio 2009 at §29;
Adams dep. at p. 64. A Wade hearing was held on January 2, 2008, at 2:00 p.m., after which the
Court found the show-up to be suggestive and suppressed the identification evidence against Mr.
Adams. See Trunfio 2009 at 129; Kelly dep. at p. 125. Plaintiff Adams was present for the
hearing and spoke with Mr. Kelly during the hearing. See Adams dep. at p. 66. Mr. Kelly
retained a handwriting expert to examine handwriting in connection with the charges against Mr.
Adams. See Adams dep. at p. 62. On or before December 6, 2007, Mr. Kelly issued a subpoena
to Rite Aid Corporation, the alleged victim of Mr. Adams’s alleged crimes for records relating to

never retrieved by police. See id. at pp. 126-27. He also had teleconferences and meetings with the handwriting
expert. Seeid. atp. 127.
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the charges against Mr. Adams. See Trunfio 2009 at 931.

On December 12, 2007, the People obtained a superseding indictment against Mr. Adams
for the crimes of Burglary in the Third Degree, Robbery in the Third Degree and Petit Larceny.
See Trunfio 2009 at §33. Mr. Adams was arraigned on this superseding indictment on
December 13, 2007. See id.

On the first day of trial, which was held on February 11, 13 and 14, 2008, plaintiff
Adams was released on bail. See Adams dep. at p. 67. At trial, the People called three witnesses
and Mr. Kelly called two witnesses. See Trunfio 2009 dep. at 134. Mr. Kelly called a
handwriting expert witness to testify for Plaintiff Adams, Sce Kelly dep. at p. 124. During trial,
plaintiff Adams met with Mr. Kelly at Mr. Kelly's office. See Adams dep. at p. 85; Kelly dep. at
P- 127. Mr. Kelly and plaintiff discussed whether plaintiff Adams should testify at trial and trial
strategy. See Adams dep. at pp. 86, 83. Plaintiff Adams and Mr. Kelly also conferred during
trial, and plaintiff Adams participated in jury selection. See id. at pp. 87, 89-90.

In preparation for trial, Mr. Kelly visited the location of the alleged offense and took
photographs, which "turned out to be instrumental in his acquittal” of felony charges. See Kelly
dep. at p. 126. By visiting the scene, Mr. Kelly learned that video cameras were capable of
recording the alleged incident underlying Plaintiff Adams charges, and the police never
requested a copy of the video. See Kelly dep. at pp. 126-127.

Mr. Adams was convicted of the misdemeanor charge of Petit Larceny and acquitted of
the Burglary in the Third Degree and Robbery in the Third Degree charges. See Trunfio 2009 at
134; Adams dep. at p. 93. Mr. Adams was sentenced to time served for the charges in all three
Courts, which amounted to approximately six and one half months. See Trunfio 2009 at 1734;



Adams dep. at pp. 94-95. Had he been convicted of a class D non-violent felony charge®, asa
predicate felon®®, he could have been sentenced to an indeterminate term of incarceration of a
minimum of no less than three and one-half years and a maximum of no more than seven years
in State prison. See Penal Law § 70.06. After the felony acquittals at trial, plaintiff Adams
publicly thanked Mr. Adams for the work he had done on his case. See Kelly dep. at p. 133.

Plaintiff Adams was not represented at his initial arraignment in City Court.”” However,
in-custody defendants that appear in Syracuse City Court for arraignment now, are provided
counsel. See Captor dep. at p. 113. As aresult, if plaintiff Adams was arrested and arraigned
today in the City of Syracuse, under the same circumstances, he would be represented at
arraignment and, therefore, is not representative of the current City Court arraignment program
in Onondaga County. Additionally, at his initial arraignment, the Court lowered the charges
against plaintiff Adams. Further, attorney Kelly attempted to get plaintiff Adams's bail lowered.
See Adams dep. at pp. 61-62. Notwithstanding, the remainder of plaintiff Adams's complaints
do not establish that plaintiff Adams was constructively denied his right to counsel.

When viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff Adams, plaintiff Adams alleges that
he was constructively denied his right to counsel because (1) counsel did not communicate with
the plaintiff as much as plaintiff desired, (2) counsel missed three appearances in City Court, 3)
counsel was unable to get plaintiff Adams a plea to Drug Court, and (4) counsel failed to advise

plaintiff about his right to testify before the grand jury.

55Bmglmyindxelhthegnedeobbuyindwntheglumboﬂlchssteloniw;howeva,theymnot
classified as violent felony offenses. Seg Penal Law §§ 70.02(1)(c), 140.20, 160.20.
56 A review of Plaintiff Adams's criminal history, provided by the Court, revealed two prior violent felony
convictions. See Kelly dep. atp. 128
57 Plaintiff Adams believes he was represented at his arraignment in Salina Town Court and he was RORd. Seg
Adams dep. at p. 4. He was given a desk appearance ticket in the Town of Geddes. See id. atp. 43.
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First, attorney Kelly spoke with plaintiff Adams at least six times and discussed the plea
offer, see Kelly dep. at pp. 130-131, the facts of all three of plaintiff Adams's cases, see Adams
dep. at pp. 47-48, bail, see id. at Pp. 48-49, 61, and the possibility of drug court. See id. at p. 51,
56-57. Plaintiff Adams and attorney Kelly were also in Court together and conferred during
plaintiff's suppression hearing, see id. at 64, and throughout trial including doing jury selection.
See id. at pp. 87, 89-90. In addition, attorney Kelly met with plaintiff Adams at the jail for trial
Preparation, see id. at pp. 51-52, 55, 61; Kelly dep. at pp. 110-11, and also at attorney Kelly's
office during trial. See Adams dep. at pp. 85, 86, 88; Kelly dep. at p. 127.

Mthiscase,thereismdisputethatthmwas”mexchmgeofmfomaﬁon"between
plaintiff Adams and attorney Kelly because plaintiff Adams necessarily had to tell attorney Kelly
about the misidentification issue that led to attorney Kelly hiring the expert. Additionally,
plaintiﬁ'AdamstwtiﬁedthathemetwithanomeyKeﬂytopmparefortrial, which continued
during trial. See Adams dep. at pp. 51-52, 53, 61, 85-86, 87-90; Kelly dep. at pp. 110-11.
Attorney Kelly, himself, conducted the investigation, see Kelly dep. at pp- 126-127, and plaintiff
Adams participated in jury selection with attorney Kelly. See Adams dep. at pp. 87, 89-90. The
facts are completely on point with those in Scott and, therefore, do not constitute a constructive
denial of counsel. Scott, 146 Fed Appx at 879.

Second, plaintiff Adams complains that attorney Kelly missed three Court appearances.
However, as discussed above, attomney Kelly did attend Court appearances. Notwithstanding,
missing four Court appearances ~ in combination with other alleged errors — has been found
not to constructively deny a criminal defendant his right to counsel. In United States v, Rogers,
13 Fed Appx 386 (7" Cir. 2001), defendant's retained counsel was chronically late for Court
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appearances, failed to appear at three scheduled pretrial conferences, and arrived at the third day
of trial one and a half hours late. ]d. at 387. However, counsel made evidentiary objections
during trial, presented alibi witnesses, effectively cross-examined the prosecution witnesses,
made a closing argument and submitted proposed jury instructions to the Court. Id. The
defendant was convicted, and then counsel failed to appear at defendant's sentencing. Id. On the
day of his sentencing, the defendant informed the Court that his counsel never met with him to
discuss his case, did not issue subpoenas or talk to witnesses and would not respond to
defendant's calls or letters. I[d. The Court appointed new counsel. Id. In denying defendant's
appeal for violation of his Sixth Amendment rights, the Court stated

A presumption of prejudice is warranted when a defendant has

been actually or constructively denied counsel at a critical stage of

his trial. [Citation omitted] Neither of these exceptions applies in

this case. First, although [counsel] missed two pretrial

conferences, was late to trial, and did not appear at the originally

scheduled sentencing hearing, the record discloses no instance

where any proceeding took place without either [counsel] being

present. [Defendant] therefore cannot argue that he was actually

denied counsel at a "critical stage. . ."
Id. at 388-89. The representation of plaintiff Adams by attorney Kelly was at least, if not more,
"active" than the attorney in Rogers, who missed more Court appearances than attorney Kelly is
alleged to have missed. He made a motion to dismiss and for a suppression hearing on behalf of
Mr. Adams, see Trunfio 2009 at §28; Kelly dep. at pp. 115, 124, made discovery demands and
motions, see Trunfio 2009 at 28, conducted investigation including visiting the location of the
crime, see Kelly dep. at pp. 126-127, conducted and prevailed in a suppression hearing, see
Trunfio 2009 at 129; Kelly dep. at p. 125, retained an expert, see Adams dep. at p. 62; Kelly dep.

at p. 124, issued subpoenas, see Trunfio 2009 at Y31, prepared for, and represented plaintiff
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Adams at, trial, see Adams dep. at pp. 85, 86-88, 89-90; Kelly dep. at p. 127, and got the plaintiff
acquitted of the felony charge. See Adams dep. at p. 93. Under these circumstances, the fact that
attorney Kelly allegedly missed three Court appearances is inconsequential and plaintiff was not
constructively denied his right to counsel. Rogers at 388-89.

Third, plaintiff Adams complains that attorney Kelly failed to get him a plea offer that
included Drug Court. However, plaintiff Adams was informed by the Court or the ADA that he
did not qualify for Drug Court. Sce id. at pp. 56-57. The fact that plaintiff Adams did not meet
this criteria was not the fault of attorney Kelly. Notwithstanding, plaintiff Adams refused to
consider any other plea offer, so it cannot be alleged that attorney Kelly was absent during the
plea bargaining stage of the criminal proceeding. Further, any dissatisfaction with attorney
Kelly's ability to get a certain plea offer goes to attorney Kelly's performance and is subject to
the ineffective assistance of counsel standard and not justiciable herein.

Finally, plaintiff Adams alleges that attomney Kelly failed to discuss with him his right to
testify in front of the grand jury. Specifically, plaintiff Adams alleges that he leamned about his
righttoappearbeforetheglmdjmyﬁ'ommail from the District Attorney’s Office received by
plaintiff Adams on a Friday at approximately 6:00 pm informing him that he could testify the
following Monday. See Adams dep. at p. 37. However, the grand jury notice sent to plaintiff
Adams was dated Tuesday, September 18, 2007 and informed plaintiff Adams that his
opportunity to testify before the grand jury was Friday, September 21, 2007 — three days later.
See McGowan aff. at Exh. U. Asamult,thefactsasmtiﬁedbyplaintiﬁ'Adamsmineorrect.
Notwithstanding, plaintiff Adams was ultimately not prosecuted on the indictment that stemmed

from the September 21, 2007 grand jury presentation because, on December 12, 2007 (a
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Wednesday), the People obtained a superseding indictment against Mr. Adams for the crimes of
Burglary in the Third Degree, Robbery in the Third Degree and Petit Larceny, see Trunfio 2009
at 127, and plaintiff does not claim that attorney Kelly failed to advise him about testifying in
front of that grand jury. In fact, the only evidence about the plaintiff testifying before the grand
jury on the superseding indictment in this case is contained in the affidavit of the Onondaga
County Chief ADA, who stated that plaintiff Adams did not exercise his right to appear before
the Grand Jury on December 10, 2007. See Trunfio 2009 at 132.

 Based on the evidenoe in this case, plaintiff Adams cannot meet his threshold burden and
wtablishthatbemsdeniedhisrighttocounsel.SgKeminaﬁiatExh. K.
b._Joseph Briggs

Joseph Briggs was arrested on August 7, 2007, on the charges of Burglary in the Third

Degree, Grand Larceny in the Fourth Degree and Criminal Possession of Stolen Property in the
Fourth Degree in connection with the theft, and attempted subsequent sale, of tools. See Trunfio
2009 at 736; Briggs dep. at p- 7. Plaintiff Briggs was arraigned on these charges on August 8, 2007.
Id. Stuart Larose, amemberoftheOnondagaCountyACP,wasassignedtotepresentMr. Briggs at
arraignment on August 7 or August 8, 2007, see Briggs dep. at p. 8, and Mr. Briggs voluntarily
waived his right to a preliminary hearing on August 10, 2007. See Trunfio 2009 at 137. Plaintiff
alleges that he had no communication with Mr. LaRose between August 7, 2007 and September 4,
2007, even though plaintiff Briggs tried calling™ and wrote to Mr. LaRose several times. See Briggs




dep. at pp. 17-18. Plaintiff Briggs also alleges that his right to a preliminary hearing was waived
without his knowledge.*® See id. at P- 20. Mr. LaRose visited plaintiff Briggs once in jail and a plea
offer was discussed. See Briggs dep. at PP. 49, 63. Mr. Briggs appeared in Court with Mr. LaRose
on September 4, 2007, at which time Mr. Briggs rejected the ADA’s offer of a plea to Criminal
Possession of Stolen Property in the Fourth Degree with a sentence of 1% - 3 years in state prison.

See Trunfio 2009 at 38; Briggs dep. at p. 24.

attorney Susan Carey, another member of the Onondaga County ACP, was assigned at plaintiff
Briggs' request. See id. at 140. Thereafter, Ms. Carey first appeared on October 12,2007,% at which
time a motion schedule was set. See id. at 141. Plaintiff Briggs alleges that Ms. Carey's office voice
mailbox was always full or her office would not accept collect calls. See Briggs dep. at pp. 44, 54.
However, Ms. Carey was relieved from representing Mr. Briggs on November 16, 2007, at her
request. See Trunfio 2009. at 42.

Bonnie Levy, another member of the Onondaga ACP was assigned to represent Mr. Briggs.
See id. at §43. Ms. Levy thereafter appeared in Court with Mr. Briggs on November 19, 2007 and
December 21, 2007. See id. at J44. At the December 21, 2007 appearance, the parties reported to
the Comtthattherehadbeennomovementwithmpecttoaplea.&id. Ms. Levy filed discovery
demands on behalf of Mr. Briggs on December 26,2007. Seeid. at 145. Ms. Levy made motions on
Mr. Briggs’s behalf which were argued on January 18,2008. Seeid. at446. The Court granted Ms.
Levy’s motion for discovery, in part, by decision and order dated February 8, 2008. See id. Ms.

59Phinﬁﬂ‘Bﬁggsallegsthauhejudgeonhismetoldhhnthmat&omeyseanwaivepmliminaryheaﬁnpwithout

consulting their clients inOnondagaComty.SgBﬁggsdep.atp. 68.

60 Plaintiff Briggs refused to be transported to Court on October 12, 2007. See McGowan aff. at Exh. X, pp. 1-2.
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Levy thereafter appeared in Court with Mr. Briggs on February 8, 2008, at which time the People
sought an order from the Court for a saliva sample from Mr. Briggs, which was granted despite Ms.
Levy’s opposition. See id. at 147. The parties were also informed by the Court that a final decision
on the People’s plea offer of a sentence of one and a half to three years incarceration upon a plea of
guilty to Criminal Possession of Stolen Property in the Fourth Degree (to cover both the indicted
crimeandamisdemeanorcharge pending in Salina Justice Court) had to be made by February 11,
2008. See id.

Ms. Levy appeared in Court with Mr. Briggs on February 11, 2008, at which time M. Briggs
refused the People’s plea offer. Ms. Levy informed the Court that Edward Klein, another member of
the Onondaga County ACP agreed to take over representation of Mr. Briggs upon Ms. Levy’s
impending retirement from the ACP. See id. at 148.*! Mr. Klein was in the Courtroom during Mr.
Briggs’s February 11, 2008 appearance, and was directed by the Court to observe the appearance.
See id. Also during the February 11, 2008 appearance, Ms. Levy informed the Court that a motion
todismissonspeedytrialgrolmdsmaybemadeonbeha]foer. Briggs. See id. at J49. Ms. Levy
then appeared in Court with Mr. Briggs on February 15, 2008, at which time the Court granted the
People’s order to show cause fora DNA sample from Mr. Briggs. Mr. Klein thereafier took over the
defense of Mr. Briggs. See id. at 1150-51.

On February 29, 2008, the People withdrew their notice of readiness for purposes of
completing DNA testing of a blood sample found at the crime scene. See id. at 152. On April 3,
2008, Mr. Klein made a motion requesting Mr. Brigg’s release on speedy trial grounds. See id. at
153. The Court declined to release Mr. Briggs on his own recognizance, but agreed to lower the bail

61 Mr.Kleinisonﬂ:eBoardofdteNewYorkCivilLibuﬁaUnion.plninﬁﬂ'x‘eounselind:ecaseatbar.&Klein
dep. atp. 12.

95




amount to one hundred dollars cash or five hundred dollars bond. See id. Shortly thereafter,
plaintiff Briggs posted bail and was released from custody. See id.

On May 20, 2008, plaintiff Briggs failed to appear for his arraignment on the superseding
indictment and the Court adjourned the case, at M. Klein’s request, until May 21, 2008 for Mr.
Briggs to appear. See id. at§54. The People announced ready for trial on the superseding indictment
in the presence of Mr. Klein and the Court. Seeid. The superseding indictment charged Mr. Briggs
with Burglary in the Third Degree, Criminal Possession of Stolen Property in the Fourth Degree, and
Petit Larceny. See id. On May 21, 2008, Mr. Briggs failed to appear for arraignment and the Court
issued a bench warrant. See id. at 155. On May 30, 2008, Mr. Briggs was returned to custody and
held without bail. See id. at 956. Shortly thereafter, on June 3, 2008, the plaintiff was arraigned on
thesupersedinsindicunentwithco\mselpresent See id.

On August 12, 2008, the Court denied plaintiff’s speedy trial motion and directed the People
to make a final plea offer by August 26, 2008. See id. at §57. On September 19, 2008, Mr. Briggs
pled guilty to Burglary in the Third Degree. See id. at ¢58; Briggs dep. at p- 28. Based on Mr.
Briggs’s extensive criminal history and the People’s evidence of a DNA match to Mr. Briggs from
bloodleﬁonawindowatthectime scene,aswellasastatementfromanindividualtowhoml\dr.
Briggs attempted to sell the stolen goods, the People recommended the Court sentence the plaintiff
to the maximum of three and a half to seven years incaroerationwithanordetofmtimtioninthe
amount of one thousand dollars. See Trunfio 2009 at €59. Mr.Klein successfully convinced the
Court to sentence Mr. Briggs to the minimum of two to four years incarceration, over the ADA’s
objection. See id.

Plaintiff Briggs was not represented at his initial arraignment in Syracuse City Court.

96




However, like plaintiff Adams, plaintiff Briggs is not representative of the current City Court
arraignment program in Onondaga County. Notwithstanding, the remainder of plaintiff Briggs's
complaints are insufficient to establish that he was constructively denied the right to counsel,

When viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff Briggs, plaintiff Briggs alleges that
he was constructively denied his right to counsel because (1) two of four of his attorneys did not
communicaxeMthhimenoughand(Z)hisﬁghttoapreﬁminaryhemingwaswaivedwithomhis
consent.? Plaintiff Briggs was represented by attoney LaRose from August 7 or 8, 2007 until
approximately October 10, 2007. See Briggs dep. at p. 8; Trunfio 2009 at 140. During that
approximate two month period, Mr. Briggs met in Court with Mr. LaRose on September 4,
2007, see Trunfio 2009 at §38; Briggs dep. at p. 24, and Mr. LaRose visited plaintiff Briggs
once in jail and a plea offer was discussed. See Briggs dep. at pp. 49, 63. At the request of
plaintiff Briggs, attomey LaRose was thereafter relieved from representing plaintiff Briggs, and
attomeyCaxeyreprwentedplainﬁﬂ'Bﬁggs from October 10, 2007, see Trunfio 2009 at 440, until
November 16, 2007 when attorney Carey was relieved from representing plaintiff Briggs at her
request. See Trunfio 2009 at J42. During that approximate five week-period, the plaintiff met
withattomeyCareyonceinComt,atwhichtimeamoﬁonschedulewasset.&id. at 1.
Plaintiﬂ‘Briggsdownotappearto allegethatathomeyLevyorattomeyKlein failed to
communicate with him to his satisfaction. As discussed above, "[tJhere is no required minimum
number of meetings between counsel and client,” Knight at fn 33, and only "a complete




Dolab, 2010 US Dist LEXIS at *56. Since plaintiff Briggs spoke with attorneys LaRose and
Carey at Court appearances, the communication was Constitutionally acceptable. Ping, 746
FSupp2d at 500.

Plaintiff Briggs also alleges that his preliminary hearing was waived without his
knowledge. However, this was apparently done pursuant to a Court rule in Onondaga County.
On September 4, 2007, plaintiff Briggs appeared in County Court with attorney LaRose and the
following dialogue took place:

THE COURT:. .. Now Mr. Briggs first of all, with regard to the
statusofyomcase,theCityCom'tpaperwork indicated that there
was an arraignment on August 8%, Now, Mr. LaRose, who is here,
indicated that Mr. Scibili had a meeting with you on or about
August 10™. Does that sound right to you?

THE DEFENDANT: No, Your Honor. I saw nobody.

THE COURT: You saw nobody.

THE DEFENDANT: Nobody.

THE COURT: Well, according to the City Court records
preliminary hearing was waived on August 10®.

THE DEFENDANT: I never waived my preliminary hearing.

THE COURT: Well, you don’t have to be there and you don’t have

toparticipateonwhetherornottheheaﬁngiswaived, believe it or

not. Because those are the rules.
See McGowan aff. at Exhibit W, Pp. 3-4. To the extent that the Onondaga County Court permits
a criminal defendant's right to a preliminary hearing to be waived without the knowledge of the
defendant, any relief related thereto must be directed at the judiciary, and not the State
defendants. Based on the evidence in this case, plaintiff Briggs cannot meet his threshold burden
and show that he was constructively denied the right to counsel by any of the defendants in this
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action. See Kerwin aff. at Exh. K.
c. Ri ve

On September 12, 2007, Richard Love was charged with Criminal Possession of a Forged
Instrument in the Second Degree and Attempted Petit Larceny for which he faced three and a halfto
seven years in State prison. See Trunfio 2009 at §60; Zuhker dep. at p. 96; Love dep. at pp. 6, 7-8.
He was arraigned before the Honorable David Gideon in the Town of Dewitt Justice Court on
September 13, 2007 without counsel. See Trunfio 2009 at §60. The Court assigned Onondaga ACP
member David Zuhker, Esq., to represent Mr. Love, and held the plaintiff in custody on no bail
because the Court was without statutory authority to consider bail based upon plaintiff Love's
criminal history. See id.; Love dep. at pp. 26, 61. Mr. Zuhker met with Mr. Love at jail in the
booking area, before Mr. Love had even been put into the jail population, on September 13, 2007.
See Zuhker dep. at p. 55. Mr. Zuhker met with Mr. Love and filled out the ACP eligibility form,
which Mr. Love signed. See id. at p. 56. During that meeting, Mr. Zuhker discussed the case,
including the fact that Mr. Love made full confessions to the crimes. Seg id. at p. 56.

The People elected not to proceed with a preliminary hearing, and the plaintiff was
subsequently released pursuant to Criminal Procedure Law §180.80 on the felony complaint in the
Town of Dewitt. See Trunfio 2009 at §60. On September 18, 2007, Mr. Love was charged with
another set of crimes, specifically, Grand Larceny in the Third Degree and Criminal Possession of a
Forged Instrument in the Second Degree felonies that carry additional State prison exposure. See
Trunfio 2009 at §61; Zuhker dep at p. 96. He was arraigned before the Honorable James Cecile in
Syracuse City Court. The Court again assigned David Zuhker, who was present, see Zuhker dep. at
PP. 58-59, to represent Mr. Love, and was unable to set bail, again, pursuant to CPL §530.20(2)(a)
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because Love had at least two prior felony convictions. See Trunfio 2009 atY61; Love dep. at p. 62.
For this same reason, Mr. Zuhker could not make a bail application because bail could not be set by
the City Court judge as a matter of law. See Zuhker dep. at p. 66.

On September 19, 2007, the assigned ADA called Mr, Zuhker and discussed Mr. Love’s
cases. See Trunfio 2009 at §62. The People made a pretrial offer to Mr. Zuhker, which required the
plaintiff to plead to one count of Criminal Possession of a Forged Instrument in the Second Degree
andmceiveamandatoryminimlxmsentenceof2-4yearsincaroa~ationtosatisfyalloftheplaintiﬂ’s
pending charges. See Trunfio 2009 at 162; Zuhker dep. at pp. 67-68. On September 21, 2007,
plaintiff waived the preliminary hearing and remained in custody with no bail. See id. at 963. On
September 26, 2007, the assigned ADA received a letter from plaintiff Love, wherein plaintiff Love
admittedtothechargesanduiminalactsandaskedto“workwiththeDAsoﬁice”inretmnfora
lighter sentence. See id. at 64.

On October 1, 2007, the assigned ADA called Mr. Zuhker to notify him that Mr. Love made
highly incriminating admissions in the aforementioned letter, and requested to cooperate with the
DA’s Office. See id. at §65. Based upon plaintiff's desire to cooperate, the assigned ADA presented
a new offer to Mr. Love which required him to plead to one count of Grand Larceny in the Fourth
Degree and receive a mandatory minimum sentence of 1% -3 years incarceration to satisfy all
pending charges. See Zuhker dep. at pp. 67-68. Mr. Zuhker asked for one week to present and
discuss this offer with the plaintiff, See Trunfio 2009 at §65.

On October 16, 2007, the assigned ADA had a conversation with Mr. Zuhker wherein Mr.
Zuhker indicated that Mr. Love intended to accept the offer. See Trunfio 2009 at 66. The assigned
ADA then requested a pretrial conferenceinCountyComttodiscussandconﬁrmthedetailsofthe
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proposed negotiated disposition. See id. On October 26,2007, Mr. Love’s case appeared before the
Court. See Trunfio 2009 at 467; Zuhker dep. atp. 64. By thistime a felony memo had been issued
on the Dewitt charges, and Mr. Love was charged with two more felonies, which Mr. Zuhker was
able to negotiate Jownto a misdemeanor charge. See Zuhker dep. at pp. 63, 68. The ADA assigned
to the Court’s calendar that day articulated the one and a half to three year offer on the record. See
Trunfio 2009 at §67. However, Mr. Love rejected this offer, and, in turn, the offer was revoked on
the record. See Trunfio 2009 at §67; Zuhker dep. at pp- 67-68. Mr. Love then asked the Court to
assign him a new attorney.®® See Trunfio 2009 at 167.

The Court assigned Onondaga County ACP attorney Oscar McKenzie to represent Mr. Love.
Seeid. On November 5,2007, Mr. McKenzie appeared with Mr. Love in Court. See Trunfio 2009 at
q68. The assigned ADA advised that the negotiated disposition originally offered to Mr. Love was
revoked and no longer available. Seeid. OnNovember 7, 2007, the case was presented to the grand
jury. See id. at §69. Mr. Love was indicted onGrandLarcenyintheThirdDegree, Criminal
Possession of a Forged Instrument in the Second Degree (two counts), and Schemeto Defraud in the
Second Degree. See id.

On December 6, 2007, Mr. Lovewasarraignedonthe indictment, and was advised that the
newpleaoﬁ'etrequiredhimtopleadaschargedtoeverycotmtinthe indictment. See id. at §70. The
Court stated that if Mr. Lovepledtotheenﬁreindicunent,hewomd limit the plaintiff’s sentence to a

term of 2—4yeaxsincarceration. Seeid. Atﬁ:issmneComtappemanoe,\nponareqwmadebyhis

63Phinﬁﬂl»veallegesthmsomeﬁmﬁwhenhecaﬂedm.hhknfswicemaﬂboxhwasﬁnll,andsomctinmﬁtwas
not. &Wedep.atp.%. W,hMWmmnﬂlmmeplainﬁﬁmmmwdbyMnmw,
Mr.mhkﬂvishedﬂxephmﬁﬁhjailmeﬁm&spokemlﬁmmmephmemﬁmemdmahhninCounontwo
occasions. See id. atp. 53. MnshmmeahgmmejaﬂMoownedafewdaysaMhisamigmmm,phimiﬁ'
toler.ZuhlerabommsehmandhisdwughBonﬂwm. See id. at p. 55-56, 57-
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attorney, the plaintiff’s bail was reduced to $2,500.00 cash or bond. See id. On December 11, 2007,
Mr. Love made bail and was released. Seeid. at §71; Love dep. atp. 71. On December 14,2007, at
another Court appearance, Mr. Love requested that his case be diverted to Drug Court. See Trunfio
2009 at 1 72. He asked Mr. McKenzie about the possibility of Drug Court, see Love dep. atp. 71,
andwasadvisedthatdmgdivasionwasnotanoption,duetohiscriminalrecord, so the assigned
ADA would not consent to it. See Trunfio 2009 at 972. Anticipating a trial, the Court ordered the
grand jury minutes for an jn-camera review. See id. On February 22, 2008, Mr. McKenzie
appeared in Court and reiterated Mr. Love’sdesiretopaymtitutionandcooperatewiththe
prosecution. See id. at 175. He was advised that the present offer would not change. On March 25,
2008, the assigned ADA received omnibus motions from Mr. McKenzie on behalf of the plaintiff,
See id. at §Y75-76; Love dep. at p. 71.

In preparing his response to Mr. McKenzie’s Bill of Particulars, the ADA realized that there
were potential proof problems with the threshold amount needed to establish a “D” felony, and
offered a more favorable disposition which consisted of a plea to an “E” felony with a minimum
sentence of oneandahalftothreeyemsincarceraﬁon.&TrunEOZMatW.0nApril4,2008,at
a scheduled Court appearance, the Judge was advised that Mr. Love rejected that new offer. See id.
at 978. The Court found that the grand jury presentation was sufficient, and adjourned the case for a
Huntley/Wade hearing which had been requested by Mr. McKenzie in his omnibus motions. Seeid.

On April 24, 2008, the assigned ADA advised Mr. McKenzie that the offer was no longer
available and that Mr. Love must now plead guilty, as charged, to all counts of the indictment. See




id. a1 79. On May 6, 2008, a Huntley/Wade hearing was held.% Mr. Love testified at the hearing
that his confession was coerced by police. See id. at 480; Love dep. at p. 73. Mr. McKenzie
vigorously cross-examined the police officer witnesses. See Trunfio 2009 at 79; Love dep. atp. 73.
On June 13, 2008, the Court issued an order suppressing Mr. Love’s confession to the police. See
Trunfio 2009 at 79; Love dep. at p. 73.

A trial date was set for August 18, 2008. lnlightoftheCom‘t‘sdecisiontosuppmsthe
plaintiff’s confession, the assigned ADA again offered Mr. Love a reduced plea to the “E” felony —
the lowest felony available for a predicate felon. Seeid, Mr. Love,again,rejectedthisoﬁ'er.&id.
OnAugust4,2008,theCom'tadjomnedtheu'ial inlightofneWchargaﬁledagainstMr. Love by
the Dewitt Police Department on July 30, 2008. Sec id. at 181. Mr. Love was taken into custody by
the Dewitt police, arraigned in front of Town of Dewitt Justice Court Judge Jack Schultz, and held
with no bail. See id. OnAugust6,2008,theassignedADAdiscussedwithMr.McKenziethenew
chargapendingagainstMr.IpveintheTownofDewitt,aswellasanaddiﬁonalchargeintheCity
ofSymcuseinvolvingaoomnerfeitcheck.&id.at'dsl.’l‘heassi@edADAadviseer.McKenzie
thathewouldgiveMr.Ipveonehstoppommitymtaketheoﬁginaloﬁ'erthathadbeenprwetnedw
him. See id. Mr. McKenzieadvisedhewantedtodiscuSSthisﬁnﬂzerwithMr. Love. Seeid. In
exchangeforthenewoﬁer,thcassignedADAinsistedthatthcplainﬁﬂ‘agreetoadjomnthe
pteliminaryheaﬁngintheTownofDewinandmmainincuswdy.&id. Mr. Love agreed and the
heuringwasadjourned. Seeid.

OnAugustll,2008,Mr.lpvewmtetotheTownofDewittJ\nstieeCourt,demandinstobe
releasedpmsuanttoCriminalecedmeLaW§l80.80.§gid. at Y83. On August 13, 2008, on the

record in the TownofDewiuJusticeCoun,Mr. McKenzie stated that Mr. Love, again, rejected the

ﬁPMﬁmmﬁﬁdmmemmmmw.Mcmﬁe. Seg Love dep. at p. 72.




plaintiff had committed a felony and Mr. Love was remanded into custody, without bail. Seeid. On

rejected this offer. See id. However, later the same day, Mr. McKenzie advised the assigned ADA
that Mr. Lovehadchangedhismindandwould,indee¢pleadguﬂty.§gid. The case was re-
scheduled before the Court later that afternoon. See id.

sentencehimtotwotofomyearsincarcerationandreleasehimﬁomjailpendinghissentencing
date. See id. Mr. Love pled guilty to Criminal Possession of a Forged Instrument in the Second
Degree (two counts), Grand Larceny in the Fourth Degree, and Scheme to Defraud in the Second
Degree. Mr. Love was given Qutley warnings and released from custody. The case was adjourned
to October 20, 2008, for sentencing. See id.

On September 16, 2008, the Court received a letter from Mr. Love, in which he demanded a
newattomeyandstatedmathe‘\wasforcedtopleadguiltytotheindictmentbydeceptionand
trickery and falsehoods of attorney Oscar McKenzie.” See id. at 186; Love dep. atp. 74. The Court
scheduled a Court date of September 19, 2008 to address this issue, See Trunfio 2009 at §86; Love
dep. at 75. At the September 19, 2008 Court appearance, Mr. McKenzie defended himself on the
record, stating that Mr. Love’s allegations were untrue. See Trunfio 2009 at 987. Mr. Love admitted
to the Counthatthelettermaynothavebeenenﬁmlyaccume.&id. Plaintiff Love testified that he
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did not ask to withdraw his plea. See Love dep. at p. 76. The Court relieved Mr. McKenzie as the
plaintiff’s attorney, and assigned ACP attorney Eric Jeschke to represent the plaintiff at sentencing.
See id.; Love dep. at p. 77.

On September 29, 2008, the assigned ADA spoke with attomey Jeschke about the case and
asked if he had any questions. See Trunfio dep. at 88. On November 3, 2008, Mr. Love was
sentenced to two to four years in State prison after admitting his status as a predicate felon. See id. at
989; Love dep. at p. 77. Mr. Jeschke stated that he reviewed the paperwork with Mr. Love and, in
good faith, could not find any additional motions to file on his behalf. See Trunfio 2009 at 89. On
November 11, 2008, the Syracuse Police Department filed a warrant charging Mr. Love with a new
criminal charge of stealing a check for $190.00 on October 17, 2008. See id. at 190; Love dep. at p.
78.

On November 24, 2008, Mr. Love wrote to the Court from State prison requesting that he
be allowed to plead guilty to the new charge and receive a concurrent sentence. See id. at §91. On
January 6, 2009, Mr. Love was transported from the State correctional facility, arraigned in Syracuse
City Court on the new charge, and held with no bail. See id. at §92. Attorney Eric Jeschke was
assigned to represent Mr. Love and represented him at arraignment. See id.; Love dep. at p. 78. On
January 9, 2009, Mr. Love pled guilty to a Superior Court Information that charged him with
Attempted Criminal Possession of a Forged Instrument in the Second Degree, an “E” felony, as a
result of the new charge. See Trunfio 2009 at §93; Love dep. at p. 78. The Court sentenced Mr.
Love to concurrent State time. See Trunfio 2009 at 93; Love dep. at pp. 78-79.

Mr. Love rejected the best offer made by the People, which was a plea to one E felony,
contrary to the advice of two ACP attorneys that he asked to be relieved from representing him. This
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refusal, coupled with his continuing to commit crimes, resulted in the much less favorable outcome
for Mr. Love, which had nothing to do with the representation provided to him. That said, ACP
counsel managed to obtain concurrent time on yet another felony charge filed after Mr. Love was
sentenced.

Plaintiff Love was not represented at his initial arraignment in the Town of Dewitt Court.
See Love dep. at p. 61. Plaintiff Love does not think that he was represented by counsel at his
arraignment on other charges in Syracuse City Court. See id. at P- 62. However, like plaintiffs
Adams and Briggs, plaintiff Love is not representative of the current City Court arraignment
program in Onondaga County. Notwithstanding, the remainder of plaintiff Briggs's complaints
are insufficient to establish that he was constructively denied the right to counsel. When viewed
in the light most favorable to plaintiff Love, plaintiff Love alleges that he was constructively
denied his right to counsel because (1) attorney Zuhker did not communicate with him enough
(2) his attorneys did not get him an acceptable plea bargain, (3) he was allegedly pressured into
pleading guilty and (4) attomney Zuhker did not investigate his case.

Plaintiff Love was represented by attorney Zuhker from September 12, 2007, see Trunfio
2009 at 760, until October 26, 2007. Sec id. at §67. During that approximate six week period, Mr.
Zuhker visited the plaintiff in jail one time, spoke to him on the phone one time and met him in
Court on two occasions. See Love dep. at p. 53. Duringtheonemeetingatthejailthatoccmeda
few days after his arraignment, plaintiff told Mr. Zuhker about his charges and his thoughts on the
case. Seeid. atp. 55-56, 57. This client communication far exceeds that in Zimmerman, which was
found not to constitute a constructive denial of the right to counsel. Zimmerman, 2011 US Dist
LEXIS at 86. Therefore, the communication between plaintiff Love and attorney Zuhker was
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Constitutionally sufficient.

Plaintiff appears to also allege that he was dissatisfied with the Plea offers negotiated by
his attorneys. However, the proof in this case is that plaintiffs ACP attorneys actively engaged
in plea negotiations and obtained offers for the lowest sentence available to a predicate felon
such as plaintiff Love. See Zuhker dep. at pp. 63, 67-68; Trunfio 2009 at 1Y66, 75, 77, 82, 85.
Therefore, plaintiff Love was not denied counsel during the plea negotiation stage of his criminal
proceeding. Instead, he was dissatisfied with the end results of his attorneys' efforts. This
allegation is one of ineffective assistance of counsel, and not justiciable herein. Moore at *28.

Plaintiff further alleges that he was forced j into taking the final plea by attorney
McKenzie. However, the proof in this case is that plaintiff Love was fully represented by
attomeysZuhkeranndKenz:edunngthepleabargmmngstageofhiscase. Plaintiff Love was
offered four different plea deals. See Trunfio 2009 at 162, 65, 70, 77, 80, 82, 85. When he
rejected them, attomey McKenzie conducted two pre-trial hearings and prepared for trial, See
Love dep. at pp. 72-73. Asamult,thereisnoproofinthiscasethatplaintiﬁ'[.ovewas
constructively denied his right to counsel by being "threatened" into taking a plea.

| Finally, plaintiff alleges that attorney Zuhker did not conduct any investigation into Mr,
Love's case. See Love dep. at p. 63. Mr. Love executed Miranda waivers and made two fuil
confessions to law enforcement, see Zuhker dep. at pp. 56, 103, 104, there was video of plaintiff
LoveatBestBuyusingtheforgedcheck,andwimesstwtimonyﬁom both the clerk at bank and
the clerk at Best Buy. See Zuhker dep. at p. 116. All of this evidencewasknowntoattomey
Zuhker, so he necessarily did some investigation to have learned this information. See id. There
is no evidence in this case that investigative decisions were made by attorneys Zuhker or
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McKenzie for any reasons other than strategic ones. Mr. Love's only basis for surmising that his
attorneys never did any investigation is that they never told him about any. See Love dep. at pp-
63-65.

However, in speaking to Mr. Love after he informed the Court that attorney McKenzie
forced him into taking a plea, the Court stated as follows:

___Mr. Love, first of all, I read this letter. And it's amazing to me
that you can allege in this letter what you have alleged, when
knowing, you know in your heart of heart that much of what's in
this letter is absolutely incorrect.

And one principal glaring issue, Mr. McKenzie failed to do any
inthigationormearchinmycasepriortomebeingforcedto
take the plea on August 15, 2008, in this Court.

Now, good lord, the records of this Court, on¢ of which has to do
with the very comprehensive, complete omnibus motions filed in
this Court by your attorney, Mr. McKenzie - and 'm not going to
goimotheentiremotion—-bmitstattsout,intermsofthe
sufficiency of the evidence based on [attorney McKenzie's] own
investigation in this case...

&McGowanaﬁ'.atExh.W,p.& TheCounthenmdintotherecordallofthefactsleamed
by attorney McKenzie, which constituted approximately three pages of the transcript from that
proceeding. See id. at pp- 6-9. The Court then continued

...yomattorneyclem'ly inthigatedd:iscaseandsubsequentto
that...[hemade]aseomprehensiveasanymotionl'veeverseen
-—andhereqnatedsomeheaﬁng.

We in fact held a hearing. You participated in that hearing. You
mﬁﬁedinthathearing.Anditisclearinthathearingthatknew
exactlywhatthiseasewasallabom.
Andyouwereeomestingtheadnﬁssibﬂityofthatstatemmt,that
youhndaskedforanattomey,bm...mefactspredieaﬁngthis
indicﬂnentﬂmtyouwereclem'lyawareof,infactyou...sayin
yomsmtementtomepoliceandinCourtthatyou[conmﬁttedthe
facts alleged in your crime}].
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Bm,asamultofyommomzy'shardworkandasamultofthat
hearing,thisCom‘trenderedadecisionsupprwsingtheuseofthat
statement,aswellassomeotherevideneethatldecidedwasthe
fruit of a poisonous tree.

So for you to say, Mr.Love, Mr. McKenzie failed to do any
invutigationormearchintomycasepriortomebeingforcedto
take the plea on August 15®, 2008, is not accurate. I'm not going
to use another term that I would like to use, but it was not accurate.
The Court records are clear on that.

See id. at pp.9-10.
TheCom'twentontosay".;.[y]omattomeymadeau'emendousamomtofeﬁ'ortto
settlethiscase,"andproeeededtoomlineallofthepleaoﬁ'ersmadetoplaintiﬁ'lnve. Seeid. at
p. 11. Continuing to speak about the extent of plea negotiations in plaintiff Love's case, the
Court stated
.. And there's no question in my mind at this point that . . . your
attomeygaveyoueveryopporumitytotalkabomthismatterand
diswssthismatter.Onceevenbeforethepleathetewasabmk..
.[and]youandyomaﬁomeyaskedforandtheComtgmnteda
recesssoyouco\ﬂdtalktohimabomthepossibilityofdisposing
all of [your] matters.
See id. at p. 24. HeADAthentOpmoeededtoputonthereoordallofhisdealingswithMr.
McKenzie on plaintiff's case. See id.
Basedontheacumlevideneeinthiscase,plainﬁﬁ'lovewasnotoonsuuctivelydeniedhis
right to counsel in the investigatory stage of his criminal proceeding. Maxon at **88-91; People
v, Jones, 186 CalAppéth 216, 242 (Cal. App. 1% Dist. 2010). Plaintiff Love cannot, therefore,
meethisthr&eholdburdenofestablishingtlmhewasconsmwﬁvelydeniedhisrighttooomsel.
See Kerwin aff. at Exh. K.
L] line Wink
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Jacqueline Winbrone was arrested on the charges of Criminal Possession of a Weapon in the
Second Degree after a loaded handgun was discovered in her vehicle by police on September 12,
2007, upon information provided by Ms. Winbrone’s husband. See Trunfio 2009 at 5. She was
arraigned with counsel, see Winbrone dep. at pp. 17-18, on September 13, 2007 and the Court set
bail in the amount of ten thousand dollars cash or bond. Ms. Winbrone did not make bail and was
remanded. See Trunfio 2009 at §6. Jacqueline Winbrone’s husband died on September 17, 2007.
See Trunfio 2009 at 7.

Onondaga County ACP attomey Tom Marris, a member of the Onondaga County ACP, was
appointed to represent Ms. Winbrone without Ms. Winbrone having to request an appointed
attorney, see Winbrone dep. at pp. 12-13, and first spoke to Ms. Winbrone on September 13,2007 —
the same day as her arraignment, see Marris dep. at p. 86, or September 18, 2007. See Winbrone
dep. at p. 21. Due to a scheduling conflict, Mr. Marris asked a colleague to appear with Ms.
Winbrone on September 17, 2007 and to waive the case for grand jury action. See Marris dep. at pp.
86-87. Ms. Winbrone called Mr. Marris's office directly and spoke to Mr. Marris on September 18,
2007 asking if she could go to her husband's funeral.* Se¢ Winbrone dep. at pp. 23, 26. Mr. Marris
had a teleconference on the case on September 20, 2007 with the ADA, see id. at p. 88, and called
the Court clerk on September 21, 2007 to schedule a bail review to attempt to get plaintiff Winbrone
released to go to her husband's funeral. See Marris id. at p. 88; Winbrone dep. at pp. 28-29. Upon
Mr. Marris’s bail review application on September 24, 2007, at which plaintiff Winbrone was
present, Ms. Winbrone’s bail was reduced to five thousand dollars cash or bond, but Ms. Winbrone
still could not make bail. See Trunfio 2009 at §8; Marris dep. at pp. 88-89; Winbrone dep. at pp. 29-

“thﬁﬁwmbmemﬁﬁedﬁmdwhaduiedmningm.MmﬁsbetweenSepwmbal3,2007mdSeptember18,
2007 but his ACP voice mailbox was always full. See Winbrone dep. at pp. 23-24.
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30. Plaintiff Winbrone does not recall what Mr. Marris said to the Court during the bail review
hearing. See Winbrone dep. atp. 34. She does recall Mr. Marris telling her at Court that day that she
was facing 3 ¥; years in prison. See Winbrone dep. at pp. 66-67.

Mr. Marris spoke®’ to Ms. Winbrone who informed Mr. Marris that the handgun was planted
in the plaintiff’s vehicle by her husband for purposes of having her arrested, and that the plaintiff’s
husband admitted this to his brother just before he passed away. See Trunfio 2009 at 19; Marris dep.
atpp. 90-91. Mr. Marris informed the assigned ADA of these allegations. See Marris dep. at pp. 90-
91. After the plaintiff wrote directly to the judge, the judge put plaintiff Winbrone's case on the
Court calendar. See Winbrone dep. at pp. 40-41, 43. Mr. Marris then appeared with Ms. Winbrone
for a Court appearance on November 1, 2007, which the Court adjourned to the next day so that the
ADA handling the case could be present. See¢ Marris dep. at pp. 92-93, 96. Based upon the
information that Mr. MarﬁspmentedwtheassignedADA,thedeoeased’sbmtherwasim“viewed.
See Trunfio 2009 at §10. After speaking with the deceased’s brother, the People agreed to Mr.
Marris’s request for pre-trial release for Ms. Winbrone on November 2, 2007. See Trunfio 2009 at
110; Marris dep. at pp. 97-98. Afier her release on November 2, 2007, plaintiff Winbrone next
communicated with Mr. MmﬁsathernmComappemancesomeﬁmeinNovember. See Winbrone
dep. at pp. 53, 58. A Court date in November 2007, before Thanksgiving, was adjourned at the
requstoftheADAbecauseshewaswaitingforanotarizedstatementﬁ'omthebmtherost.
Winbrone’s husband, stating that Mr. Winbrone had told his brother that he, in fact, had planted the
gun in Jacqueline Winbrone’s car so that she would get arrested and he could reunite with his family
before his death without her interference. See Trunfio 2009 at 111; Winbrone dep. at pp. 61, 62-63.




Plaintiff Winbrone never saw or spoke to Mr. Marris again after that pre-Thanksgiving 2007 Court
appearance. See Winbrone dep. at p. 64. However, upon the application and motion by Mr. Marris,
the charges against Ms. Winbrone were dismissed in the interest of justice on January 3, 2008. See
Trunfio 2009 at §12.

After receiving an eviction notice in October, plaintiff Winbrone was evicted from her
apartment before she was released on November 2, 2007. See Winbrone dep. at pp. 46-47, 48, 53.
When she was evicted, all of her property in the apartment was seized. See id. at p. 83.

Plaintiff Winbrone was arraigned with counsel and therefore was not denied her right to
counsel at arraignment. See Winbrone dep. at pp. 17-18. The remainder of plaintiff Winbrone's
complaints are insufficient to establish that she was constructively denied the right to counsel.
When viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff Winbrone, plaintiff Winbrone alleges that
she was constructively denied her right to counsel because (1) her attorney did not communicate
with her enough and (2) she was held in custody on a felony with no prior criminal record
because she could not make bail and therefore missed her husband's funeral and was evicted
from her apartment.

First, during the course of his representation of plaintiff Winbrone, attomey Marris spoke
to plaintiff Winbrone on the phone, see Winbrone dep. at pp. 23, 26, and met with plaintiff
Winbrone in Court at least three times. See Marris dep. at pp. 88-89, 92-93, 96-98 ; Winbrone
dep. at pp. 29-30. Attorney Marris obviously obtained enough information from plaintiff
Winbrone to make a bail application, see Marris dep. at pp. 88-89; Winbrone dep. at pp. 29-30,
provide the ADA information about plaintiff's husband admitting to planting the loaded weapon

in plaintifPs vehicle, see Marris dep. at pp. 90-91, and obtain pre-trial release for plaintiff
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Winbrone based on that information. See Marris dep. at pp. 97-98.

Apparently, since plaintiff Winbrone alleges that she was unable to reach attorney Marris
by phone between September 13, 2007 and September 17, 2007 — the day that her husband died
- and therefore the bail reduction hearing could have been done carlier, she alleges that she was
constructively denied counsel. See Winbrone dep. at pp- 23.24. While plaintiff may have
preferred more communication with attorney Marris, when viewed as a whole, there was
sufficient communication during the period between arraignment and the date that her charges
were dismissed — when they spoke once on the phone, sce Winbrone dep. at pp- 23, 26, and met
in Court at least three times, se¢ Marris dep. at pp. 88-89, 92-93, 96-98; Winbrone dep. at pp. 29-
30 -- that she was not constructively denied counsel during that period. Zimmerman at *11.

Plaintiff Winbrone alleges that she was constructively denied counsel because she was
notabletomakebailand,asaresult,missedherhusband'sﬁmeralandwasevictedfmmher
apartment. Importantly, plaintiff Winbrone was represented by counsel at her arraignment when
the initial bail was set. ThefactthattheComtsetbaildwpiteplnintiﬁ'havingno prior criminal
record, and setting it in an amount that plaintiff Winbrone could not afford, was not due to an
absence of counsel. Additionally, upon plaintiff's telephone request, attorney Marris asked the
Court clerk to schedule a bail reduction hearing, which was held on September 21, 2007. See
Marris id. at p. 88. At that bail review, plaintiﬁ'Winbtone's bail was cut in half. Se¢ Marris dep.
at pp. 88-89; Winbrone dep. at pp. 29-30. Plaintiff Winbrone still could not make bail. See
Winbrone dep. at pp. 29-30. Asamult,plaintiﬂ’sinabilitytomakebailwasnotduetoa
constructive denial of counsel.

Based on this evidence, plaintiff Winbrone cannot meet her threshold burden and
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establish that she was denied her right to counsel. See Kerwin aff. at Exh. K.

The plaintiffs must be held to their burden of proving that the named representative
plaintiffs actually suffered a denial of their right to counsel and, then, prove that such alleged
violations are illustrative of alleged Constitutional systemic actual or constructive denials of the
right to counsel in Ontario, Schuyler, Onondaga, Suffolk and Washington Counties. They must
connect the plaintiffs to their theories or proof, and they cannot do so. As discussed above at
length, the plaintiffs cannot establish that any plaintiff suffered a Constitutional denial of the
right to counsel. Having chosen the wrong plaintiffs, or the wrong Counties, to advance
plaintiffs' attempt at nreform," plaintiffs' counsel should not be given a pass for their failure to
produeeevidencemlaedwthacmaﬂyhappenedwtheplainﬁﬁ'smdwhNiswuﬂly
happeningintheCoxmtiw. Thisisthepaththattheplainﬁffs—notthedefenm—have
chosen, and the plaintiffs must be held to their burden under these self-created circumstances and
notbepermittedtomuddytherecordorcreateanirrelevantissueoffactby submitting and
relying on evidence unrelated to the plaintiffs to the Five Counties. As demonstrated by the
State defendants' submissions in support of their motion for summary judgment, and discussed
herein,thedeliveryofcriminalpublicdefenseservie&sindte five defendant Counties meets or
exceeds Constitutional standards. Therefore, on the law, the defendants should be granted
summary judgment and the second amended complaint should be dismissed in its entirety.

C. Plaintiffs Cannot Establish That Any Alleged Denials of Counsel Experienced By Them
Were Caused By Systemic Deficiencies

Asdiscussedmgeatlmgthabove,theplainﬁﬁ'smnmwablishthatmyofmmwete
consu-uctivelydeniedtheﬁghtmcounsel. Asarwult,thedefendantSareenﬁtledtosmnmary
judgment. However, even if the Court finds, inter alia, issues of fact as to whether the plaintiffs were
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constructively denied their right to counsel, the plaintiffs cannot establish that any such denials were
caused by widespread deficiencies in the indigent criminal defense systems in the Five Counties.
Instead,totheextentthatanyallegeddenialsmayhaveoocurred,thcywerecausedbythe
perfonnanceofattomeysorafailmebyaparticularCom-ttocomplywiththerequirementsofthe
Criminal Procedure Law.

Based on the complaint, the questions asked at depositions, and the thousands of documents
produced during discovery, it is anticipated that the plaintiffs will rely on alleged proof mostly, or
completely, unrelated to the plaintiffs, in an attempt to convince the Court that alleged system-wide
Constitutional deficiencies in the representation of indigent criminal defendants in the Five Counties
exist. However, plaintiffs' proffer will fail as a matter of law. They apparently hope to identify
aspectsofthepublicdefensesystemsintheFiveCounﬁuthat"couldbebetter"andconvincetbe
ComtthﬂsmhisamﬁsewthelmlofaComﬁmﬁondﬁihmmderejudicewcﬁmm
defendants may be presumed. However, as the Court of Appeals acknowledged might be the case
after factual development, "whatisreallyatissue[hm]iswhetherthereptesentationaﬂ‘orded[the
plaintiffs] was effective — a subject not properly litigated in this civil action.” Hurrell-Harring, at 15
NY3d at 23.

Plaintiﬂ‘smayoﬂ'er&eCoMsmﬁsﬁwmdscholmlyopinimsabomtheissmﬁstedabovem
an attempt to demonstrate a breakdown of the public defense systems in the Five Counties so severe
mm&gundefmdmﬁmeﬁwﬁvdygoingmemm&chmmmmusingmeomﬁcpmf
must fail because any alleged academic discourse about the provision of public defense services in
the Counties, that is belied by the actual experience of criminal defendants in the defendant
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Counties, is necessarily irrelevant. That is, first, the claim of constructive denial must be supported
by proof; second, that claim is actually contradicted by the evidence.

As set forth above, and was clear from the qu&gﬁons asked at depositions and the
thousands of documents requested by the plaintiffs, it appears that plaintiffs may attempt to
convince the Court that the existence of issues, considered either singly or in conglomeration,
namely (1) allegedly excessive caseloads, (2) lack of communication between attorneys and
clients, (3) an alleged lack of experts, investigators and other resources, (4) attorney conflicts of
interest, (5) unsupervised attorneys and (6) untrained or inexperienced attorneys, has created
circumstances in the Five Counties in which indigent criminal defendants are being
constructively denied counsel. However, the proof on these issues fails to establish a systemic
constructive denial of the right to counsel in any of the Five Counties.

Moreover, plaintiffs cannot establish a constructive denial claim with respect to Ontario
Cotmtybecausetherearenoplaintiffsinthiscaserepmentaﬁveoftheindigentcriminaldefense
system in Ontario County. The two Ontario County plaintiffs who appeared for their depositions
- plaintiffs Loyzelle and Steele — were represented by members of the Ontario County ACP
which operated as that County’s provider of indigent legal services at the time that the allegations
contained in the second amended complaint occurred. However, since the commencement of
this litigation, Ontario County has instituted a PD Office to provide indigent criminal legal
services. Thereisnoplainﬁﬁ'inthiscasethmisrepmenmﬁveoftherepmentaﬁoncmrenﬂy
being provided in Ontario County under its current system. As a result, the second amended
complaint fails to allege any systemic problems with the current public defense system in

Ontario County.
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1. Caseloads

Although caseloads that compel a public defense attorney to "choose between the rights
of the various indigent defendants he or she is representing” constructively denies that attorney's
clients of the right to counsel, In re. Edward S., 173 CalApp4th 387, 414 (Cal. App. 1* Dist.
2009), there are no bright lines to be drawn in determining the level at which a caseload becomes
excessive. In United States v. Rundle, 434 F2d 1112 (3d Cir. 1970), the Third Circuit noted that
caseloads of 600-800 cases per year, and 40-50 cases per day could be the reason for an attomey
not being able to provide competent representation. Id. at 1115. However, in Griffin v, Aiken,
775 F2d 1226 (4" Cir. 1985), the Court found that counsel who had between 100 and 140 other
cases pending at the same time as the defendant's case did not deny his client the right to counsel.
Id. at 1229-30.

There is no evidence that the caseloads in the Five Counties are excessive or affect
attorneys' representation of clients. Plaintiffs allege that any indigent criminal defense attorneys
who carry caseloads in excess of the 1973 national caseload standards - namely in excess of 400
misdemeanors or 150 felonies annually — run the risk of denying counsel to their clients. Yet, of
significance, OILS Director, William Leahy — a strong advocate for improving the quality of
legal services provided to the indigent — testified that that the national standards for caseloads
are not "magical”becausethetyp&sofcaswbeinghandlednecessarﬂyinﬂuencahowmuchofa
caseloadmaﬁomeycanhmdlemdsﬁﬂpmvidequaﬁtymprwentaﬁon,mdthﬂpmdmg
caseloads, as opposed to annual caseloads, are better indicators of an attorney’s ability to provide
quality representation. See Leahy dep. at p. 132. The touted national caseload standards of 400
misdemeanors/150 felonies yearly are not indicative of what an attorney’s caseload is at any

117



given time. See Leahy dep. at pp. 132-35. Director Leahy testified that such inflexible numbers
"are unintelligible by definition. They don’t take account of vastly different circumstances under
which cases come up nor the efficiency of the local Court system nor the plea bargaining
practices of the local prosecutor nor a million other things." See Leahy dep. at pp. 132-33.

Notwithstanding, OILS endeavored to examine the caseloads of the State’s institutional
indigent criminal defense providers — PD Offices, LASs and Conflict Defender Offices® - using
self-reported County data. According to that study, Ontario, Schuyler and Washington® Counties
are in compliance with the national standards. The proof in this case also establishes that the
caseloads in these three Counties fall below what the plaintiffs contend is some kind of
Constitutional benchmark.

In Ontario County, PD Leanne Lapp endeavors to keep each APD's caseload at or under 400
misdemeanors/violations and 150 felonies per year, see Lapp dep.”® at p. 112, and also tries to keep
the caseloads of the APDs as even as possible. See id. at p. 113. She monitors caseloads by
periodically having her secretary run reports of how many cases each APD has handled and is
handling. Seeid. at p. 119. When PD Lapp notices that an APD's caseload is getting too large, she
adjusts assignments. See id. at pp. 131-32. As recently as November 1, 2012, PD Lapp rearranged
what Courts the APDs covered, in part, to redistribute the caseloads because two of the justice Court

APDs were approaching 400 misdemeanors/violations for the year. See id. at p. 127.

68 The study did not include the caseloads of ACP panel members. Se¢ Kerwin aff. at Exh. X.
69 The data on Washington County is not as current as that of the other Counties. See Kerwin aff. at Exh. X.
70 "Lapp dep." refers to the transcript of the October 26, 2012 deposition of Leanne Lapp, the relevant portions of
which are annexed as Exhibit F to the Munkwitz affirmation.
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At the time of his deposition in October 2012, Ontario County APD Lorge had handled
approximately 100 cases that year and had approximately 60 open cases. See Lorge dep.” at p. 64.
Also in October 2012, APD Porter had approximately 100 open misdemeanor cases, see Porter
dep.”™ at p. 23, and APD Conklin had 118 open misdemeanor cases, See Conklin dep.” at p. 30.

In Schuyler County, the two attorneys in the PD Office handie approximately 400 cases per
year, see Roe dep.” at p. 96, and the Conflict Defender handles less cases than the attorneys in the
PD Office. See Corradini dep.™ atp. 42. In Washington County, there are twenty-six local Courts,
andeachattomeyinthePDomceisassignedspeciﬁc local Courts for handling. See Mercure dep.
at pp. 20-23; DeClaro-Drost dep. at p. 14. The PD, himself, has one or two felonies open at any
given time and handles about two cases a month in one town Court. Seeid. at 21-22.

The Chief APD handles primarily felonies and a few local Court assignments, see Mercure dep. at
Pp- 19-20, and three full-time APDs cover local Courts, but generally follow a case that moves up to
County Court. Seeid. at pp. 21-22. Another part-time APD also covers some local Courts. See id.

Each APD's assignments are adjusted as needed to ensure even caseloads. See Mercure
dep. at p. 100. AtleasttwiceayearAPDsateaskedtoreponontheircaseloadsothatthePD
can assess assignments and ensure that nobody is overloaded. See Mercure dep. at pp. 129-30.
Chief APD Morris typically has about 35 to 45 open cases, with approximately eighty percent of
them being felonies. See Morris dep. at P- 34. The other APD who testified during discovery

71 'Lorgedep.'nferswdxeuanscriptoﬁheOcmbe29,201 depositionof.lonaﬂmnborge,d!elelevmtponiom
of which are annexed as Exhibit G to the Munkwitz A ion.
nTowdep.'n&rswmeﬂansaiptofmemm,zon deposiﬁonomedleyPoﬂer,thenlevantpozﬁonsof
which are annexed as Exhibit to the Munkwitz Affirmation,
73"Conklindep.“nﬁstothemiptofthe0ctoW30,20|2deposiﬁonofPatickConklin,ﬂnenlevam
pmﬁonsofwlﬁchmannexedasﬁxhibirl{mﬂwMunkwitzAﬁmation.
74'Roedq).'teﬁuswﬂ:euanscriptoftheOmber%,ZOIZdeposiﬁonoowleyRoe,lhemlevamponionsof
which are annexed as Exhibit G to the Rutnik Affirmation.
75 "Colradinidep."mfaswdwuamaiptofdwOmberzs,ZOIZdeposiﬁonofPaulComdhLmemlwam
portionsofwhichareannexedasﬁxhibitEwtheRumikAﬂimation.
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stated that he generally carries approximately a dozen open felony cases, and 60 - 70
misdemeanor cases. See Cioffi dep. at p. 26. However, that caseload includes several
Aggravated Unlicensed Operation of a Motor Vehicle ("AUO") charges, which are frequently
adjourned so that a defendant can clear up the underlying issue, such as payment of fines, and do
not require a lot of investigation or time. See id. at p. 25.

The ABA caseload standard of 400 misdemeanors is not of particular relevance to Suffolk
County, where between 25 percentand40percentofana1tomcy’scaselodconsistsofmisdﬁneanor
aggravated unlicensed operation charges, which are resolved with very little work necessary. See
Caponi dep.” at p. 170. Therefore, LAS considers an attorney’s ability to handle a high volume of
cases,thetypwofcas&sthatsheorheishandlingaswellasthenumberofcas&sthatattomeyis
handling when monitoring attorneys' caseloads. See id. at pp. 170-71. LAS attomeys in Suffolk
County District Court appear before one judge in one Courtroom, dealing with the same clients over
and over again. See id. at p. 52. As a result, each District Court LAS attorney is able to triage
matters and efficiently handle each one, despite a higher caseload in District Court. Seeid. atp. 52.
Notwithstanding, the LAS Director of Training and Education tracks the attorneys' misdemeanor
caseloadsbyhavingthecalendarﬁomeachComompﬁntedonamonthlybasis. See id. at p.
158. If there is a substantial spike in the number of LAS cases in one Courtroom, LAS will assign
another LAS attorney to that Courtroom. See id. at p- 160.

Suﬂ'olkCoMyLASassignseachComComtmomeywtwohalfpartssothateach
judge's LAS caseload is handled by two attorneys relatively equally. See Vitale dep. atp. 35. The

twoLASauomeysassignedwaCountyComtjudge'sComuoommfamiﬁarwitheachothefs

76'Caponidep.'nﬁlstodteumaiptofﬂw0wber l7,2012deposiﬁonof$abatoCaponi,lheteleva:uponions
ofwhichmannexedasﬁxhibitﬁmdtebvorinmm
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cases and can cover the case if necessary. See id. at pp. 35-36. LAS attorneys in a judge's
Courtroom are alternately assigned cases so that the caseloads between them stay relatively equal.
&id.atpp.40—41.LASmonitorstheCotmtyCom‘tcaseloadmonﬂllyandadjuststhanifneomary
to equalize them. Seg id. at pp. 40, 42-43; Schick dep. at pp. 12-13. The caseloads among the LAS
attorneys covering the County Courts can differ because some judges move cases along more
quickly, while others drag them out. See Vitale dep. at p. 41. However, the average caseload per
LASattomeyinCountyComtisappmximatelySOopenéasw,allofwhichareatdiﬁ'erentstagwof
the process. See Vitale dep. at p. 41; Schick dep. at pp. 11-12. Out of the average 50 cases,
approximately 10 could be violations of probation, which are not very labor intensive. See Vitale
dep. at p. 42. In addition, another 15 of the open cases could be awaiting sentencing, and therefore
the labor-intensive part of the case is over. See id. at p. 42. As a result, the LAS County Court
attorneys average approximately 25 cases that receive daily attention. See id.. at p. 42; Schick dep.
at p. 12. Generally, case assignments are distributed evenly, unless an extremely serious case comes
in. hthosecﬁcmsmnce&meeaseisassignedmmanomeymwreswdhthembjeamanamone
who has more seniority. See Schick dep. at 16.

Caseloads do not keep LAS attorneys from providing adequate and Constitutional
representation. See Gomes dep. at pp. 57-58; Monastero dep. at pp. 83, 85. If an LAS attorney gets
boggeddownbecm:seheorshehassomepaxﬁcularlydiﬁc\ﬂtcas&,LASwillassignthenextbatch
ofcasesthatwouldtypicallybeassignedtothatattomeytoherorhisCoumoompamer. See Vitale
dep. at p. 46. Whenanammeyispreparhgtogoonuial,sheorhewillberelievedfromcoveringa
Courtroom to devote her or his time to trial preparation. See id. at p. 46.
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In Onondaga County, ACP attorneys may not be assigned more than sixty felony cases ina
one year time period, excepting assignment on new charges for defendants an attorney currently
represents. See Captor 2009 at {17; Captor dep. at p. 92. There isno similar cap on the number of
misdemeanor cases that an ACP attorney can handle. See Captor 2009 at J18; Captor dep. at p. 93.
Instead, the ACP relies on each attorney’s professional judgment and considerations of ethical
standards regarding client representation for the self-monitoring of his or her caseload. Se¢ Captor
2009 at §18. Pursuant to those considerations, it is expected that an attorney will refuse a case ifhe
orshedoesnothavethetimetodevotetoit.§gCaptor2009a11ll9; Captor dep. at p. 96. This
guideline is communicated to ACP attorneys in the Appendix of the ACP handbook where attorneys
are directed as follows:

Experience and Caseload

1. Do not accept an assignment unless you have available sufficient time,

resources, knowledge and experience to offer quality representation to the

client in that particular matter.

2. Ifit later appears that counsel is unable to offer quality representation

in the case, counsel should move to withdraw...
See Captor 2009 at 120; McGowan aff. at Exh. M. In fact, it has been stated that a "public
defender who believes there is a genuine basis upon which to make such withdrawal motion, but
fails to do so, participates in the denial of his or her client's Sixth Amendment rights.” Jones at
243.

Testimony from ACP attorneys shows that the Experience and Caseload directive is being
followed. For example, David Zuhker and Thomas Marris, both of whom devote 70% of their legal

piacticetocriminaldefensework,haveneverreﬁnsedanassignmanbecauseofﬂ:eircaseloads‘&
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Zuhker dep. at p. 88; Marris dep. at p. 124.” Similarly, Donald Kelly, a practitioner who only takes
criminal cases, has never refused an assignment. See, Kelly dep. at p. 7.™® Attomeys are presumed to
follow the ethical standards and rules of the legal profession, Matter of Rowe, 80 NY2d 336, 340
(1992), and therefore, it must be trusted that these ACP attorneys, as well as all others, self-monitor
their caseloads to ensure that they do not become too busy to provide clients meaningful and
effective representation.

This evidence of the actual caseloads of the indigent criminal defense attorneys in the Five
Counties establishes that (1) the caseloads in the Five Counties are not excessive and (2) the
representation provided to indigent criminal defendants is not negatively impacted by caseloads. In
addition, as discussed above, no plaintiff's representation was affected in any way by an attorney’s
caseload.

Based on the evidence in the record of this case, the plaintiffs cannot establish that the
indigent defendants in the Five Counties are at risk of being denied the right to counsel because of
excessive caseloads.

2. Communication

Throughout the testimony of the twelve plaintiffs who appeared for depositions, it was
apparent that the plaintiffs' chief complaint was that their appointed attorneys did not
communicate with them to the extent that they wished. However, "the Sixth Amendment does

not guarantee a 'meaningful relationship between an accused and his counsel.”™ Knight at *53.

77 "Zuhker dep.” refers to the transcript of the September 26, 2012 deposition of David Zuhker, the relevant
portions of which are annexed as Exhibit L to the McGowan Affirmation. “"Marris dep.” refers to the transcript of
the October 4, 2012 deposition of Thomas Marris, the relevant portions of which are annexed as Exhibit J to the
McGowan Affirmation.
78 "Kelly dep.” refers to the transcript of the October 2, 2012 deposition of Donald Kelly, the relevant portions of
which are annexed as Exhibit K to the McGowan Affirmation.
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*There is no required minimum number of meetings between counsel and client.” 1d. at fn 33.
"To require a particular number of meetings between counsel and client would establish a
mechanical rule” contrary to the flexibility specifically provided in Strickland. Byas v. Keane,
1999 US Dist LEXIS 12315, *14 (SDNY 1999).

Only a "a complete breakdown in communications’" between an attorney and client can
violate the Sixth Amendment. Dolab v. Donelli, 2010 US Dist LEXIS 137406, *56. (EDNY
2010). Courts have found that as long as an attorney and client can speak at Court appearances,
the communication is Constitutionally acceptable. Ping v. Willingham, 746 FSupp2d 496, 500
(SDNY 2010) (defendant's claim that counsel inadequately consulted with her before and during
u'ialwasrejectedbecauseshewaspmentwithcounsel all throughout the trial); U.S. v.
Nuglovic, 2006 US Dist. LEXIS 901 13, 37-39 (SDNY 2006).

In Zimmerman v. Davis, 2011 US Dist LEXIS 34490 (ED Michigan 2011), the criminal
defendant alleged that his (retained) attorney only met with him "for brief periods of time before
trial," never took defendant's phone calls, never responded to defendant's letters and never met
with the client in jail to "discuss evidence and trial strategy.” Id. at *6. Since the Cronic
standatd"appliwonlyincas&sinwhichalawyer fails to carry out his most basic duties as an
advocate,” defendant was not found to have been constructively denied the right to counsel
because counsel met with the defendant at least four times "in the attorney interview rooms in
the bullpen area,” and met with the defendant in jail one time. Id. at *10. The Court found that,

sincecomselﬁledanoticeofalibidefenseandarguedthatdefenseattrial,arguedtwopretrial

thjmmmﬂdmMC&.mmtheMMdmewasnotawmplctebmkdownin
mmmmﬁmwwmﬁﬂwmselmdcﬁmmdmughmededweloped'hmcmihbledim'
mmmmmmwmom-mmmewmmmm
anomeywhomdasmecondnitfwcommmieaﬁonbetweenanomeymdchenh Id. at 887.
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motions and cross-examined the prosecution’s witnesses, he necessarily had to have discussed
the merits of defendant's case with the defendant at some point. Id. at *11. Although the
defendant "clearly desired more contact with his retained attorney" the Court held that the
defendant was constructively denied counsel. ]d.

In Scott v. McDaniel, 146 Fed Appx 877, 877 (9™ Cir. 2005), the defendant and his
assigned counsel "were involved in an irreconcilable conflict and could not communicate.” Id.
The Court held that the inability to communicate was not a constructive denial of defendant's
right to counsel because "an exchange of information" between the defendant and counsel did
take place. ]d. at 878. Specifically, the defendant was able to tell counsel his version of events,
discuss witnesses, trial strategy, whether the defendant should testify and whether a juror should
be removed. Id. In addition, counsel's investigator was able to interview witnesses. In these
circumstances, defendant was not denied his right to counsel even though he did not otherwise
communicate with his attorey. Id. at 879.

As discussed above, none of the plaintiffs experienced a lack of communication with
counsel that even approached the level of an unconstitutional total breakdown of communication.
Although they all would have preferred more communications with their attorneys, it was not
Constitutionally required. Zimmerman at **10-11. Notwithstanding, all Five Counties provide
for more than adequate methods of communication between indigent criminal defense attorneys
and their clients.

Pursuant to Ontario County PD Office policy, APD:s are to visit an incarcerated client
within24hoursofassignment,andthenvisithimorherevexytwo weeks even ifthereisnothing
new to report. See Lapp dep. at p. 213; Munkwitz aff. at Exh. R. Inmates at the Ontario County
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Jail may fill out a slip requesting an attomey visit, and those requests are received by the PD
Office two times per day. See Porter dep. at p. 84. PD Lapp monitors every inmate visit request
that is received from the Jail and ensures that each one is timely acted upon. See Lapp dep. at p.
216. APDs are also required to return all calls and answer all letters from clients. See id. at p.
213.

It is the policy of the Schuyler County PD Office that the Chief PD and APD meet with their
clients immediately after assignment. See Mosher 2008 at {1 2; Roe dep. at p.195. The Schuyler
County PD Office is located on the same street block as the County jail, and the close proximity
aﬁoﬂsmedefmxmomeysdaﬂyamwmwcemdclimifmwsuy,mdpamimmmeys
to immediately respond to incarcerated clients if requested. See Mosher 2008 at §15. The jail gives
attomeysacowstotheirclients24homsaday.&koe2009at1[9.

ThereisalsoadirecttelephonelineﬁomtheCountyjailtothePDOﬁicethatinmat&s
canuseatanytimetoeontacttheirattomeysforquwﬁonsand/orrequ&etstomeet.ggMosher
2008 at §15. Ifthesecretaryisnotabletotakethecachli@caﬂsaredimctedtoananswering
machine. Se¢ Orr dep. at p. 150. If a client is housed in another facility, the office is set up to
accept collect calls. Seeid. atp. 151. Generally, if a client calls from the jail, an attorney will
visit the client the same day or the next one. See id. at p. 152. The Public Defender and his staff
workdiligentlytoteunnphonecallsandmakesmetheirjobsm'edoneproperly. See id. at p. 93.
Inaneﬁ'orttokeepinbettertouchwithitsclients,thel’ublicDefender'soﬁicekeepsarecordof
clients' email addresses and cell phone numbers for text messaging. See Orr dep. at p. 70.

InWashingtonConmty,thePDOﬁeeisequippedwithphonclinwthatallowincarcerated

clients to call from the Washington County Jail without having to call collect. See DeClaro-Drost
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dep. at p. 43; Mercure dep. at p. 116. The PD Office has an answering machine for clients to leave
messages. See DeClaro-Drost dep. at p. 85. APDs regularly contact their clients by phone, office
visits, jail visits and in Court. Se¢ Morris dep. at p. 68; Cioffi dep. at pp-37-38. PD Mercure insists
that his APDs visit and/or return the phone calls of their clients in jail. See Mercure dep. at p. 116.

As an example of the level of communication between APD and client, when APD Cioffi is
assignedacase,hetalkstotheclient,totheDAand,iftheclientisincarcerated,toAlternative
Sentencing.®® See id. at p. 40. These conversations sometimes lead to a client being released on
house arrest instead of bail, and therefore reduces the length of time spent incarcerated. Seeid. atp.
4.

In Suffolk County, LAS attorneys communicate with their clients by telephone, in Court, at
jail and by video hookup. See Vitale dep. at p.62. At arraignment, each defendant is given a slip of
paperoontaininstheLAStelephomnumber,theassignedattomey,theassignedjudgeandthenm
Courtdate. See id. at pp. 63-64. Clients are able to call directly to their assigned LAS attorneys and
leave voicemails if the attorney is not available.*' See id. at p. 63.

LASattomeysassignedtoaclientwhohasbeenxemandedvisittheclientinjailverysoon
after the arraignment. See id. at pp. 62-63. Inmates in custody in the Suffolk County Jail may make
telephonecallswhencvertheyarewtoftheireellsfmm&OOamto 10:00 pm to anyone that is
subscribed to a third-party telephone service. See McCarthy dep. at pp. 47-49. Inmates who do not
haveaccwstothethird—partytelephoneservicemayealltheirattomeysusingthetelephonesinthe
rehabilitation unit of the Jail. See id. at pp. 49-50. Inmates are also allowed to send and receive

wmmwmmawmmcmmmmmwm
defuﬂaﬂmdﬁmmhumendaﬁmm&whe&er&embahigh.modan&mbwﬂighﬁskmd
whahathefndigibhﬁorhmemeﬁmebeumiemi&ﬁn&ﬁgﬁoﬁdw.ﬂw.ﬂ#.
81 Some clients call more than five times per day. See Vitale dep. at p. 63.
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mail. Seeid. at p. 51. Attorney visits at the Suffolk County Jail are permitted from 8:30 to 4:30 on
weekdays, and by appointment on weekends. See id. at pp. 26-27. There are no time restraints on
attorney visits. See id. at pp. 25-26. In addition, inmates are permitted to receive documents from
their attomeys and keep the documents in their cells. See id. at pp. 57-58.

To communicate with clients who are in custody using the video conferencing system,
the LAS attorney calls the Sheriff's Department and schedules a time for the conference, which
usually ocours within twenty minutes. See Vitale dep. at p. 67. The video conferencing system
was instituted as a way to communicate with in-custody clients between arraignment and clients’
next Court date. See Caponi dep. at pp. 120-26. Since recently, LAS attorneys sat in
arraignment Court for one week on a rotating basis, making post-arraignment contact with new
clients arraigned during that week difficult to impossible. See id. at pp. 119-20. Therefore, LAS
has one attorney dedicated as the "video-conferencing attorney” to contact each in-custody LAS
client, via videoconference, the day after her or his arraignment to get information about the
case. See id. at p. 120. To initiate a video-conference, an attorney simply calls the jail and tells
them with whom he or she wants to speak. The jail advises the inmate, sets up the call and
bﬁngstheinmatetothevideo—conferencemomsotheinmatecanmakethecall. See Mitchell
dep. at p. 286.

In Onondaga County, the ACP has a voice mail system so that clients can leave messages for
their assigned lawyers. See Captor 2009 at 136; Captor dep. at p. 109. Each assigned counsel
member has his or her own voice mailbox so that any messages left by clients are kept confidential
and not heard by any one other than the assigned attorney. See Captor 2009 at {37; Captor dep. at p.

109. ThisvoioemnilsystemwassetuptoeradicateproblemscamedbytheOnondagaCountyJail
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requiring all calls from inmates to be made collect using several different providers, some of which
were unable to accept collect calls from the jail system. See Captor 2009 at §38. ACP does
reimburse attorneys for collect calls accepted from the jail, but the voice mailboxes are free calls
from the jail, see Captor dep. at p. 109, and relieves the ACP attomeys from having to navigate the
confusing telephone billing issues. See Captor 2009 at 138. Additionally, panel attorneys are
provided with a list of telephone numbers that directly reach every pod in the Onondaga County Jail
so that attorneys can leave messages for clients. See Klein dep. at pp. 99-100.

Each housing unit in the Jail has a telephone, which inmates can use to make a collect
call at any time. See Greco dep. at pp. 16, 18, 21. In addition, an inmate may fill out a "referral
form" to make a non-collect call from another telephone, see Greco dep. at pp. 22-23, and no
record is kept of how many times an inmate submits a referral form. See id. at p. 50. The Jail
posts a list of telephone numbers that are a free call from the Jail, including calls to the ACP
voicemail system. See id. at pp. 24-27. There is also a mailbox in every housing unit in the jail,
andmailgetspickedupeverydayexceptweekendsandholidays. See id. at pp. 55, 60.

Basedontheevideneeintherecordofthiscase,theplaintiﬁ'scannotestablishthatthe
indigent defendants in the Five Counties are at risk of being denied the right to counsel because
of the inability of indigent criminal defendants to communicate with their attorneys in a
Constitutionally sufficient manner.

3. Conflicts of Interest

Onlyanactml,asopposedtoapotential,conﬂictofinterwtconsmlctivelydaﬁesa
defendant the right to counsel. Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 US 335, 350 (1980). "An attorney has an
actual,asopposedtoapotential,conﬂictofintexwtwhen,duringthecomseoftherepmentation,
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the attorney’s and defendant's interests 'diverge with respect to a material factual orlegal issucortoa
course of action.” Knight at *38. See also People v. Payton, 100 AD3d 786, 787 (2d Dept 2012).

The individual plaintiffs cannot establish any substantive conflict issue with respect to their
own representation - let alone a systemic constructive issue in any of the counties. As discussed
above, no representative plaintiff, other than Candace Brookins - who failed to attend her deposition
and for whom allegations in the second amended complaint should be stricken -- was initially
represented by an attorney who previously represented a witness in plaintiff Brookins' case. See
Kerwin aff. at Exh. A, J223. Inanyevent,therearenoallegations,andisnopmof,thattheﬁrst
attorney assigned to represent plaintiff Brookins had an actual, as opposed to a potential, conflict of
interest. Therefore, it would be found that plaintiff Brookins' claim of a conflict of interest did not
constructively deny plaintiff Brookins the right to counsel if it was still before the Court. In
addition, none of the plaintiffs that appeared for their depositions, other than plaintiff Habshi, were
repmentedbyﬂleconﬂictsysteminhisorherCounty.Asamult,thereisnoplaintiﬁ'
representative of problems with the conflict determination or representation in the Five Counties
except, arguably, Washington County.

Notwithstanding, all Five of the Counties have conflict systems in place. In Ontario County,
the APD to whom a case is assigned is responsible for identifying any conflicts involved with the
representation of a defendant. See Lapp dep. atp. 85. To do so, the APD is expected to identify any
co-defendants and learn the identities of informants, witnesses and other people involved in the case.
Seeid. at pp. 84-85. Moreover, the Ontario County PD Office Case Management Software ("CMS")
assists in identifying any potential conflicts. See id. at Pp- 86-87. An office specialist inputs the
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complainant and witness information for each case into the database, and is alerted if the PD Office
has an open case with any of those individuals. See id.

Ontario County contracts with the Ontario County Bar Association annually to provide
conflict defense services through the Ontario County ACP, with the County Administrator signing
the contract on behalf of the County. See Garvey dep. at p. 19. Once a conflict is identified by the
PD Office, an office specialist sends the case to the ACP to assign representation for that defendant
by faxing the ACP that person's eligibility and charging documents. See Lapp dep. at pp. 88-89. As
of October 2012, approximately 11% of the cases that came into the PD Office in 2012 constituted a
conflict. Seec Lapp dep. at p. 44.

In Schuyler County, attorneys in the PD Offfice are responsible for identifying any conflict of
interest in a case. See Roe dep. at p. 84. If a conflict is identified, then the case is passed onto the
Schuyler County Conflict Defender.*? See id. at pp. 57, 84. The Conflict Defender’s caseload has
never been such that he was too busy to take on a conflict case. See Corradini dep. at p. 24. The
current Conflict Defender has been practicing law for over 40 years, with experience handling
criminal cases at the U.S. Department of Justice, the Chemung District Attorney’s Office, the
Chemung PD Office, and in private practice. See Corradini dep. at p. 10. It is a less than full time
position that pays $30,000 per year plus expenses. See id. at pp. 9, 11. The Conflict Defender is
independent of the PD Office and often serves as the adversary to the PD in family Court cases. See
Roe dep. at p. 57. Sometimes the Conflict Defender serves as counsel for a co-defendant of a PD

criminal client. Seeid. atp. 57. The Schuyler County Conflict Defender handles fewer cases than

82 ;£ the Conflict Defender has a conflict or is otherwise unable to take the case, then the case is referred to an attomey
on the assigned counsel list. See Roe dep. at pp. 58, 120. Assigned counsel attorneys take approximately 60-70 cases a
ywinSchuylerCmnny,annmbcnhmhmﬁsensincemeZOOSchmgeinadministmionandanovetallincreasein
pmonsapplyingfortheservicesofﬁae?ublicbeﬁender. See Orr dep. at p. 63.
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the PD Office, but they include a broad array of cases in a variety of Courts within Schuyler County.
Seeid. at p. 42.

Suffolk County contracts with the Suffolk County Bar Association to provide conflict
representation through an ACP (also referred to as an "18b panel”). See N.Y. County Law 722(3).
To identify conflicts of interest between LAS attorneys and clients in Suffolk County, each LAS
attorney runs his or her caseload through the LAS WebCrims software, which alerts attorneys if a
client has another case pending. See¢ Caponi dep. at p. 180. Attorneys also run the names of co-
defendants through WebCrims to identify any conflicts. See id. at p. 181. When a conflict is
identified, it is brought to the judge's attention by the LAS attorney who asks that an ACP panel
member be assigned. See id. at p. 157. When a conflict is identified by LAS, a request is made to
the judge to appoint an attorney from the Suffolk County ACP panel to represent the defendant. See
Besso dep. at p. 37.

In Washington County, if there is a conflict of interest prohibiting representation of a client,
the PD Office administrator assigns an outside attorney from the Washington County ACP panel. In
order to get on that list, the attorney must provide a resume with their experience in criminal law.
See DeClaro-Drost dep. at p. 49, 54. When there is a conflict, PD Mercure and the office
administrator select an appropriate attorney from a list of eligible attorneys maintained by the office.
See Mercure dep. at p. 102. Attorneys are chosen based upon their appropriateness for a case. For
example, an attorney who does not handle felonies would not be assigned a felony case. See id. at

pp. 102-103.
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In Onondaga County, the individual private attorneys assigned cases through the ACP® are
responsible — as they are for every client, including retained ones — for determining whether he or
she has a conflict of interest representing a particular client on a particular matter.®

Based on the evidence in the record of this case, the plaintiffs cannot establish that the
indigent defendants in the Five Counties are at risk of being denied the right to counsel because of a
systemic lack of conflict standards.

4. Experts, Investigators and Other Resources

"The United States Supreme Court has said that counsel need not undertake exhaustive
witness investigation. The question is not ‘what is prudent or appropriate, but only what is
Constitutionally compelled." Drake v, LaValley, 2010 US Dist LEXIS 19788, * 32 (NDNY
2010). As stated above, what is Constitutionally compelled to satisfy that an attorney has
provided Constitutionally adequate representation is a duty "to make reasonable investigations or
to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” Strickland, 466
US at 691. Strategic decisions about what to investigate, and to what extent, are analyzed under
the ineffective assistance of counsel standard, and not the Cronic constructive denial of counsel
standard. Ramirez v. US, 898 FSupp2d 659, 665-66 (SDNY 2012).

In People v, Jones, 186 CalApp4th 216 (Cal. App. 1* Dist. 2010), defendant's attorney
did not use an investigator before defendant's suppression hearing because his office only had

one investigator for twelve attorneys so he and the investigator had to "prioritize™ which cases

83 For example, plaintiff Love’s attorney testified that he performs conflict checks as soon as possible after he
receives an assignment using case management software. Sgg Zuhker dep. at p. 88.

84 Specifically, it is expected that an ACP attomey “shall not represent a client if a reasonable lawyer would
conclude that either: (1) the representation will involve the lawyer in representing different interests; or (2) there is a
significant risk that the lawyer's professional judgment on behalf of a client will be adversely affected by the
lawyer’s own financial, property or other personal interests.” See NY Rule of Professional Conduct 1.7(a).
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would get investigative services. Id. at 229. As a result, defendants facing charges more serious
than those facing the defendant got the services of the investigator. Id. at 239. The Court found
that counsel's failure to have a trained investigator interview witnesses and take professional
photographs constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. at 242. In addition, the Court held
that

[t]o the extent [counsel's] failure to seek investigative assistance

was the result of the excessive caseload of the sole investigator

made available to the county, [counsel's] deficiency consisted of

his failure to file a motion with the trial Court requesting

pamissiontowithdrawﬁomthecaseonthatbasisandtopmsue

appellate review if the motion was denied.
Id. "A public defender who believes there is a genuine basis upon which to make such
withdrawal motion, but fails to do so, participates in the denial of his or her client's Sixth
Amendment rights.” Id. at 243. However, once this Constitutional deficiency was identified, the
Court applied the Strickland standard. Id. Such situation was not such that prejudice could be
presumed.

However, constructive denial of counsel based on an attorney’s failure to investigate has
been found in cases where (1) attorneys did not do any investigation because they did not think
that it was required because the client did not want their representation, Apple v. Hom, 250 F3d
203 (3d Cir. 2001)* and (2) an attorney was unable to do any investigation because of his or her

own excessive caseload or a lack of resources, such as staff or funding. State v. Peart, 621 So2d

Cir. 2001). priﬁnlly,befotemewmpewwyhmn&meappohmdmmysmmspohmmymorobmhwd
mWM&WszMMWmMeMW«MWMWo
mmmmmmmmmsmﬂymaﬁmmmmmm Id. at 215-216.
lmad,mey"'abandonedtheirdutymboﬂndwComnndﬂnircliemwhendxeydecidednottocondmtany
investigation.” ]d, at 216.
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780, 784, 789 (La 1993).

There is no evidence in this case that the public defense attorneys who represented the
representative plaintiffs were denied the services of an expert or investigator or any other
Decessary resource any time that they requested one, or did not seek the use of an investigator or
expert for reasons other than tactical ones. In Ontario County, the PD Office budgets for experts,
andPDLappmakwtheﬁnaldecisiononwhetheranexpatshouldberetainedonacase.&
Lapp dep. at p. 223. ThePDOﬂicehasneverbeenunabletoretainanexpenbecauseofalack
of funds. See id. WhenanAPDwishwtouseaninv&sﬁgatoronacase, she or he gives a
written request to an investigator on staff, who then performs the requested investigative
services. See Lorge dep. at Pp. 63-64. The Schuyler County PD Office has funds available for
an investigator to investigate any criminal or family Court matters at the request of the Chief PD
or APD. See Mosher 2008 at §16; Roe dep. at pp. 125-126. The Public Defender’s budget
provides for expert services. See Mosher 2008 at 117.

In Washington County, all APDs are authorized to hire private investigators, see Mercure
dep. at pp. 90-91, and are alsoabletohixeexpens,mslatorsand, if needed, immigration attorneys,
Seeid. at pp. 90-95. The PD Office receives funding from OILS and, in 2012, received $12,000 for
experts, investigators, and CLE training. Seeid. at p. 86. Ifadditional funding is required to hire an
inv&stigatororanexpenarequestmustbemadetotheBoardofSupervisors,andno such request
has ever been denied. See Morris dep. at pp.87, 95. TheBoatdundetstandsthattheseneedsmay
arise and will approve reasonable requests. Seg id. at p. 95.

In the 2011-12 period, the PD Office hired investigators on approximately a dozen occasions.
See Mercure dep. at p. 94. In 2012, the PD Office contracted for investigative services on three
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high-profile cases: a murder case, an arson case, and a rape case. See DeClaro-Drost dep. atp. 38.
In one recent high profile case, PD Mercure had an "open checkbook” from the Board and spent
$10,000 for an additional counsel. See Mercure dep. at p. 96.

In Suffolk County, LAS has approximately Five investigators on staff. See Mazzola dep. at
p. 71; Caponi dep. at p. 143. An LAS attorney submits a written request for the use of an
investigator, and those requests are never denied. See Mazzoladep. atp. 72; Caponi dep. at p. 144;
Vitale dep. at p. 55; Monastero dep. at p. 148. There are no requirements for, or limitations on, the
use of an expert. See Caponi dep. at pp. 144-45. The investigators on the LAS staff are able to
satisfactorily handle all of LAS's needs. See Vitale dep. at p. 53. For an 18-b attorney to use an
investigator, she or he makes an application to the Court. See Besso dep. at p. 91. As a resource for
ACP attorneys, the Suffolk County ACP administrator maintains a list of investigators who have
been screened and interviewed and approved by the Plan. See id. at pp. 89-90. However an ACP
attorney may also hire an investigator not on the approved plan. Seeid. atp. 90. Attorneys on the
ACP panel hire and use investigators frequently. Sec id. atp. 134.

Both Suffolk County LAS andACPattomeysapplytotheCourtforpermissiontohirean
expert under County Law 18-b, soexpertservicesarepddoutoftheACPpanelbudgetandnotom
of the LAS budget. See Mazzola dep. at pp. 101-02, 104-05; Caponi dep. at p. 145; Besso dep. at
pp. 90-91, 165-66. The ACP administrator also maintains a list of experts on its website as a
resource for indigent defense attorneys. Sce Besso dep. at p. 91. Although the statutory cap for
expeﬂsewiwsisSBOO,thatcaphasnotbeenimposedonSuﬁ'olkCountyLAS for twenty years or

more. See Vitale dep. at p. 53. No LAS requests to County Court for experts have been denied.

Seeid. at p. 54.
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In Onondaga County, there is no known instance of a defendant being denied
investigative or expert services by the Court. See Captor 2009 at 124; Captor dep. at p. 288;
Zuhker dep. at p. 94; Marris dep. at pp. 70-71. As in Suffolk County, whether expert,
investigative, interpreter or social worker services can be retained on behalf of a defendant
represented by the ACP is determined by the Court upon an ex parte application of the attorney
assigned. See Captor 2009 at J21; Captor dep. at pp. 277-78, 282-83,290. If such services are
deemed necessary to a client’s case, the assigned attorney submits an ex parte application for
expert services and a pre-authorization form and affidavit in support of authorization to the Court
for consideration. See County Law §722-c; Captor 2009 at 122; Captor dep. at pp. 277-78, 282-

Captor dep. at pp. 283-84,andtthxecutiveDirectorthenreviews the submission and makes a
payment recommendation to the Court, see id. at p. 284, which fixes compensation. See Captor
2009 at 123; Kelly dep. at p. 101. The ACP always recommends that payment be made as long
astheattomeyfollowstheproperproeedme. See Captor dep. at p. 287.
Thaeisdsomeﬁdmhthiscasethatmyoftheindigemcﬁminddefensepmviders
in the Five Counties lackthemomc&sneowsaxytoprovide effective and meaningful
representation. To the contrary, in Ontario County, the PD Office has a library stocked with
lewr&semchmaterialsandanﬂawaecountaceessiblebyallattomeys. See Lapp dep. at p.
218. In addition, PDLappsendsarolmdnewrelevant appellate decisions to the APDs, See id.
ThePDOﬂicehasusedgmntmoneytoimprovetheSpanishsPeakingskﬂlsofAPDMomw.
See id. at p. 220. OneofﬂleinvestigaxomintheOtﬁcealsohassomeSpanishSpeakingskius,
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and an office staff member knows some sign language. See id. PD Lapp has a source to call if
other language interpreters are needed. See id.

The Schuyler County PD Office has a Lexis account for research. See id. at p. 213.
Books commonly used in criminal defense and family Court work, like "Gilbert's", the "yellow
book”, and the "gray book" are updated yearly for the attorneys by the Schuyler County PD
office. See Mosher dep. atp.42. The PD’s budget provides for expert services, equipment and
criminal defense case management software ("CMS"), which allows for the more efficient and
effective representation of Schuyler County indigent defendants. See Mosher 2008 at 0n7.

In Washington County, the PD Office has a Westlaw account and all of the APDs have
access to it. See Mercure dep. at pp. 89-90. The County also pays for CLE materials and
research materials for the PD Office staff. See id. at pp. 97, 99. Additionally, the Board recently
added two 15 hour/week attorneys to the PD Office to help provide Court coverage in various
town Courts over the County. See Hayes dep. at p. 83. Despite major cuts in County jobs, none
of the staff reductions over the last four years have come from the PD's Office. See Hayes dep.
atp. 84.

In Suffolk County, LAS attorneys do not feel that they lack time or resources to properly
repmenttheirclients,&Schickdep. at pp. 43-44, and LAS has enough attorneys to cover the
County Courts and prefers not to have any more. See id. at pp. 55-56. LAS attorneys also have
access to Westlaw. See id. at pp. 61-62. In Onondaga County, the ACP attomneys utilize the
resources of their private offices because they treat their ACP clients the same as retained clients.

Basedontheevidencehthemwrdof&iscase,thephhﬁﬁ'scamotwmbﬁshthmme

indigentdefendamsintheFiveComﬁwmatﬁskofbeingdeniedtherighttocounselbecause
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of an unconstitutional lack of resources.
5. Supervision

As noted above, the Court of Appeals emphasized that any claims plaintiffs may have "for
constructive denial of counsel should not be viewed as a back door for what would be nonjusticiable
assertions of ineffective assistance seeking remedies specifically addressed to attomey performance,
smhasuﬂfomﬁﬁng,ﬂainhgmdpmﬁws&ndmds."!ﬂmﬂ:ﬂgmg,m, I5N.Y.3d at 24-
25. Plainﬁﬁ‘smaymttherefompmsuetheirclaimswnmhg&esuperﬁsiomﬁdngmd
experience of assigned counsel or public defenders in the Five Counties. Plaintiffs nonetheless
appminsisWonpmstﬁngthoseclaimswhich,inanyevent,ammeﬁﬂm.

lheplaimiﬁ'sseemmaUegethattheywmdeniedtheﬁghtwcomselbecausethek
attorneys were inadequately supervised. However, discovery in this case has established that the
four institutional providers - Ontario County PD Office, Schuyler County PD Office, Washington
County PD Office and Suffolk County LAS - are well supervised. In Ontario County, PD Lapp
ovmtheomce,supaviswtheAPDsmdoﬂicesnﬂ;whichMcludwawnﬁdenﬁﬂsecretary,
Mooﬁcespeciﬂis&thﬂperfomsecmmidandrecepﬁoniamkaompamlegal,mdtwo
investigators. See Lapp dep. at p. 18. The Offfice also has intermediate levels of supervision, with
APD Porter supervising one intern, see id. at p. 33, APD Bleakley supervising APD Porter and
anotherintem,&id.atp.%,andAPDMomwmwisingAPDConklin. See id. PD Lapp
monitors caseloads, see id. at p. 119, and monitors every inmate visit request that is received from
the jail and ensures that each one is timely acted upon. See Lapp dep. at p. 216. PD Lapp, herself,
reviews every ineligible determination before it is finalized. See id. at p. 58.
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In Schuyler County, the daily responsibilities of the PD include administration of the office,
managing personnel issues,managingthebudget,andlmndlingaiminalandfamﬂycomtcasw. See
Roe dep. at p. 37. There are two attorneys on staff at the PD office, and the case assignments are
split between the two of them. See id. atp. 40. After January 1, 2008, the PD ushered in changes to
the office, which included establishing a central office for the PD and APD to meet with clients. See
Mosher dep. at p. 24. This change made it easier for the PD to supervise the staff and manage files.
See id. at p. 24. The current PD works closely with his two employees, and because of the small size
of the office, is aware of "almost everything that is going on." See Roe dep. at p. 48. Both staff
members communicate with the PD daily. See Roe dep. at p. 38. The attorneys communicate
everyday and discuss the cases in which they are both involved. See Roe dep. at p. 88. Supervision
ofattomeycaseloadsisdonebythePD,whoumanotﬁcesoﬁwareprogmmtotrackstaﬁstim. See
id. at p. 95.

In Washington County, the office administrator keeps track of clients with a spreadsheet that
is updated daily and contains a client's name, date of initial contact, date of appointment for services,
chargw,andComt,mDeClaro-Dmstdep.atp. 21, and PD Mercure supervises all staff, See
Mercure dep. pp. 15-16. Additionally, PD Mercure meets with the APDs on a weekly basis to
discuss what they are doing on their cases. See id. dep. at pp. 123-24.

In Suffolk County, LAS employs a combination of flexible incremental advancement,
instruction in lecture/discussion format, mentoring and on-site supervisory assistance to train newly
hired attorneys in the criminal division. See Caponi 2009 at §5. There are five full time supervisory
personnelinthecriminaldivision,notincludingthempectivebmeauchiefsanddeputybmm
chiefs. See id. at J14. Three of the supervisors are responsible for monitoring between the
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Courtrooms each day and providing guidance, instruction and supervision to the staff attorneys. See
id. at15. Although they pay special attention to new attorneys, supervisors' responsibilities are not
limited in this respect, and they provide supervision to all staff attorneys regardless of seniority. See
id. Once a case begins to move beyond the negotiation stage, the file is referred to the fourth
member of the supervisory staff. See id. at J16. He reviews the file, edits and critiques any proposed
motion practice, and meets with the staff attorneys to discuss the progress of the case. See id. LAS’s
policy provides for a supervisory presence during significant stages of a new attorney’s progress
such as first trials or hearings. See id. at 18. If this is not possible, a senior attorney will be
assigned that role. How frequently or intensely a new attorney will be second-seated, and the nature
of the second seat, depends on the abilities and advancement of the individual attorney. Se¢ id.

LAS staff attorneys are evaluated on a yearly basis. See Caponi 2009 at §20; Caponi dep. at
p. 63. Until 2008 and during the period in which plaintiff Booker was prosecuted, the evaluation
instrument addressed eleven categories including (1) general comportment and demeanor, (2) file
maintenance, (3) case management, (4) utility and adaptability, (5) case analysis and preparation, (6)
the attorney client relationship, (7) motion practice, (8) courtroom demeanor, (10) negotiation and
trial skills and (11) sentencing advocacy. See Caponi 2009 at J20; Caponi dep. at pp. 65-71. Many
of these broad categories were further broken down into subcategories so that the attorneys were
further evaluated in 29 categories in all. See Caponi 2009 at §20. These evaluations were based on
the first hand observations of supervisory personnel, and were generated by the entire supervisory
staff as a cooperative effort. See id.

Since 2008, the evaluation process has become less formal. See Caponi dep. at pp. 67-71.

Now narrative evaluations on each attorney are written, with supervisory input, and presented to
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LAS Administration. See Caponi dep. at pp. 71-73; Vitale dep. at p. 68. In preparing evaluations
now, LAS considers (1) how well the attorney handles his or her caseload, (2) how well motions are
drafted, (3) observation of attorneys in courtrooms, (4) random case reviews and (5) any client
complaints. See Caponi dep. at pp. 78-83; Vitale dep. at p. 68.

Because the supervision of the PD Offices in Ontario, Schuyler and Washington Counties
and the Suffolk County LAS is well documented in the record in this case, and the plaintiffs will
no doubt allege that the attomeys who provide public defense representation in Onondaga
County as members of the ACP* are not "supervised,” and that somehow the United States and
State Constitutions require that private attorneys providing representation to indigent criminal
defendants be supervised by the State. While County Law §722(3)(a)(i) requires an
"administrator” to "rotate and coordinate” the assignment of private counsel to provide indigent
legal services pursuant to an approved ACP, the purpose of that administrator is not to act as a
“supervisor” of representation provided to defendants by ACP panel members.

Based on the evidence in the record of this case, the plaintiffs cannot establish that the
indigentdefendantsintheFiveComtiwaxeatﬁskofbeingdeniedtheﬁghttocounsel because
of a lack of supervision of indigent criminal defense attorneys.

6. Training and Experience

Plaintiffs allege that indigent criminal defendants are provided with representation in the
Five Counties by inexperienced attorneys without criminal practice training. However, the issue
of an attorney with no criminal law experience being assigned to represent a criminal defendant
was addressed in Cronic, itself, where the Supreme Court held that the ineffective assistance of

86 While the plaintiffs may attempt to attack the ACP attorneys that provide conflict representation in Ontario,
Schuyler and Suffolk Counties, no representative plaintiff was represented by any of those panels.
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counsel standard, and not the Cronic constructive denial of counsel standard, applied when
considering the representation provided by an inexperienced lawyer. In Cronic, a young real
estate lawyer was assigned to represent a defendant on felony mail fraud charges twenty-five
days before trial and after the prosecution investigated the case for four and one-half years and
examined thousands of documents. Cronic, 466 US at 649. The lawyer put on no defense, but
effectively cross-examined the prosecution's witnesses. Id. at 651. The Court held that these
facts did not create circumstances under which "the likelihood that counsel could have performed
as an effective adversary was so remote as to have made the trial inherently unfair.” Id. at 660-
61. The Court stated that this

conclusion is not undermined by the fact that respondent’s lawyer

was young, that his principal practice was in real estate or that this

was his first jury trial. Every experienced criminal defense

attorney once tried his first criminal case. Moreover, a lawyer's

experience with real estate transactions might be more useful in

preparing to try a criminal case involving financial transactions

than would prior experience in handling, for example, armed

robbery prosecutions. The character of a particular lawyer's

experience may shed light in an evaluation of his actual
performance, but it does not justify a presumption of

ineffectiveness in the absence of such an evaluation.
Id. at 665. Thetefore,issmrelaﬁngwanauomey'sexpeﬁenoeoruaininggowperfommoe
and, as stated by the Court of Appeals, are not properly before the Court in this action. See
Kerwin aff. at Exh. D, p. 17.

In any event, there is no evidence that the representation provided to indigent criminal
defendants by the Five Counties is being provided by inexperienced or untrained attomeys. In
Ontario County, First Assistant PD, Jeffrey Morrow, has eight years of experience in criminal law,
ggKerwinaﬂ'at%Z,APDKehoehasmlveorthineenyeaxsofexpeﬂenee,ﬁhppdep.atpp.
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24-25, APD Walsh has more than 10 years experience, see id., APD Karynski has twelve or thirteen
years of experience, see id., and APD Bleakley has nine years of experience. See Kerwin aff. at §62.

In Schuyler County, the County pays for membership to NYSDA for the PD and APD,
see Mosher dep. at p.41, as well as for training from that state-funded organization for the PD.
See id. at pp. 28, 33. When attorneys in the office are not able to attend training provided by the
New York State Defender’s Association, the funds can be used to pursue other Continuing Legal
Education courses. See Roe dep. at p. 193. In Washington County, the PD, Chief PD and six
APDs, all have criminal law experience. See DeClaro-Drost dep. at p. 14; Mercure dep. at p.19.
Each attorney on the Washington County PD staff is required to remain current on his continuing
legal education requirements. Se¢ Barber 2009 at {8. APDs are also encouraged to attend the
State Defenders Association Conference and CLE, for which the County pays. See Mercure dep.
atp. 97.

In Suffolk County, LAS employs a combination of flexible incremental advancement,
instruction in lecture/discussion format, mentoring and on-site supervisory assistance to train newly
hired attorneys in the criminal division. See Caponi 2009 at §5. For the first one to three months of a
newly hired attorney’s employment, the employee is assigned to work in the misdemeanor
arraignment part. See id. at §6; Caponi dep. at p. 25. He or she is teamed with at least one, but
usually two, more senior attorneys. Id. During the first week in the arraignment part the new
attorney’s activities are limited to observing the senior attorneys and assisting in generating case
files. See Caponi 2009 at Y6; Caponi dep. at pp. 25-26. By the second week, the new attorney is
permitted to conduct arraignments on select misdemeanor cases. See Caponi 2009 at 6. Dunngthe
first week, the new attorney spends half of each day in the arraignment part observing, and half of

144



the day receiving instruction in lecture/discussion format from a member of the supervisory staff.
See Caponi 2009 at 7; Caponi dep. at p. 26. The instruction covers substantive and procedural
issues relevant to the new attorney’s responsibilities in the arraignment part. See Caponi 2009 at 7.
Examples of the types of topics covered include (1) making effective bail applications, (2)
establishing productive relationships with clients and (3) Criminal Procedure Law sections 170.70
and 180.80 and writs of habeas corpus. See id.; Caponi dep. at pp. 27-28.

In the next training phase, the new attorney moves from arraignments to the “prisoner part™.%’
See Caponi 2009 at §8; Caponi dep. at p. 54-55. The timing of this transition varies from attorney to
attorney depending upon how quickly and thoroughly the attorney masters the skills and knowledge
necessary to function effectively in the arraignment part. See Caponi 2009 at §8. During the week
immediately prior to a new attorney’s transition from the arraignment part to the prisoner part, he or
she spends another week receiving instruction in lecture/discussion format. See id. at §10. The
instruction focuses on substantive and procedural issues and practices relevant to the attorney’s
responsibilities in the prisoner part. See id. Topics include (1) effective plea negotiations, (2)
sentencing options, (3) alternatives to incarceration and (4) suﬁcienc); of accusatory instruments.
See id.; Caponi dep. at pp. 55-56. As in the new attorney’s initial arraignment assignment, he or she
is teamed with a more senior attorney in the prisoner part. See Caponi dep. at p. 56. Primary
responsibility for the prisoner part rests with the senior attorney so that the new attorney’s role is to
assist the primary attorney. See Caponi 2009 at 111; Caponi dep. at p. 56. The new attorney then

“*Until 2011, the judges rotated through the arraignment part on a fourteen week cycle. The week following a
judge's week in the arraignment part was reserved to deal with those cases where the defendant was unable to post
bail and consequently remained in custody. This week is referred to as the "prisoner part” or "custody part”. See
Caponi 2009 at 9.
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spends another one to three months floating between the arraignment part and the prisoner part. See
Caponi 2009 at §12.

Once the new attorney has demonstrated sufficient mastery of skills and knowledge needed
to function effectively in the prisoner part, she or he will begin to be deployed as a floater to help fill
temporary coverage gaps or assist other attorneys. See id. During this phase, the new attorney
participates in pre and post file reviews for the cases she or he will handle on a given day with a
member of the supervisory staff. See id.; Caponi dep. at pp. 111-12. This phase of the training
continues for an indefinite period of time. See Caponi 2009 at 12. The goal is to eventually place
the attorney in a permanent assignment, subject to employee turnover or advancement and the
demonstrated abilities of each attorney. See id. When LAS attorneys get assigned to the County
Court division to Me felonies, they are assigned to observe different judges and second seat
different LAS attorneys. See Vitale dep. at pp. 39, 57. When they are comfortable, they start getting
a;signed less-complex cases. See Vitale dep. at p. 57.

Applicants for the Suffolk County ACP panel submit an application and resume and are
interviewed by a group of seasoned attorneys. See Besso dep. at pp. 15, 107-08. Many people
who apply to be on the felony and murder panels are found not to be qualified. See id. at p. 13.
An attorney can be placed on the misdemeanor panel or felony panel, but not both. See id. at p.
168. To be eligible for the felony panel, Suffolk County requires that an attorney must have tried
at least two criminal trials or one criminal jury trial and one non-jury trial, to verdict. See id. at
p. 155.

In Onondaga County, attorneys interested in serving on the Onondaga County ACP panel
submit an application to the Executive Director, who evaluates applications according to the
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qualifications set out in the Onondaga County ACP handbook, which is approved by the
Administrative Judge of the New York State Unified Court System, as required by statute. See
Captor 2009 at 8; N.Y. County Law §722(3)(b). To be eligible for assignment of misdemeanor
cases, an attorney must satisfy nine requirements. See id. at 9. Specifically, the attorney must (1)
be admitted to practice law in the State of New York, (2) agree to follow the rules set out in the
handbook and attend an orientation program, (3) maintain his or her own malpractice policy, (4) be
registered in good standing with the New York State Office of Court Administration, (5) be a
resident of, or have a place of business in, Onondaga County or a contiguous county, (6) complete an
application, (7) attend the annual ACP training (or an equivalent program) and earn at least half of
his or her mandatory CLE credits in panel-related practice, (8) complete an orientation program upon
appointment to the Panel and (9) comply with the Rules of Professional Responsibility and the
Canons of Ethics. See id.

To be eligible for assignment of non-homicide felony cases, an attorney must have (1) been a
member of the Misdemeanor Panel for at least one year during which she or he assisted, pro bono, an
experienced Felony Trial Panel-eligible attorney in the trial of at least one felony case to verdict, (2)
been admitted to practice law in New York State for a minimum of two years and have tried either at
least one felony case to verdict or five misdemeanor cases to verdict as chief trial counsel within the
preceding ten years or (3) been granted a waiver of these requirements by the Executive Director.
See id. at 11. To be eligible for a homicide assignment, an attorney must satisfy the requirements
for appointment to the Felony Panel list and (1) been a member of the Felony Panel list for at least
one year during which she or he tried at least two cases to verdict as chief counsel or assisted, pro

bono, an experienced trial attorney in at least one homicide trial to verdict or (2) been admitted to
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practice law in New York State for at least two years and have tried either at least one homicide case
to verdict or five felony cases to verdict within the preceding ten years or (3) been granted a waiver
of these requirements by the Executive Director. See id. at §12.

Upon appointment to the ACP panel, an attorney undergoes an orientation program, which
consists of review of the ACP rules and procedures, see Captor 2009 at § 25; Captor dep. at p. 37,
and instruction on how to use the electronic billing system. See Captor dep. at p. 40. ACP attorneys
must maintain their license, which necessarily requires that each attorney complete mandatory
Continuing Legal Education ("CLE") credits. See Captor 2009 at § 26. The Onondaga County ACP
always offers at least one full day training per year, and usually offers 2 full day programs each year.
See id. at 127. The topics covered during these trainings are determined based on feedback from
various sources, including panel attorneys and the Courts. Seg id.

Based on the evidence in the record of this case, the plaintiffs cannot establish that the
indigent defendants in the Five Counties are at risk of being denied the right to counsel because of a
lack of training or experience of indigent criminal defense attormeys.

Conclusion

As the State’s detailed analysis of the record reveals, plaintiffs cannot establish any triable
issues of fact to support their sweeping claims and are thus not entitled to the far reaching
prospective relied they seek. Plaintiffs have not been denied counsel, either actual or constructive,
and therefore cannot satisfy the first prong of their legal claim that their Sixth Amendment rights
were violated. That is, their case fails at this juncture of the analysis. Yet, even if the plaintiffs
could meet this threshold, they can point to no proof to support the allegations that the State’s system
of delivering indigent legal services poses a risk to plaintiffs’ Sixth Amendment rights. Instead, the
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record demonstrates that the State affords indigent criminal defendants the legal assistance the
Constitution requires as well as enhanced legal assistance through legislation and supplemental

funding. Accordingly, the State’s motion for summary judgment should be granted.

Dated: Albany, New York
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